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WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549  

FORM 10-K  

ANNUAL REPORT  
PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 13 OR 15(d)  

OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934  
   

   

Commission File Number 0-21074  

SUPERCONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES INC.  
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)  

   

460 Ward Drive, Santa Barbara, California 93111-2310  
   

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)  
   

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: ( 805) 690-4500  
   

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:  
   

   

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:  
None  

   

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.  Yes  � 
or     No  �  
   

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the 
Act.  Yes  � or     No  �  
   

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to 
file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.  Yes  � or     No  �  
   

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and 
will not be contained, to the best of Registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by 
reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.   �  
   

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a 
smaller reporting company. See definition of “accelerated filer, large accelerated filer, and smaller reporting company” in 
Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.  
   

   

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).  Yes  � 
or No  �  
   

The aggregate market value of the common stock held by non-affiliates was $15.9 million as of June 30, 2007 (the last 
business day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter). The closing price of the common stock on that date was 
$1.49 as reported by the NASDAQ Capital Market. For purposes of this determination, we excluded the shares of common stock 
held by each officer and director and by each person who owns 5% or more of the outstanding common stock. The exclusion of 
shares owned by the aforementioned individuals and entities from this calculation does not constitute an admission by any of 
such individuals or entities that he or it was or is an affiliate of ours.  
   

We had 15,612,775 shares of common stock outstanding as of the close of business on February 29, 2008.  
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS  
   

This Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 
1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. You can find many (but not 
all) of these statements by looking for words such as “approximates,” “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” 
“estimates,” “intends,” “plans,” “would,” “may” or other similar expressions in this Report. We claim the 
protection of the safe harbor contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. We caution investors 
that any forward-looking statements presented in this Report, or which we may make orally or in writing from time 
to time, are based on the beliefs of, assumptions made by, and information currently available to, us. Such statements 
are based on assumptions and the actual outcome will be affected by known and unknown risks, trends, uncertainties 
and factors that are beyond our control or ability to predict. Although we believe that our assumptions are 
reasonable, they are not guarantees of future performance and some will inevitably prove to be incorrect. As a 
result, our actual future results can be expected to differ from our expectations, and those differences may be 
material. Accordingly, investors should use caution in relying on past forward-looking statements, which are based 
on known results and trends at the time they are made, to anticipate future results or trends.  
   

Some of the risks and uncertainties that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to differ 
materially from those expressed or implied by forward-looking statements include the following: limited assets and a 
history of losses; limited number of potential customers; limited number of suppliers for some of our components; no 
significant backlog from quarter to quarter; our market is characterized by rapidly advancing technology. For 
further discussion of these and other factors see “Item 1A. Risk Factors” of this Report.  
   

This Report and all subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or any person 
acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained or referred to in 
this section. We do not undertake any obligation to release publicly any revisions to our forward-looking statements 
to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Report.  

   

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION  
   

As a public company, we are required to file annually, quarterly and special reports, proxy statements and other 
information with the SEC. You may read and copy any of our materials on file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public 
Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Judiciary Plaza, Washington, DC 20549, as well as at the SEC’s regional 
office at 5757 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 500, Los Angeles, California 90036. Our filings are available to the public 
over the Internet at the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further 
information on the Public Reference Room. We also provide copies of our Forms 8-K, 10-K, 10-Q, Proxy and 
Annual Report at no charge to investors upon request and make electronic copies of our most recently filed reports 
available through our website at www.suptech.com as soon as reasonably practicable after filing such material with 
the SEC.  
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PART I  

   

   

Our Company  
   

We design, manufacture, market and sell high performance infrastructure products for wireless voice and data 
applications. Our products are utilized in major wireless networks throughout the United States which support voice 
and data communications by use of cell phones and other wireless communication devices.  
   

Our products help maximize the performance of wireless telecommunications networks by improving the quality 
of uplink signals from mobile wireless devices. Our products increase capacity utilization, lower dropped and 
blocked calls, extend coverage, and enable higher wireless data throughput — all while reducing capital and 
operating costs. Our SuperLink utilizes patented high-temperature superconductor (HTS) technology to create a 
receiver front-end that enhances network performance. Today, we are leveraging our expertise and proprietary 
technology in radio frequency (RF) engineering to expand our product line beyond HTS technology. We believe our 
RF engineering expertise provides us with a significant competitive advantage in the development of high 
performance, cost-effective solutions for wireless telecommunications networks.  
   

We currently sell most of our commercial products directly to wireless network operators in the United States. 
Our customers to date include ALLTEL, AT&T, Sprint Nextel, T-Mobile, and Verizon Wireless. We have a 
concentrated customer base. Verizon Wireless and AT&T each accounted for more than 10% of our commercial 
revenues in 2007 and Verizon Wireless, ALLTEL, and T-Mobile each accounted for more than 10% of our 
commercial revenues in 2006. We plan to continue to expand our customer base by selling directly to other wireless 
network operators and manufacturers of base station equipment, including internationally. During 2007, we formed a 
joint venture to gain access to the Chinese market.  
   

Industry Background.   The ability to provide high quality service to subscribers is becoming increasingly 
difficult for wireless operators as the number of users grows, minutes of use increase and the market for wireless data 
services expands. Wireless service providers in both rural and urban areas are encountering radio frequency 
interference due to greater subscriber density and a larger number of users on adjacent channels. This reduced signal 
quality and higher percentage of dropped calls can lead to lower system utilization, decreased revenue and, 
ultimately, higher rates of customer churn. Some service providers are also facing network capacity constraints.  
   

As a result, wireless carriers are seeking to cost-effectively reduce interference, increase capacity, expand 
coverage to improve the quality of their systems and, utilize their spectrum in the most efficient manner possible.  
   

Our Solution.   We leverage our expertise in RF technology to cost effectively deliver interference protection 
and increased sensitivity to our wireless carrier customers. Our solutions provide the following quality-of-service 
improvements:  
   

   

Our Products.   Our solutions consist of the following three product lines:  
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ITEM 1. 
   

BUSINESS 

  •  reduction of dropped calls and network access failures; 
  

  •  elimination of interference from other sources such as specialized mobile radio handsets and other base 
stations; 

  

  •  increased in-building penetration; 
  

  •  reduction in base station noise figure; and 
  

  •  improved handset power consumption 

  •  SuperLink combines HTS filters with a proprietary cryogenic cooler and an ultra low-noise amplifier to create 
a highly compact and reliable receiver front-end that can simultaneously deliver both high selectivity 
(interference rejection) and high sensitivity (detection of low level signals). 
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Our Strategy.   Our objective is to provide a full range of performance improvement solutions to wireless 
carriers by offering our field-proven solutions, innovative duplexer designs for antenna sharing and network 
overlays, ground-based sensitivity improvement solutions and high-performance multiplexers. The primary elements 
of our strategy include:  
   

   

Government Contracts.   We also generate significant revenues from government contracts. We primarily pursue 
government research and development contracts which complement our commercial product development, but we 
also pursue government product opportunities. We undertake government contract work which has the potential to 
add to or improve our commercial product line. These contracts often yield valuable intellectual property relevant to 
our commercial business. We typically own the intellectual property developed under these contracts, and the Federal 
Government receives a royalty-free, non-exclusive and nontransferable license to use the intellectual property in the 
United States.  
   

Corporate Information.   Our facilities and executive offices are located at 460 Ward Drive, Santa Barbara, 
California 93111, and our telephone number is (805) 690-4500. We were incorporated in Delaware on May 11, 1987. 
Additional information about us is available on our website at www.suptech.com. The information on our web site is 
not incorporated herein by reference.  

   

Our Wireless Products  
   

Wireless service providers can use our solutions to keep pace with the growing demand for wireless 
communications. Wireless providers may deploy our products in connection with the installation of additional base 
stations in a network, as well as with the installation of an entirely new network. Wireless service providers can also 
improve the performance of existing base stations and networks by retrofitting their equipment with our link 
enhancement products.  
   

Our performance improvement solutions fit into three product families: SuperLink, AmpLink and SuperPlex.  
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  •  AmpLink is a ground-mounted unit which includes a high-performance amplifier that provides increased 
sensitivity. 

  

  •  SuperPlex is a line of multiplexers that provides extremely low insertion loss and excellent cross-band 
isolation. 

  •  diversifying our customer base, 
  

  •  expanding our current product offerings, 
  

  •  enhancing our productivity and lowering our costs, 
  

  •  maintaining our focus on technical excellence and innovation, and 
  

  •  pursuing strategic partnerships, alliances and acquisitions. 

  •  SuperLink.   In order to receive uplink signals from wireless handsets, base stations require a filter system to 
eliminate out-of-band interference, and amplification to enhance the base station’s sensitivity. To address this 
need, we offer the SuperLink product line for the receiver front-end of base stations. These products combine 
specialized filters using HTS technology with a proprietary cryogenic cooler and ultra low-noise amplifiers. 
The result is a highly compact and reliable receiver front-end that can simultaneously deliver both high 
selectivity (interference rejection) and high sensitivity (detection of low level signals). SuperLink products 
offer significant performance advantages over conventional filter and amplifier systems. 

  

  •  AmpLink.   AmpLink is designed to address the sensitivity requirements of wireless base stations. AmpLink is 
a ground-mounted unit which utilizes a high-performance amplifier. The enhanced uplink performance 
provided by AmpLink improves network coverage immediately and avoids the installation and maintenance 
costs associated with tower mounted alternatives. 

  

  •  SuperPlex.   SuperPlex is our line of multiplexers that provides extremely low insertion loss and excellent 
cross-band isolation. Products in our SuperPlex family of high-performance multiplexers are designed to 
facilitate base station antenna sharing and reduce infrastructure costs. SuperPlex can be used in conjunction 
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Marketing and Sales  
   

We sell solutions to wireless communication service providers in the United States and pursue selected 
international opportunities.  
   

We have a concentrated customer base. Verizon Wireless and AT&T each accounted for more than 10% of our 
commercial revenues in 2007; Verizon Wireless, ALLTEL and T-Mobile each accounted for more than 10% of our 
commercial revenues in 2006 and 2005. We sell using a direct sales force in the U.S. to focus on the Tier I wireless 
carriers. We use indirect channels to market our products to select customers internationally.  
   

We demonstrate our products at trade shows, and participate in industry conferences. Advertising, email 
campaigns, direct mailings, and contribution of technical and application reports to recognized trade journals, are all 
employed to communicate our solutions to potential customers. We also advertise our products through our website, 
brochures, data sheets, application notes, trade journal reports and press releases.  
   

Our sales and marketing efforts are complemented by a team of sales applications engineers who manage field 
trials and initial installations, as well as provide ongoing pre- and post-sales support.  
   

Our marketing efforts are focused on establishing and developing long-term relationships with potential 
customers. The initial sales cycle for our solutions can be lengthy, typically ranging from six months to twelve 
months. Our customers typically conduct significant technical evaluations of products before making purchase 
commitments. We typically negotiate general purchase agreements with our customers. These agreements specify the 
terms and conditions for the business relationship with our customers. Standard purchase orders are subject to 
cancellation, postponement or other types of delays.  
   

We purchase inventory components and manufacture inventory based on sales forecasts.  

   

Backlog  
   

Our commercial backlog consists of accepted product purchase orders with scheduled delivery dates during the 
next twelve months. We had commercial backlog of $352,000 at December 31, 2007, as compared to $75,000 at 
December 31, 2006.  

   

How We Use Government Contracts to Fund Technology Development  
   

Our strategy is to continue to pursue government research and development contract awards which complement 
our commercial product and technology development and allow for commercialization of the underlying technology. 
Since our inception in 1987, a substantial part of our revenues have been from research and development contracts 
with the U.S. government or as a subcontractor to a supplier to the U.S. government. Nearly all of these revenues 
were paid under contracts with the U.S. Department of Defense. We interact with various government agencies to 
identify opportunities and actively solicit partners for product development proposals. Since 1988, we have 
successfully obtained a number of classified and non-classified government contracts for superconductor research, 
including one of the largest non-classified HTS awards from the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency 
(DARPA) through the Office of Naval Research. In addition to actively soliciting government contracts, we have 
participated in the Small Business Innovative Research, (SBIR) and Small Business Technology Transfer (STTR) 
programs. We have been awarded 34 Phase I SBIR/STTR contracts, each of which typically generates up to 
$100,000 in revenues. We have been successful in converting nine of these Phase I contracts into Phase II programs, 
each of which typically generates up to $750,000 in revenues, and we converted one of these contracts into a 
Phase III program valued at $2.2 million. Since our formation, government contracts have provided us approximately 
$98 million of revenue and remain a significant source of revenue today. We also develop and sell RF transceiver 
front-end products that utilize our unique HTS filter and cryogenics technologies to the US Government and we 
intend to continue growing this government products business.  
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  with AmpLink and SuperLink products to optimize performance in networks where 1900 MHz EV-DO 
capabilities are added to existing 850 MHz networks. Relative to competing technologies, this portfolio of STI 
solutions offers increased transmit power delivered to the base station antenna, higher sensitivity to subscriber 
handset signals, interference rejection and fast and cost-effective network overlays. 
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Our Manufacturing Capabilities  
   

Our manufacturing process involves the assembly of numerous individual components and precision tuning by 
production technicians. The parts and materials used by us and our contract manufacturers consist primarily of 
printed circuit boards, specialized subassemblies, fabricated housing, relays and small electric circuit components, 
such as integrated circuits, semiconductors, resistors and capacitors. Principal components of our AmpLink and 
SuperPlex products are produced by foreign manufacturers. We currently manufacture our SuperLink systems at our 
facilities in Santa Barbara, California.  
   

In 1998, we opened a state-of-the-art manufacturing facility in Santa Barbara. We renovated these 
manufacturing areas in early 2003, the first in a series of moves that have enabled us to produce larger quantities of 
our SuperLink products. In 2003 and 2004, we expanded our controlled clean rooms, continued to develop and 
introduce new, state-of-the-art production and test equipment and processes, and implemented a continuous flow 
manufacturing strategy. In addition, performance testing and systems screening methods, along with optimized 
quality improvement techniques, have been instrumental in enabling our SuperLink units to reach Mean Time 
Between Failure (MTBF) levels of more than 500,000 hours.  
   

We have the physical infrastructure to manufacture up to 2,800 SuperLink units per year. This capacity is 
unchanged from the prior year. We are holding physical capacity and staffing at their current levels to conserve cash 
resources. We could expand manufacturing capacity to approximately 5,000 units per year in our current facility with 
minor additional equipment purchases and staffing increases.  
   

Our internal capabilities include a proprietary manufacturing process for thin-film materials that is scaleable for 
high volume production. In addition, we have established a production operation that we use to produce thin films on 
wafers for wireless applications. Our radio frequency circuitry is designed, modeled and tested by internal 
engineering resources. We have in-house capabilities to pattern the superconducting material and all other aspects of 
radio frequency component production, including packaging the filters. We also have in-house capabilities to 
manufacture our cryogenic coolers. We have refined our supplier base to improve the quality of received parts, while 
lowering the cost and decreasing lead-times.  
   

In early 2006, we launched our high volume AmpLink assembly and distribution center within the existing 
Santa Barbara site. The 3,200 square foot production facility has the capacity to produce 10,000 AmpLink units 
annually which can be increased to 20,000 units with no additional capital expenditure. The production line is 
supported by a newly refurbished 8,000 square foot warehouse and distribution center. The manufacturing and 
distributions centers are tightly linked to provide the most efficient and rapid order fulfillment capabilities for up to 
200 AmpLink units per week.  
   

A number of the parts used in our products are available from only one or a limited number of outside suppliers 
due to unique component designs as well as certain quality and performance requirements.  

   

Intellectual Property  
   

We rely upon trade secrets and patents to protect our intellectual property. We execute confidentiality and non-
disclosure agreements with our employees and suppliers and limit access to, and distribution of, our proprietary 
information. We have an on-going program to identify and file applications for both U.S. and international patents 
for various aspects of our technology. We regard our product designs, design tools, fabrication equipment and 
manufacturing processes as proprietary and seek to protect our rights in them through a combination of patent, 
trademark, trade secret and copyright law and internal procedures and non-disclosure agreements. We also seek 
licenses from third parties for HTS materials and processes used by us, which have been patented by other parties. 
We believe that our success will depend, in part, on the protection of our proprietary information, patents and the 
licensing of key technologies from third parties.  
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We have an extensive patent portfolio for the technology relevant to our SuperLink products, government 
products and related business. As of December 31, 2007, we held 53 U.S. patents in the following categories which 
are currently relevant to this business:  
   

   

We also had 24 U.S. patent applications pending as of December 31, 2007 which are currently relevant to our 
business. As of that date, we held 14 foreign issued patents and 31 foreign patents pending.  
   

We have trade secrets, unpatented technology and proprietary knowledge about the sale, promotion, operation, 
development and manufacturing of our products. We have confidentiality agreements with our employees and 
consultants to protect these rights.  
   

We own federally registered trademarks to Superconductor Technologies, Conductus and Improving the Quality 
of Wireless and have several other trademark registrations pending. We own other registered and unregistered 
trademarks, and have certain trademark rights in foreign jurisdictions.  
   

From time to time we grant licenses for our technology to other companies for fields of use that are not relevant 
to our business. Specifically, we have granted licenses to, among others, (1) Bruker for Nuclear Magnetic Resonance 
application, (2) General Dynamics for government applications and (3) Star Cryoelectronics for Superconducting 
Quantum Interference Device applications, among others.  
   

We use superconducting technology in our SuperLink solution to improve both the selectivity (rejection of 
adjacent band interference) and the sensitivity (ability to “hear” signals better) of a base station receiver. 
Superconducting materials have the ability to conduct electrical energy with little or no resistance when cooled to 
“critical” temperatures. In contrast, electric currents that flow through conventional conductors encounter resistance 
that requires power to overcome and generates heat. Substantial improvement in the performance characteristics of 
electrical systems can be made with superconductors, including reduced power loss, lower heat generation and 
decreased electrical noise. As these properties have been applied to radio and microwave frequency applications, new 
products, such as wireless filters, have been developed that are extremely small, highly sensitive and highly 
frequency selective.  
   

The discovery of superconductors was made in 1911. However, a fundamental understanding of the 
phenomenon of superconductivity eluded physicists until J. Robert Schrieffer (a former director and Chairman of our 
Technical Advisory Board), John Bardeen (co-inventor of the transistor) and Leon Cooper proposed a theory 
explaining superconductivity, for which they were awarded the Nobel Prize in Physics in 1972. Until 1986, all 
superconductor utilization was done at extremely low temperatures, below 23K (-250°C). Superconductors were not 
widely used in commercial applications because of the high cost and complexities associated with reaching and 
maintaining such low temperatures. In 1986, high temperature superconductors with critical temperatures greater 
than 30K (-243°C) were discovered. In early 1987, yttrium barium copper oxide (“YBCO”) was discovered, which 
has a critical temperature of 93K (-180°C). Shortly thereafter, thallium barium calcium copper oxide (“TBCCO”) 
was discovered, which has a critical temperature of 125K (-148°C). These discoveries were important because these 
high temperature superconductors allowed for operating temperatures higher than 77K (-196°C), or the point at 
which nitrogen liquefies at atmospheric pressure. These high critical temperatures allow superconductors to be 
cooled using less expensive and more efficient refrigeration processes. We were formed following this discovery for 
the initial purpose of developing and commercializing high temperature superconductors.  
   

We have historically TBCCO as the primary HTS material in our SuperLink product line. In the fourth quarter 
of 2004, we shifted all of our production from TBCCO to YBCO to lower the product manufacturing cost of the 
SuperLink. We have a non-exclusive license in the U.S. and selected foreign countries to the primary patents on 
YBCO from Lucent and TBCCO from the University of Arkansas. We use HTS materials as the base material to  
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  •  6 patents for technologies directed toward producing thin-film materials and structures expiring in 2010 to 
2024; 

  

  •  26 patents for cryogenic and non-microwave circuit designs expiring in 2010 to 2024; 
  

  •  16 patents covering cryogenics, packaging and systems expiring in 2013 to 2024; and 
  

  •  5 patents covering other superconducting technologies expiring in 2013 to 2015. 
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produce “thin film” microelectronics, primarily RF filters, in our SuperLink product line. We manufacture YBCO 
using proprietary processes, including proprietary manufacturing techniques. We believe that the process technology 
we have developed produces state of the art HTS thin-films of the highest quality using YBCO.  
   

As part of our strategy to maintain our technological leadership, we have focused our research and development 
activities on HTS materials, RF circuitry, cryogenic design and product application. We utilize a proprietary 
manufacturing process for HTS thin-film production, the base material for our filtering products. An in-house design 
team develops the filters, which are packaged into a vacuum-sealed container for thermal insulation. The filter 
package is integrated with our cryogenic cooler and the necessary control electronics into a complete system that is 
deployed in conjunction with new or existing wireless base stations.  
   

We have devoted a significant portion of our engineering resources to design and model the complex 
RF circuitry that is basic to our products. The expertise of this highly qualified team has allowed us to design and 
fabricate very precise individual components, such as RF signal filters. We have developed computer simulation 
systems to design our products and this RF circuitry design capability has allowed us to produce extremely small, 
high-performance circuits. Some of our design and engineering innovations have been patented; others are the 
subjects of pending patent applications. We believe that our RF engineering expertise provides us with a unique 
competitive advantage. These capabilities also allow us to begin pursuing additional market segments, such as in the 
area of handset filters.  
   

The availability of a low-cost, highly reliable, compact cooling technology is critical to the successful 
commercialization of our superconducting products. Prior to our efforts, no such cryogenic cooler had been 
commercially available. In response to this lack of availability, we developed a low-cost, highly reliable low-power 
cooler designed to cool to 77K (-196°C) with sufficient cooling capacity for our superconducting applications. Our 
SuperLink systems have logged in excess of 200 million hours of cumulative operation. The cryogenic coolers in our 
current models have demonstrated a “mean time between failure” (the industry standard measurement) of greater 
than one million hours. The design was based in part on patents licensed by us from Sunpower, Inc. We believe our 
internally developed cooler, which is both compact enough and reliable enough to meet the most demanding wireless 
industry standards, provides us with a significant and unique competitive advantage.  
   

Cooling to cryogenic temperatures requires proper thermal isolation and packaging. Any superconducting or 
other cryogenically cooled device must be maintained at its optimal operating temperature, and its interaction with 
higher temperature components must be controlled. We have developed a variety of proprietary and patented 
cryogenic packaging innovations to satisfy this requirement.  

   

Competition  
   

The wireless communication market is intensely competitive. We face competition in various aspects of our 
technology and product development and in each of our target markets. Our products compete on the basis of 
performance, functionality, reliability, pricing, quality, and compliance with industry standards. Our current and 
potential competitors include conventional RF filter manufacturers and both established and newly emerging 
companies developing similar or competing HTS technologies. We also compete with companies that design, 
manufacture and sell antenna-optimizing multiplexers and companies that seek to enhance base station range and 
selectivity by means other than a superconducting filter. The primary competitors use tower mounted and ground 
mounted amplifiers, conventional filters, repeaters or “smart antenna” technologies. Tower mounted and ground 
mounted amplifiers pass an RF signal received by an antenna through a broad filter, followed by a low noise 
amplifier. These units are produced by a number of companies, which include most of the base station original 
equipment manufacturers (OEMs) such as Ericsson and Nokia. Filter manufacturers, including Andrew, Powerwave, 
and Radio Frequency Systems, also produce these units. Smart antennas allow base stations to focus energy more 
directly on individual wireless devices in order to improve capacity. Some competitors have significantly greater 
financial, technical, manufacturing, sales, marketing and other resources. Some competitors have achieved greater 
name recognition for their products and technologies.  
   

In addition, we currently supply components and license technology to several companies that may eventually 
decide to manufacture or design their own HTS components, rather than purchasing or licensing our technology. 
With respect to our HTS materials, we compete with THEVA among others. In the government sector, we compete  
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with universities, national laboratories and both large and small companies for research and development contracts, 
and with larger defense contractors, such as Raytheon and Northrop Grumman for government products.  

   

Employees  
   

We employed a total of 129 people as of December 31, 2007: 54 in manufacturing, 35 in research and 
development, 19 in sales and marketing and 21 in administration. Nine of our employees have Ph.D.s, and fourteen 
others hold advanced degrees in physics, materials science, electrical engineering and other fields. Our employees are 
not represented by a labor union and we believe that our employee relations are good.  

   

Environmental Issues  
   

We use certain hazardous materials in our research, development and manufacturing operations. As a result, we 
are subject to stringent federal, state and local regulations governing the storage, use and disposal of such materials. 
Current or future laws and regulations could require substantial expenditures for preventative or remedial action, 
reduction of chemical exposure, waste treatment or disposal. Although we believe that our safety procedures for the 
handling and disposing of hazardous materials comply with the standards prescribed by state and federal regulations, 
there is always the risk of accidental contamination or injury from these materials. To date, we have not incurred 
substantial expenditures for preventive action with respect to hazardous materials or for remedial action with respect 
to any hazardous materials accident, but the use and disposal of hazardous materials involves the risk that we could 
incur substantial expenditures for such preventive or remedial actions. If such an accident occurred, we could be held 
liable for resulting damages. The liability in the event of an accident or the costs of such remedial actions could 
exceed our resources or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or 
cash flows.  

   

   

The following section includes some of the material factors that may adversely affect our business and 
operations. This is not an exhaustive list, and additional factors could adversely affect our business and financial 
performance. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risk factors 
emerge from time to time and it is not possible for us to predict all such risk factors, nor can we assess the impact of 
all such risk factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual 
results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements. This discussion of risk factors 
includes many forward-looking statements. For cautions about relying on such forward looking statements, please 
refer to the section entitled “Forward Looking Statements” at the beginning of this Report immediately prior to 
Item 1.  

   

Risks Related to Our Business  
   

We have a history of losses and may never become profitable.  
   

In each of our last five years, we have experienced significant net losses and negative cash flows from 
operations. If we fail to increase our revenues, we may not achieve and maintain profitability and may not meet our 
expectations or the expectations of financial analysts who report on our stock.  

   

We may need to raise additional capital, and if we are unable to raise capital our ability to implement our 
current business plan and ultimately our viability as a company could be adversely affected.  

   

In 2007, we incurred a net loss of $9.1 million and had negative cash flows from operations of $5.4 million. In 
2006, we incurred a net loss of $29.6 million and had negative cash flows from operations of $7.3 million. Our 
independent registered public accounting firm has included in their audit report for fiscal 2007 and 2006 an 
explanatory paragraph expressing doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. Our prior independent 
registered public accounting firm included a similar explanatory paragraph in their audit report for 2005.  
   

Our principal sources of liquidity consist of existing cash balances and funds expected to be generated from 
future operations. We believe one of the key factors to our liquidity will be our ability to successfully execute on our  
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plans to increase sales levels in a highly concentrated industry where we experience significant fluctuations in sales 
from quarter to quarter. Our cash requirements will also depend on numerous other variable factors, including the 
rate of growth of sales, the timing and levels of products purchased, payment terms and credit limits from 
manufacturers, and the timing and level of accounts receivable collections.  
   

At December 31, 2007 we had $3.9 million in cash and in January 2008 we received the remaining $11.0 million 
from our investment agreement with Hunchun BaoLi Communication Co. Ltd., or BAOLI, whereby in exchange for 
$15.0 million in cash we issued to BAOLI and two related purchasers a total of (a) 3,101,361 shares of our common 
stock and (b) 611,523 shares of our Series A Preferred Stock (convertible under certain conditions into 
6,115,230 shares of our common stock). If actual cash flows deviate significantly from forecasted amounts or if we 
believe operations require additional funding we cannot assure you that additional financing will be available on 
acceptable terms or at all.  
   

If we issue additional equity securities to raise funds, the ownership percentage of our existing stockholders 
would be reduced. New investors may demand rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of existing holders of 
common stock. If we cannot raise any needed funds, it might be forced to make further substantial reductions in our 
operating expenses, which could adversely affect our ability to implement our current business plan and ultimately 
our viability as a company.  

   

We rely on a small number of customers for the majority of our commercial revenues and the loss of any one of 
these customers, or a significant loss, reduction or rescheduling of orders from any of these customers, could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.  

   

We sell most of our products to a small number of wireless carriers. We derived 75% of our commercial product 
revenues from Verizon Wireless and AT&T in 2007 and 96% of our commercial product revenues from ALLTEL, 
Verizon Wireless and T-Mobile in 2006. Our future success depends upon the wireless carriers continuing to 
purchase our products, and fluctuations in demand from such customers could negatively impact our results. 
Unanticipated demand fluctuations can have a negative impact on our revenues and business and an adverse effect on 
our results of operations and financial condition.  
   

In addition, our dependence on a small number of major customers exposes us to numerous other risks, 
including:  
   

   

Many of our customers also provide minimal lead-time prior to the release of their purchase orders and have 
non-binding commitments to purchase from us. If we fail to forecast our customer’s demands accurately, we could 
experience delays in manufacturing which could result in customer dissatisfaction. Additionally, these factors further 
impact our ability to forecast future revenue.  

   

The wireless communication industry is highly concentrated, which limits the number of potential customers, 
and further industry consolidation could result in the loss of key customers.  

   

The wireless communication industry is highly concentrated in nature and may become more concentrated due 
to anticipated industry consolidation. As a result, we believe that the number of potential customers for our products  
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  •  a slowdown or delay in the deployment, upgrading or improvement of wireless networks by any one customer 
could significantly reduce demand for our products; 

  

  •  reductions in a single customer’s forecasts and demand could result in excess inventories; 
  

  •  each of our customers have significant purchasing leverage over us to require changes in sales terms including 
pricing, payment terms and product delivery schedules; and 

  

  •  concentration of accounts receivable credit risk, which could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity 
and financial condition if one of our major customers declared bankruptcy or delayed payment of their 
receivables. 
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may be limited. We also face significant risks in the event any of our key customers is acquired by a company that 
has not adopted our technology or not adopted it to the same extent. In that event, we could face a significant decline 
in our sales to the acquired customer.  

   

We experience significant fluctuations in sales and operating results from quarter to quarter.  
   

Our quarterly results fluctuate due to a number of factors, including:  
   

   

The nature of our business requires that we promptly ship products after we receive orders. This means that we 
typically do not have a significant backlog of unfilled orders at the start of each quarter. We have also regularly 
generated a large percentage of our revenues in the last month of a quarter. Our major customers generally have no 
contractual obligation to purchase forecasted amounts and may cancel orders, change delivery schedules or change 
the mix of products ordered with minimal notice and minimal penalty. As a result of these factors, we may not be 
able to accurately predict our quarterly sales. Any shortfall in sales relative to our quarterly expectations or any delay 
of customer orders would adversely affect our revenues and results of operations.  
   

Order deferrals and cancellations by our customers, declining average sales prices, changes in the mix of 
products sold, increases in inventory and finished goods, delays in the introduction of new products and longer than 
anticipated sales cycles for our products have, in the past, adversely affected our results of operations. Despite these 
factors, we maintain significant finished goods, work-in-progress and raw materials inventory to meet estimated 
order forecasts. If our customers purchase less than the forecasted amounts or cancel or delay existing purchase 
orders, there will be higher levels of inventory that face a greater risk of obsolescence. If our customers desire to 
purchase products in excess of the forecasted amounts or in a different product mix, there may not be enough 
inventory or manufacturing capacity to fill their orders.  
   

Due to these and other factors, our past results may not be reliable indicators of our future performance. Future 
revenues and operating results may not meet the expectations of stock analysts and investors. In either case, the price 
of our common stock could be materially adversely affected.  

   

Our sales cycles are unpredictable, making future performance uncertain.  
   

The sales cycle for telecommunications products includes identification of decision makers within the 
customers’ organizations, development of an understanding of customer-specific performance and economic issues, 
convincing the customer through field trial reports of the benefits of systems offered, negotiation of purchase orders 
and deployment. Customers who purchase our systems must commit a significant amount of capital and other 
resources. Our customers must consider budgetary constraints, comply with internal procedures for approving large 
expenditures and complete whatever testing is necessary for them to integrate new technologies that will impact their 
key operations. Customer delays can lengthen the sales cycles and have a material adverse effect on our business.  

   

We depend on the capital spending patterns of wireless network operators, and if capital spending is decreased 
or delayed, our business may be harmed.  

   

Because we rely on wireless network operators for product purchases, any substantial decrease or delay in 
capital spending patterns in the wireless communication industry may harm our business. Demand from customers 
for our products depends to a significant degree upon the amount and timing of capital spending by these customers 
for constructing, rebuilding or upgrading their systems. The capital spending patterns of wireless network operators 
depend on a variety of factors, including access to financing, the status of federal, local and foreign government 
regulation and deregulation, changing standards for wireless technology, overall demand for wireless services, 
competitive pressures and general economic conditions. In addition, capital spending patterns in the wireless  
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  •  the lack of any contractual obligation by our customers to purchase their forecasted demand for our products; 
  

  •  variations in the timing, cancellation, or rescheduling of customer orders and shipments; and 
  

  •  high fixed expenses that may disproportionately impact operating expenses, especially during a quarter with a 
sales shortfall. 
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industry can be subject to some degree of seasonality, with lower levels of spending in the first and third calendar 
quarters, based on annual budget cycles.  

   

Our reliance on a limited number of suppliers and the long lead time of components for our products could 
impair our ability to manufacture and deliver our systems on a timely basis.  

   

A number of components used in our products are available from only one or a limited number of outside 
suppliers due to unique designs as well as certain quality and performance requirements. We currently purchase 
substrates for growth of high-temperature superconductor thin-films from a single supplier because of the quality of 
their substrates. A thin film is a thin layer of high-temperature superconductor material. There are additional 
components that we source from a single vendor due to the present volume. Key components of our conventional 
products are manufactured by sole foreign manufacturer. Our reliance on sole or limited source suppliers involves 
certain risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control. These include the possibility of a shortage or 
the discontinuation of certain key components. Any reduced availability of these parts or components when required 
could impair our ability to manufacture and deliver our systems on a timely basis and result in the delay or 
cancellation of orders, which could harm our business.  
   

In addition, the purchase of some of our key components involves long lead times and, in the event of 
unanticipated increases in demand for our solutions, we may be unable to obtain these components in sufficient 
quantities to meet our customers’ requirements. We do not have guaranteed supply arrangements with any of these 
suppliers, do not maintain an extensive inventory of parts or components and customarily purchase sole or limited 
source parts and components pursuant to purchase orders. Business disruptions, quality issues, production shortfalls 
or financial difficulties of a sole or limited source supplier could materially and adversely affect us by increasing 
product costs, or eliminating or delaying the availability of such parts or components. In such events, our inability to 
develop alternative sources of supply quickly and on a cost-effective basis could impair our ability to manufacture 
and deliver our systems on a timely basis and could harm our business.  

   

Our reliance on a limited number of suppliers exposes us to quality control issues.  
   

Our reliance on certain single-source and limited-source components exposes us to quality control issues if these 
suppliers experience a failure in their production process or otherwise fail to meet our quality requirements. A failure 
in single-source or limited-source components or products could force us to repair or replace a product utilizing 
replacement components. If we cannot obtain comparable replacements or effectively return or redesign our 
products, we could lose customer orders or incur additional costs, which could have a material adverse effect on our 
gross margins and results of operations.  

   

We expect decreases in average selling prices, requiring us to reduce product costs in order to achieve and 
maintain profitability.  

   

The average selling price of our products has decreased over the years. We anticipate customer pressure on our 
product pricing will continue for the foreseeable future. We have plans to further reduce the manufacturing cost of 
our products, but there is no assurance that our future cost reduction efforts will keep pace with price erosion. We 
will need to further reduce our manufacturing costs through engineering improvements and economies of scale in 
production and purchasing in order to achieve adequate gross margins. We may not be able to achieve the required 
product cost savings at a rate needed to keep pace with competitive pricing pressure. Additionally, we may be forced 
to discount future orders. If we fail to reach our cost saving objectives or we are required to offer future discounts, 
our business may be harmed.  

   

Our ability to protect our patents and other proprietary rights is uncertain, exposing us to possible losses of 
competitive advantage.  

   

Our efforts to protect our proprietary rights may not succeed in preventing infringement by others or ensure that 
these rights will provide us with a competitive advantage. Pending patent applications may not result in issued 
patents and the validity of issued patents may be subject to challenge. Third parties may also be able to design around 
the patented aspects of the products. Additionally, certain of the issued patents and patent applications are  
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owned jointly with third parties. Because any owner or co-owner of a patent can license its rights under jointly-
owned patents or applications, inventions made by us jointly with others are not subject to our exclusive control. Any 
of these possible events could result in losses of competitive advantage.  

   

We depend on specific patents and licenses to technologies, and we will likely need additional technologies in 
the future that we may not be able to obtain.  

   

We utilize technologies under licenses of patents from others for our products. These patents may be subject to 
challenge, which may result in significant litigation expense (which may or may not be recoverable against future 
royalty obligations). Additionally, we continually try to develop new products, and, in the course of doing so, we 
may be required to utilize intellectual property rights owned by others and may seek licenses to do so. Such licenses 
may not be obtainable on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. It is also possible that we may inadvertently 
utilize intellectual property rights held by others, which could result in substantial claims.  

   

Intellectual property infringement claims against us could materially harm results of operations.  
   

Our products incorporate a number of technologies, including high-temperature superconductor technology, 
technology related to other materials, and electronics technologies. Our patent positions, and that of other companies 
using high-temperature superconductor technology, is uncertain and there is significant risk that others, including our 
competitors or potential competitors, have obtained or will obtain patents relating to our products or technologies or 
products or technologies planned to be introduced by us.  
   

We believe that patents may be or have been issued, or applications may be pending, claiming various 
compositions of matter used in our products. We may need to secure one or more licenses of these patents. There can 
be no assurances that such licenses could be obtained on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. We may be 
required to expend significant resources to develop alternatives that would not infringe such patents or to obtain 
licenses to the related technology. We may not be able to successfully design around these patents or obtain licenses 
to them and may have to defend ourselves at substantial cost against allegations of infringement of third party patents 
or other rights to intellectual property. In those circumstances, we could face significant liabilities and also be forced 
to cease the use of key technology.  

   

We currently rely on specific technologies and may not successfully adapt to the rapidly changing wireless 
telecommunications equipment market.  

   

Wireless telecommunication equipment is characterized by rapidly advancing technology. Our success depends 
upon our ability to keep pace with advancing wireless technology, including materials, processes and industry 
standards. For example, we had to redesign our SuperLink product to convert from thallium barium calcium copper 
oxide to yttrium barium copper oxide in order to reduce the product cost and compete with other technologies. 
However, even with the lower cost HTS material, SuperLink may not ultimately prove commercially competitive 
against other current technologies or those that may be discovered in the future.  
   

We will have to continue to develop and integrate advances to our core technologies. We will also need to 
continue to develop and integrate advances in complementary technologies. We cannot guarantee that our 
development efforts will not be rendered obsolete by research efforts and technological advances made by others.  

   

Other parties may have the right to utilize technology important to our business.  
   

We utilize certain intellectual property rights under non-exclusive licenses or have granted to others the right to 
utilize certain intellectual property rights licensed from a third party. Because we may not have the exclusive rights 
to utilize such intellectual property, other parties may be able to compete with us, which may harm our business.  

   

Our failure to anticipate and respond to developments in the wireless telecommunications market could 
substantially harm our business.  

   

Our efforts are focused on the wireless telecommunications market, including the 2G, 2.5G and 3G markets. The 
dedication of our resources to the wireless telecommunications market makes us potentially vulnerable to  
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changes in this market, such as new technologies like WIMAX, future competition, changes in availability of capital 
resources or regulatory changes that could affect the competitive position and rate of growth of the wireless industry.  

   

We may not be able to compete effectively against alternative technologies.  
   

Our products compete with a number of alternative approaches and technologies that increase the capacity and 
improve the quality of wireless networks. Some of these alternatives may be more cost effective or offer better 
performance than our products. Wireless network operators may opt to increase the number of transmission stations, 
increase tower heights, install filters and amplifiers at the top of towers or use advanced antenna technology in lieu of 
purchasing our products. We may not succeed in competing against these alternatives.  

   

We depend upon government contracts for a substantial amount of revenue and our business may suffer if 
significant contracts are terminated, adversely modified, or we are unable to win new contracts.  

   

We derive a portion of our revenue from a few large contracts with the U.S. government. As a result, a reduction 
in, or discontinuance of, the government’s commitment to current or future programs could materially reduce 
government contract revenue.  
   

Contracts involving the U.S. government may include various risks, including:  
   

   

The programs in which we participate may extend for several years, but are normally funded on an annual basis. 
The U.S. government may not continue to fund programs under which we have entered into contracts. Even if 
funding is continued, we may fail to compete successfully to obtain funding within such programs.  
   

All costs for services under government contracts are subject to audit, and the acceptance of such costs as 
allowable and allocable is subject to federal regulatory guidelines. We record contract revenues in amounts which we 
expect to be realized upon final audit settlement. Any disallowance of costs by the government could have an adverse 
effect on our business, operating results and financial condition. Audits and adjustments may result in decreased 
revenues and net income for those years. Additionally, because of our participation in government contracts, we are 
subject to audit from time to time for our compliance with government regulations by various agencies. Government 
agencies may conduct inquiries or investigations that may cover a broad range of activity. Responding to any such 
audits, inquiries or investigations may involve significant expense and divert management’s attention. In addition, an 
adverse finding in any such audit, inquiry or investigation could involve penalties that may harm our business.  

   

Because competition for target employees is intense, we may be subject to claims of unfair hiring practices, 
trade secret misappropriation or other related claims.  

   

Companies in the wireless telecommunications industry whose employees accept positions with competitors 
frequently claim that competitors have engaged in unfair hiring practices, trade secret misappropriation or other 
related claims. We may be subject to such claims in the future as we seek to hire qualified personnel, and such  
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  •  termination by the government; 
  

  •  reduction or modification in the event of changes in the government’s requirements or budgetary constraints; 
  

  •  increased or unexpected costs causing losses or reduced profits under contracts where prices are fixed or 
unallowable costs under contracts where the government reimburses for costs and pays an additional 
premium; 

  

  •  risks of potential disclosure of confidential information to third parties; 
  

  •  the failure or inability of the main contractor to perform its contract in circumstances where we are a 
subcontractor; 

  

  •  the failure of the government to exercise options for additional work provided for in the contracts; and 
  

  •  the government’s right in certain circumstances to freely use technology developed under these contracts. 
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claims may result in material litigation. If this should occur, we could incur substantial costs in defending against 
these claims, regardless of their merits.  

   

If we are unable to forecast our inventory needs accurately, we may be unable to obtain sufficient 
manufacturing capacity or may incur unnecessary costs and produce excess inventory.  

   

We forecast our inventory needs based on anticipated purchase orders to determine manufacturing requirements. 
If we overestimate demand, we may have excess inventory, and our suppliers may as well, which could increase our 
costs. If we underestimate our requirements, our suppliers may have inadequate inventory, which could interrupt 
manufacturing and result in delays in shipments and recognition of revenues. In addition, lead times for ordering 
materials and components vary significantly and depend on factors such as the specific supplier, contract terms and 
demand for any component at a given time. Accordingly, if we inaccurately forecast demand, we may be unable to 
obtain adequate manufacturing capacity from our suppliers to meet customers’ delivery requirements, which would 
harm our business.  

   

Our success depends on the attraction and retention of senior management and technical personnel with 
relevant expertise.  

   

As a competitor in a highly technical market, we depend heavily upon the efforts of our existing senior 
management and technical teams. The loss of the services of one or more members of these teams could slow product 
development and commercialization objectives. Due to the specialized nature of our products, we also depend upon 
our ability to attract and retain qualified technical personnel with substantial industry knowledge and expertise. 
Competition for qualified personnel is intense and we may not be able to continue to attract and retain qualified 
personnel necessary for the development of our business.  
   

We have experienced difficulty recruiting senior management due to the high cost of living in the Santa Barbara 
area. We have a limited pool of qualified executives in Santa Barbara and may attempt to recruit qualified candidates 
from across the country. Some candidates have cited the high cost of housing in Santa Barbara as a significant 
negative factor when considering our employment offers. We have mitigated this problem to a limited extent by 
allowing some executives to maintain their existing residences in other parts of the country and effectively 
“commute” to our corporate headquarters in Santa Barbara as needed to perform their duties. Regardless, we expect 
the cost of housing in our area will continue to present a significant obstacle to recruiting senior executives.  

   

Regulatory changes negatively affecting wireless communications companies could substantially harm our 
business.  

   

The Federal Communications Commission strictly regulates the operation of wireless base stations in the United 
States. Other countries also regulate the operation of base stations within their territories. Base stations and 
equipment marketed for use in base stations must meet specific technical standards. Our ability to sell our high-
temperature superconductor filter subsystems will depend upon the rate of deployment of other new wireless digital 
services, the ability of base station equipment manufacturers and of base station operators to obtain and retain the 
necessary approvals and licenses, and changes in regulations that may impact the product requirements. Any failure 
or delay of base station manufacturers or operators in obtaining necessary approvals could harm our business.  

   

We may acquire or make investments in companies or technologies that could cause loss of value to 
stockholders and disruption of business.  

   

We may explore opportunities to acquire companies or technologies in the future. Other than the acquisition of 
Conductus, Inc. in 2002, we have not made any such acquisitions or investments to date and, therefore, our ability as 
an organization to make acquisitions or investments is unproven. Entering into an acquisition entails many risks, any 
of which could adversely affect our business, including:  
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  •  failure to integrate operations, services and personnel; 
  

  •  the price paid may exceed the value eventually realized; 
  

  •  loss of share value to existing stockholders as a result of issuing equity securities to finance an acquisition; 
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In addition, future acquisitions may result in potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities, or the incurrence 
of debt, contingent liabilities or amortization expenses or charges related to goodwill or other intangible assets, any 
of which could harm our business. As a result, if we fail to properly evaluate and execute acquisitions or investments, 
our business and prospects may be seriously harmed.  

   

If we are unable to implement appropriate controls and procedures to manage our expected growth, we may not 
be able to successfully offer our products and implement our business plan.  

   

Our ability to successfully offer our products and implement our business plan in a rapidly evolving market 
requires an effective planning and management process. Anticipated growth in future operations will continue to 
place a significant strain on management systems and resources. We expect that we will need to continue to improve 
our financial and managerial controls, reporting systems and procedures, and will need to continue to expand, train 
and manage our work force worldwide. Furthermore, we expect that we will be required to manage multiple 
relationships with various customers and other third parties.  

   

Compliance with environmental regulations could be especially costly due to the hazardous materials used in 
the manufacturing process.  

   

We are subject to a number of federal, state and local governmental regulations related to the use, storage, 
discharge and disposal of toxic, volatile or otherwise hazardous chemicals used in our business. Any failure to 
comply with present or future regulations could result in fines being imposed, suspension of production or 
interruption of operations. In addition, these regulations could restrict our ability to expand or could require us to 
acquire costly equipment or incur other significant expense to comply with environmental regulations or to clean up 
prior discharges.  

   

The reliability of market data included in our public filings is uncertain.  
   

Since we operate in a rapidly changing market, we have in the past, and may from time to time in the future, 
include market data from industry publications and our own internal estimates in some of the documents we file with 
the Securities Exchange Commission. The reliability of this data cannot be assured. Industry publications generally 
state that the information contained in these publications has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but 
that its accuracy and completeness is not guaranteed. Although we believe that the market data used in our SEC 
filings is and will be reliable, it has not been independently verified. Similarly, internal company estimates, while 
believed by us to be reliable, have not been verified by any independent sources.  

   

Our international operations expose us to certain risks.  
   

In November 2007, we signed a binding definitive agreement for a joint venture with BAOLI to manufacture 
and market our SuperLink ® interference elimination solution for the China market. In addition to facing many of the 
risks faced by our domestic business, if that joint venture or any other international operation we may have is to be 
successful, we (together with any joint venture partner) must recruit the necessary personnel and develop the 
facilities needed to manufacture and sell the products involved, must learn about the local market (which may 
significantly different from our domestic market), must build brand awareness among potential customers and must 
compete successfully with local organizations with greater market knowledge and potentially greater resources than 
we have. We must also obtain a number of critical governmental approvals from both the United States and the local 
country governments on a timely basis, including those related to any transfers of our technology. We must establish  
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  •  potential loss of key employees from either our then current business or any acquired business; 
  

  •  entering into markets in which we have little or no prior experience; 
  

  •  diversion of financial resources and management’s attention from other business concerns; 
  

  •  assumption of unanticipated liabilities related to the acquired assets; and 
  

  •  the business or technologies acquired or invested in may have limited operating histories and may be 
subjected to many of the same risks to which we are exposed. 
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sufficient controls on any foreign operations to ensure that those operations are operated in accordance with our 
interests, that our intellectual property is protected and that our involvement does not inadvertently create potential 
competitors. There can be no assurance that these conditions will be met. Even if they are met, the process of 
building our international operations could divert financial resources and management attention from other business 
concerns. Finally, our international operations will also be subject to the general risks of international operations, 
such as:  
   

   

Risks Related to Our Common Stock  
   

Our stock price is volatile.  
   

The market price of our common stock has been, and we expect will continue to be, subject to significant 
volatility. The value of our common stock may decline regardless of our operating performance or prospects. Factors 
affecting our market price include:  
   

   

Recent events have caused stock prices for many companies, including ours, to fluctuate in ways unrelated or 
disproportionate to their operating performance. The general economic, political and stock market conditions that 
may affect the market price of our common stock are beyond our control. The market price of our common stock at 
any particular time may not remain the market price in the future.  

   

We have a significant number of outstanding warrants and options, and future sales of these shares could 
adversely affect the market price of our common stock.  

   

As of December 31, 2007, we had outstanding warrants and options exercisable for an aggregate of 
1,210,603 shares of common stock at a weighted average exercise price of $25.92 per share. We have registered the 
issuance of all these shares, and they will be freely tradable by the exercising party upon issuance. The holders may 
sell these shares in the public markets from time to time, without limitations on the timing, amount or method of sale. 
As our stock price rises, the holders may exercise their warrants and options and sell a large number of shares. This 
could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.  
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  •  changes in exchange rates; 
  

  •  international political and economic conditions; 
  

  •  changes in government regulation in various countries; 
  

  •  trade barriers; 
  

  •  adverse tax consequences; and 
  

  •  costs associated with expansion into new territories. 

  •  our perceived prospects; 
  

  •  variations in our operating results and whether we have achieved key business targets; 
  

  •  changes in, or our failure to meet, earnings estimates; 
  

  •  changes in securities analysts’  buy/sell recommendations; 
  

  •  differences between our reported results and those expected by investors and securities analysts; 
  

  •  announcements of new contracts by us or our competitors; 
  

  •  market reaction to any acquisitions, joint ventures or strategic investments announced by us or our 
competitors; and 

  

  •  general economic, political or stock market conditions. 
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Our corporate governance structure may prevent our acquisition by another company at a premium over the 
public trading price of STI shares.  

   

It is possible that the acquisition of a majority of our outstanding voting stock by another company could result 
in our stockholders receiving a premium over the public trading price for our shares. Provisions of our restated 
certificate of incorporation and bylaws and of Delaware corporate law could delay or make more difficult an 
acquisition of our company by merger, tender offer or proxy contest, even if it would create an immediate benefit to 
our stockholders. For example, our restated certificate of incorporation does not permit stockholders to act by written 
consent and our bylaws generally require ninety days advance notice of any matters to be brought before the 
stockholders at an annual or special meeting.  
   

In addition, our board of directors has the authority to issue up to 2,000,000 shares of preferred stock and to 
determine the terms, rights and preferences of this preferred stock, including voting rights of those shares, without 
any further vote or action by the stockholders. The rights of the holders of common stock may be subordinate to, and 
adversely affected by, the rights of holders of preferred sock that may be issued in the future. The issuance of 
preferred stock could also make it more difficult for a third party to acquire a majority of our outstanding voting 
stock, even at a premium over our public trading price.  
   

Further, our certificate of incorporation also provides for a classified board of directors with directors divided 
into three classes serving staggered terms. These provisions may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change 
in control of STI without action by our stockholders and, therefore, could adversely affect the price of our stock or 
the possibility of sale of shares to an acquiring person.  

   

We do not anticipate declaring any cash dividends on our common stock.  
   

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock and do not plan to pay any cash dividends 
in the near future. Our current policy is to retain all funds and earnings for use in the operation and expansion of our 
business. In addition, our debt agreements prohibit the payment of cash dividends or other distributions on any of our 
capital stock except dividends payable in additional shares of capital stock.  

   

   

None.  

   

   

We lease all of our properties. All of our operations, including our manufacturing facility, are located in an 
industrial complex in Santa Barbara, California. We occupy approximately 71,000 square feet in this complex under 
a long-term lease that expires in 2011. We believe that our Santa Barbara facilities are adequate to meet current and 
reasonably anticipated needs for approximately the next two years.  

   

   

Settlement of Shalvoy Litigation  
   

Mr. Shalvoy, a director and stockholder, executed two notes aggregating $820,244 in principal in connection 
with the exercise in December 2000 of two options to purchase Conductus, Inc. common stock prior our acquisition 
of Conductus, Inc. in December 2002. Through the third quarter of, 2005, we carried the principal (as “Notes 
Receivable from Stockholder”) and accrued interest (as “Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets”) for both notes 
as assets on our balance sheet.  
   

We filed a lawsuit against Mr. Shalvoy on December 21, 2005 in the California Superior Court (Case 
No. 1186812) to collect both notes. In that same quarter, due to Mr. Shalvoy’s refusal to pay the notes voluntarily we 
recorded a reserve for the value of the notes (principal plus accrued interest) in excess of the market value of the 
collateral securing the notes.  
   

On March 2, 2007, we entered into a Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release of All Claims with Mr. Shalvoy 
to settle the lawsuit. As per the agreement, we received a payment of $610,000 on April 2, 2007  
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in payment of one note, including interest and attorneys’ fees, and the rescission of Mr. Shalvoy’s second purported 
option exercise including cancellation of the related note.  

   

Routine Litigation  
   

We may be involved in routine litigation arising in the ordinary course of our business, and, while the results of 
the proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe that the final outcome of such matters will not have a 
material adverse effect on our financial position, operating results or cash flow.  

   

   

Our 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders was held on October 23, 2007. The following matters were submitted 
to a vote of our shareholders:  
   

1. Election of two Class 3 Directors. The following directors were elected to hold office until the 2010 Annual 
Meeting or until their successors are elected and qualified:  
   

   

2. Approval to Amend the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan:  
   

   

3. Ratification of the appointment of Stonefield Josephson, Inc. as the Company’s Independent Registered 
Public Accounting Firm for the year ending December 31, 2007.  
   

   

PART II  

   

   

Market for Common Stock  
   

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol “SCON.” The following table 
shows the high and low intraday sales prices for our common stock as reported by NASDAQ for each calendar 
quarter in the last two fiscal years:  
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ITEM 4. 
   

SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS 

                  

Directors   Votes For     Votes Withheld   
  

John D. Lockton      10,279,801       210,743   
David W. Vellequette      10,287,800       202,744   

                  

In Favor Of   Against     Abstain   
  

2,425,588      148,018       18,737   

                  

In Favor Of   Against     Abstain   
  

10,277,793      53,137       159,614   

ITEM 5. 
   

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND 
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 

                          

    High     Low         
  

2007                          
Quarter ended March 31, 2007    $ 2.60     $ 1.60           
Quarter ended June 30, 2007    $ 2.16     $ 1.40           
Quarter ended September 29, 2007    $ 10.90     $ 1.38           
Quarter ended December 31, 2007    $ 13.77     $ 5.50           

2006                          
Quarter ended April 1, 2006    $ 6.70     $ 3.21           
Quarter ended July 1, 2006    $ 4.54     $ 1.90           
Quarter ended September 30, 2006    $ 2.10     $ 1.30           
Quarter ended December 31, 2006    $ 3.24     $ 1.43           
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Holders of Record  
   

We had 123 holders of record of our common stock on February 29, 2008. This number does not include 
stockholders for whom shares were held in a “nominee” or “street” name. We estimate that there are more than 
15,000 round lot beneficial owners of our common stock.  

   

Dividends  
   

We have never paid cash dividends and intend to employ all available funds in the development of our business. 
We have no plans to pay cash dividends in the near future, and our line of credit does not allow the payment of 
dividends.  
   

Our ability to declare or pay dividends on shares of our common stock is subject to the requirement that we pay 
an equivalent dividend on each outstanding share of Series A Preferred (on an as converted basis).  

   

Sales of Unregistered Securities  
   

We did not conduct any offerings of equity securities during the fourth quarter of 2007 that were not registered 
under the Securities Act of 1933.  

   

Repurchases of Equity Securities  
   

We did not repurchase any shares of our common stock during the fourth quarter of 2007.  

   

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans  
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                Number of    
                Securities    
    Number of            Remaining Available    
    Securities to Be            for Future Issuance    
    Issued Upon      Weighted-Average     Under Equity    
    Exercise of      Exercise Price of      Compensation Plans    
    Outstanding      Outstanding      (Excluding    
    Options, Warrants     Options, Warrants     Securities    
Plan Category   and Rights     and Rights     Reflected in Column(a))   
  

Equity compensation plans approved by security 
holders      741,858     $ 34.24       1,575,397   

Equity compensation plans not approved by 
security holders      —      —      —  

                          

Total      741,858     $ 34.24       1,575,397   
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Stock Performance Graph  
   

The graph and table below compare the cumulative total stockholders’ return on our common stock since 
December 31, 2002 with the Nasdaq Composite Index, and the Nasdaq Telecommunications Index over the same 
period (assuming the investment of $100 in our common stock and in the two other indices, and reinvestment of all 
dividends).  
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      31-Dec-02     31-Dec-03     31-Dec-04     31-Dec-05     31-Dec-06     31-Dec-07 

Superconductor Technologies      $ 100.00       $ 591.49       $ 147.87       $ 45.74       $ 18.83       $ 59.04   
Nasdaq Composite        100.00         150.01         162.89         165.13         180.85         198.60   
Nasdaq-Telecommunications        100.00         168.74         182.23         169.09         216.03         235.85   

                                                              



Table of Contents  

   

The information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of results of future operations and should be read in 
conjunction with our Financial Statements and Notes thereto appearing in Item 15 of Part IV of this Report and 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”.  
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ITEM 6. 
   

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 

                                          

    Year Ended December 31,   
    2003     2004     2005     2006     2007   
    (In thousands, except per share data)   

  

Statement of Operations Data:                                          
Net revenues:                                          
Net commercial product revenues    $ 38,577     $ 16,787     $ 21,080     $ 17,697     $ 12,787   
Government contract revenues      10,759       6,189       3,107       3,361       5,115   
Sub license royalties      58       28       22       20       —  
                                          

Total net revenues      49,394       23,004       24,209       21,078       17,902   
Costs and expenses:                                          

Cost of commercial product revenues      28,249       23,421       18,989       15,922       12,944   
Contract research and development      6,899       4,465       2,806       2,407       2,906   
Other research and development      4,697       5,036       4,214       3,488       3,172   
Selling, general and administrative      20,567       16,051       11,442       9,086       8,123   
Restructuring expenses and impairment charges      —      4,128       1,197       38       —  
Write off of Goodwill      —      —      —      20,107       —  

                                          

Total costs and expenses      60,412       53,101       38,648       51,048       27,145   
                                          

Loss from operations      (11,018 )     (30,097 )     (14,439 )     (29,970 )     (9,243 ) 
Other income (expense), net      (327 )     (1,120 )     226       346       117   
                                          

Net loss    $ (11,345 )   $ (31,217 )   $ (14,213 )   $ (29,624 )   $ (9,126 ) 
                                          

Basic and diluted net loss per share:                                          
Net loss per common share    $ (1.81 )   $ (3.71 )   $ (1.24 )   $ (2.37 )   $ (0.73 ) 
                                          

Weighted average number of shares Outstanding      6,269       8,424       11,419       12,483       12,488   

                                          

    December 31,   
    2003     2004     2005     2006     2007   

  

Balance Sheet Data:                                          
Cash and cash equivalents    $ 11,144     $ 12,802     $ 13,018     $ 5,487     $ 3,939   
Working capital      15,576       16,146       17,218       10,158       3,293   
Total assets      68,123       62,358       52,045       21,904       16,625   
Long-term debt, including current portion      721       76       33       618       563   
Total stockholders’  equity      52,220       49,249       47,257       17,951       9,190   
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This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations includes many 
forward-looking statements. For cautions about relying on such forward looking statements, please refer to the 
section entitled “Forward Looking Statements” at the beginning of this Report immediately prior to Item 1.  

   

General  
   

We design, manufacture, market and sell high performance infrastructure products for wireless voice and data 
applications. Our products are utilized in major wireless networks throughout the United States which support voice 
and data communications by use of cell phones and other wireless communication devices.  
   

Our products help maximize the performance of wireless telecommunications networks by improving the quality 
of uplink signals from mobile wireless devices. Our products increase capacity utilization, lower dropped and 
blocked calls, extend coverage, and enable higher wireless data throughput — all while reducing capital and 
operating costs. Our SuperLink solution utilizes patented high-temperature superconductor (HTS) technology to 
create a receiver front-end that enhances network performance. Today, we are leveraging our expertise and 
proprietary technology in radio frequency (RF) engineering to continue to expand our product line beyond HTS 
technology. We believe our RF engineering expertise provides us with a significant competitive advantage in the 
development of high performance, cost-effective solutions for wireless telecommunications networks.  
   

We have three product offerings:  
   

   

We currently sell most of our commercial products directly to wireless network operators in the United States. 
Our customers to date include ALLTEL, Cingular, Sprint Nextel, T-Mobile, U.S. Cellular and Verizon Wireless. We 
have a concentrated customer base. Verizon Wireless and AT&T each accounted for more than 10% of our 
commercial revenues in 2007 and Verizon Wireless, ALLTEL, and T-Mobile each accounted for more than 10% of 
our commercial revenues in 2006. We plan to expand our customer base by selling directly to other wireless network 
operators and manufacturers of base station equipment, but we cannot assure that this effort will be successful.  
   

We also generate significant revenues from government contracts. We primarily pursue government research 
and development contracts which compliment our commercial product development. We undertake government 
contract work which has the potential to improve our commercial product offering. These contracts often yield 
valuable intellectual property relevant to our commercial business. We typically own the intellectual property 
developed under these contracts, and the Federal Government receives a royalty-free, non-exclusive and 
nontransferable license to use the intellectual property for the United States.  
   

We sell most of our products to a small number of wireless carriers, and their demand for wireless 
communications equipment fluctuates dramatically and unpredictably. We expect these trends to continue and may 
cause significant fluctuations in our quarterly and annual revenues.  
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ITEM 7. 
   

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS 
OF OPERATIONS 

  •  SuperLink .  In order to receive uplink signals from wireless handsets, base stations require a wireless filter 
system to eliminate out-of-band interference. SuperLink combines HTS filters with a proprietary cryogenic 
cooler and an ultra low-noise amplifier. The result is a highly compact and reliable receiver front-end that can 
simultaneously deliver both high selectivity (interference rejection) and high sensitivity (detection of low 
level signals). SuperLink delivers significant performance advantages over conventional filter systems. 

  

  •  AmpLink .  AmpLink is designed to address the sensitivity requirements of wireless base stations. AmpLink is 
a ground-mounted unit which utilizes a high-performance amplifier. The enhanced uplink performance 
provided by AmpLink improves network coverage immediately and avoids the installation and maintenance 
costs associated with tower mounted alternatives. 

  

  •  SuperPlex .   SuperPlex is our line of multiplexers that provides extremely low insertion loss and excellent 
cross-band isolation. SuperPlex high-performance multiplexers are designed to eliminate the need for 
additional base station antennas and reduce infrastructure costs. Relative to competing technologies, these 
products offer increased transmit power delivered to the base station antenna, higher sensitivity to subscriber 
handset signals, and fast and cost-effective network overlays. 
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The wireless communications infrastructure equipment market is extremely competitive and is characterized by 
rapid technological change, new product development, product obsolescence, evolving industry standards and price 
erosion over the life of a product. We face constant pressures to reduce prices. Consequently, we expect the average 
selling prices of our products will continue decreasing over time. We have responded in the past by successfully 
reducing our product costs, and expect further cost reductions over the next twelve months. However, we cannot 
predict whether our costs will decline at a rate sufficient to keep pace with the competitive pricing pressures.  

   

Recent Developments  
   

BAOLI Investment.  
   

Under a previously announced investment agreement with Hunchun BaoLi Communication Co. Ltd, or BAOLI, 
in August 2007, on February 27, 2008, we issued to BAOLI and two related purchasers a total of 
(a) 3,101,361 shares of our common stock (of which 953,065 must be voted in accordance with the votes of our other 
shares, effectively giving BAOLI no voting power over such shares) and (b) 611,523 shares of our Series A 
Convertible Preferred Stock, or Series A Preferred (convertible under certain conditions into 6,115,230 shares of our 
common stock). We received $15.0 million in cash, of which $4.0 million was funded in 2007 and the $11.0 million 
balance was funded in January 2008.  
   

Subject to the terms and conditions of our Series A Preferred and to customary adjustments to the conversion 
rate, each share of our Series A Preferred is convertible into ten shares of our common stock so long as the number of 
shares of our common stock beneficially owned by BAOLI following such conversion does not exceed 9.9% of our 
outstanding common stock. Except for a preference on liquidation of $.01 per share, each share of Series A Preferred 
is the economic equivalent of the ten shares of common stock into which it is convertible. Except as required by law, 
the Series A Preferred will not have any voting rights. For a complete description of the terms of the Series A 
Preferred, please see the certificate of designations, a copy of which is available through our website at 
www.suptech.com or in our SEC filings available at the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov.  
   

With the issuance of the Series A Preferred, our ability to declare or pay dividends on shares of our common 
stock will be subject to the requirement that we pay an equivalent dividend on each outstanding share of Series A 
Preferred (on an as converted basis).  

   

BAOLI Joint Venture.  
   

We and BAOLI continue to work on our recently established joint venture to manufacture and market our 
SuperLink ® interference elimination solution for the China market. As previously announced, our agreements 
provide that BAOLI will provide the manufacturing expertise and financing in exchange for 55 percent of the equity 
and we will provide an exclusive license in the China market of the enabling technology in exchange for 45 percent 
of the equity and a royalty on sales. We continue to work on preliminary matters relating to the joint venture, 
including administrative and logistical matters, exploratory marketing initiatives, technical and market analysis and 
discussions with governmental officials.  
   

The commencement of manufacturing and any actual sales by the joint venture, and the transfer of our 
technology to the joint venture, remain subject to success in these efforts and to a number of other conditions 
including certain critical approvals from the Chinese and United States governments. In particular, we are in 
discussions with the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States (or CFIUS), an inter-agency committee 
of the United States government that reviews the national security implications of foreign acquisitions of 
U.S. companies regarding our joint venture with and investment from BAOLI. There continues to be no assurance 
that these conditions will be met, or that all required approvals (if obtained) will be obtained on a timely basis. Even 
if these conditions are met and the approvals received, the results from our joint venture will be subject to a number 
of significant risks associated with international operations and new ventures (which are similar to those involved in 
acquisitions), some of which are set out in our public filings, including in particular the “Risk Factors” included in 
Item 1A of this document.  
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates  
   

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our financial 
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities. We continually evaluate our estimates, including those related to bad debts, inventories, recovery of long-
lived assets, income taxes, warranty obligations, contract revenue and contingencies. We base our estimates on 
historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, 
the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. Any future changes to these estimates and assumptions could cause a 
material change to our reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.  
   

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our significant judgments and estimates used in the 
preparation of the financial statements. We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting 
from the inability of our customers to make required payments. If the financial condition of our customers were to 
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. We 
write down our inventory for estimated obsolescence or unmarketable inventory equal to the difference between the 
cost of inventory and the estimated market value based upon assumptions about future demand and market 
conditions. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, additional inventory 
write-downs may be required.  
   

Our inventory is valued at the lower of its actual cost or the current estimated market value of the inventory. We 
review inventory quantities on hand and on order and record, on a quarterly basis, a provision for excess and obsolete 
inventory and/or vendor cancellation charges related to purchase commitments. If the results of the review determine 
that a write-down is necessary, we recognize a loss in the period in which the loss is identified, whether or not the 
inventory is retained or disposed. Our inventory reserves establish a new cost basis for inventory and are not reversed 
until the related inventory is sold or otherwise disposed. Such provisions are established based on historical usage, 
adjusted for known changes in demands for such products, or the estimated forecast of product demand and 
production requirements. Our business is characterized by rapid technological change, frequent new product 
development and rapid product obsolescence that could result in an increase in the amount of obsolete inventory 
quantities on hand. Demand for our products can fluctuate significantly. Our estimates of future product demand may 
prove to be inaccurate and we may understate or overstate the provision required for excess and obsolete inventory.  
   

Our net sales consist of revenue from sales of products net of trade discounts and allowances. We recognize 
revenue when evidence of an arrangement exists, contractual obligations have been satisfied, title and risk of loss 
have been transferred to the customer and collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured. At the time 
revenue is recognized, we provide for the estimated cost of product warranties if allowed for under contractual 
arrangements and return products. Our warranty obligation is affected by product failure rates and service delivery 
costs incurred in correcting a product failure. Should such failure rates or costs differ from these estimates, accrued 
warranty costs would be adjusted.  
   

We indemnify, without limit or term, our customers against all claims, suits, demands, damages, liabilities, 
expenses, judgments, settlements and penalties arising from actual or alleged infringement or misappropriation of 
any intellectual property relating to our products or other claims arising from our products. We cannot reasonably 
develop an estimate of the maximum potential amount of payments that might be made under our guarantees because 
of the uncertainty as to whether a claim might arise and how much it might total.  
   

Contract revenues are principally generated under research and development contracts. Contract revenues are 
recognized utilizing the percentage-of-completion method measured by the relationship of costs incurred to total 
estimated contract costs. If the current contract estimate were to indicate a loss, utilizing the funded amount of the 
contract, a provision would be made for the total anticipated loss. Contract revenues are derived primarily from 
research contracts with agencies of the United States Government. Credit risk related to accounts receivable arising  
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from such contracts is considered minimal. These contracts include cost-plus, fixed price and cost sharing 
arrangements and are generally short-term in nature.  
   

All payments to us for work performed on contracts with agencies of the U.S. Government are subject to 
adjustment upon audit by the Defense Contract Audit Agency. Based on historical experience and review of current 
projects in process, we believe that the audits will not have a significant effect on our financial position, results of 
operations or cash flows. The Defense Contract Audit Agency has audited us through 2003.  
   

In connection with the acquisition of Conductus we recognized $20.1 million of goodwill. At July 1, 2006, our 
market capitalization had declined to $25.5 million, an amount less than our total book value. We concluded that our 
declining stock price constituted an event under FAS 142 and required us to test for goodwill impairment as of 
July 1, 2006. We then proceeded with step two of the impairment analysis — determining the fair values of all our 
tangible and intangible assets and then aggregating and subtracting these values from our fair value. Our analysis led 
us to reasonably estimate at that time that our fair market value was less than our net assets excluding goodwill. 
Accordingly, we recorded a full write-down of the goodwill ($20.1 million) in the second quarter 2006.  
   

We periodically evaluate the realizability of long-lived assets as events or circumstances indicate a possible 
inability to recover the carrying amount. Long-lived assets that will no longer be used in business are written off in 
the period identified since they will no longer generate any positive cash flows for us. Periodically, long-lived assets 
that will continue to be used by we need to be evaluated for recoverability. Such evaluation is based on various 
analyses, including cash flow and profitability projections. The analyses necessarily involve significant management 
judgment. In the event the projected undiscounted cash flows are less than net book value of the assets, the carrying 
value of the assets will be written down to their estimated fair value. Our future cash flows may vary from estimates.  
   

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) 
No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS No. 123(R)”). Under this provision, the share-based 
compensation cost recognized beginning January 1, 2006 includes compensation cost for (i) all share-based payments 
granted prior to, but not vested as of January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair value originally estimated in 
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” (“SFAS No. 123”) 
and (ii) all share-based payments granted subsequent to January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair value estimated 
in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). Compensation cost under SFAS No. 123(R) is recognized 
ratably using the straight-line attribution method over the expected vesting period. Prior periods are not restated 
under this transition method.  
   

Prior to 2006, as permitted under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (SFAS 123), 
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, we elected to follow Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, 
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” in accounting for stock options and other stock-based employee awards. 
Pro forma information regarding net loss and loss per share, as calculated under the provisions of SFAS 123, are 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. We accounted for equity securities issued to non-employees in 
accordance with the provision of SFAS 123 and Emerging Issues Task Force 96-18.  
   

Prior to 2006, we did not recognize compensation expense for issuance of stock options to employees. If we had 
elected to recognize compensation expense for employee awards prior to 2006 based upon the fair value at the  
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grant date consistent with the methodology prescribed by SFAS 123, our net loss and net loss per share would have 
been increased to the pro forma amounts indicated below:  
   

   

On December 1, 2005, the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors approved the accelerated vesting 
of all time-vested outstanding out-of-the-money stock options held by current employees or consultants. For this 
purpose, the Compensation Committee defined “out-of-the-money options” as options having an exercise price equal 
to or greater than $5.80 per share (the market price on the date of the committee’s decision to accelerate the vesting). 
If we had elected to recognize compensation expense for employee awards, the pro forma cost impact of these 
accelerated options in 2005 would have been $3.7 million.  
   

Our valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets is based on our assessments of historical losses and 
projected operating results in future periods. If and when we generate future taxable income in the U.S. against which 
these tax assets may be applied, some portion or all of the valuation allowance would be reversed and an increase in 
net income would consequently be reported in future years.  
   

We have a contract to deliver several custom products to a government contractor. We are unable to 
manufacture the products for technical reasons. We have discussed the problem with the contractor and its 
government customer. They are considering the problem, and we expect further discussions. We do not believe that a 
loss is reasonably estimable at this time and therefore have not recorded any liability relating to this matter. We will 
periodically reassess our potential liability as additional information becomes available. If we later determine that a 
loss is probable and the amount reasonably estimable, we would record a liability for the potential loss.  

   

Backlog  
   

Our commercial backlog consists of accepted product purchase orders with scheduled delivery dates during the 
next twelve months. We had commercial backlog of $352,000 at December 31, 2007, as compared to $75,000 at 
December 31, 2006.  

   

Results of Operations  
   

2007 Compared to 2006  
   

Net revenues decreased by $3.2 million, or 15%, from $21.1 million in 2006 to $17.9 million in 2007. Net 
revenues consist primarily of commercial product revenues and government contract revenues. We also generate 
some additional revenues from sublicensing our technology.  
   

Net commercial product revenues decreased by $4.9 million, or 28%, to $12.8 million in 2007 from 
$17.7 million in 2006. The decrease is primarily the result of lower sales volume for some or our products. Average 
sales prices for our products decreased only slightly in 2007. Our two largest customers accounted for 75% of our net 
commercial revenues in 2007, as compared to 76% in 2006. These customers generally purchase products  
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    For the Year Ended    
    December 31, 2005   
    (In thousands, except   
    per share data)   

  

Net loss:          
As reported    $ (14,213 ) 
Stock-based employee compensation included in net loss      —  
Stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value method      (6,459 ) 
          

Pro forma      (20,672 ) 
          

Basic and Diluted Loss per Share:          
As reported    $ (1.24 ) 
Stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value method      (0.57 ) 
          

Pro forma    $ (1.81 ) 
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through non-binding commitments with minimal lead-times. Consequently, our commercial product revenues can 
fluctuate dramatically from quarter to quarter based on changes in our customers’ capital spending patterns.  
   

Government contract revenues increased to $5.1 million in 2007 from $3.4 million in 2006, an increase of 
$1.7 million, or 52%. This increase is primarily attributable to the addition of new or amended contracts in 2007.  
   

Cost of commercial product revenues includes all direct costs, manufacturing overhead, provision for excess and 
obsolete inventories. The cost of commercial product revenues totaled $12.9 million for 2007 as compared to 
$15.9 million for 2006, a decrease of $3.0 million, or 19%. The lower costs resulted principally from lower 
production as a result of lower sales. There was also no restructuring expenses in 2007 and a lower provision for 
obsolete inventory. Our provision for obsolete inventories totaled $160,000 in 2007 as compared to $360,000 in 
2006.  
   

Our cost of sales includes both variable and fixed cost components. The variable component consists primarily 
of materials, assembly and test labor, overhead, which includes equipment and facility depreciation, transportation 
costs and warranty costs. The fixed component includes test equipment and facility depreciation, purchasing and 
procurement expenses and quality assurance costs. Given the fixed nature of such costs, the absorption of our 
production overhead costs into inventory decreases and the amount of production overhead variances expensed to 
cost of sales increases as production volumes decline since we have fewer units to absorb our overhead costs against. 
Conversely, the absorption of our production overhead costs into inventory increases and the amount of production 
overhead variances expensed to cost of sales decreases as production volumes increase since we have more units to 
absorb our overhead costs against. As a result, our gross profit margins generally decrease as revenue and production 
volumes decline due to lower sales volume and higher amounts of production overhead variances expensed to cost of 
sales; and our gross profit margins generally increase as our revenue and production volumes increase due to higher 
sales volume and lower amounts of production overhead variances expensed to cost of sales. Our inventory is valued 
at the lower of its actual cost or the current estimated market value of the inventory. We review inventory quantities 
on hand and on order and record, on a quarterly basis, a provision for excess and obsolete inventory and/or vendor 
cancellation charges related to purchase commitments. If the results of the review determine that a write-down is 
necessary, we recognizes a loss in the period in which the loss is identified, whether or not the inventory is retained 
or disposed.  
   

The following is an analysis of our commercial product gross profit margins for 2006 and 2007:  
   

   

We had a negative gross margin of $157,000 in 2007 from the sale of our commercial products as compared to a 
positive gross margin of $1.8 million in 2006. We experienced negative gross profits in 2007 primarily because the 
reduced level of commercial sales was insufficient to cover our fixed manufacturing overhead costs. Our gross 
margins were also adversely impacted by a $160,000 charge for excess and obsolete inventory. Gross margins were 
favorably impacted by $195,000 in 2007 and $700,000 in 2006 by the sale of previously written-off inventory. We 
regularly review inventory quantities on hand and provide an allowance for excess and obsolete inventory based on 
numerous factors including sales backlog, historical inventory usage, forecasted product demand and production 
requirements for the next twelve months.  
   

Contract research and development expenses totaled $2.9 million in 2007 as compared to $2.4 million in 2006, 
an increase of $499,000 or 20%. The increase was primarily the result of higher expenses associated with performing 
a greater number of government contracts.  
   

Other research and development expenses relate to development of new wireless commercial products. We also 
incur design expenses associated with reducing the cost and improving the manufacturability of our existing 
products. These expenses totaled $3.2 million in 2007 as compared to $3.5 million in 2006, a decrease of $316,000,  
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    For the Years Ended December 31,   
    2006     2007   
    Dollars in thousands   

  

Net commercial product sales    $ 17,697       100.0 %   $ 12,787       100.0 % 
Cost of commercial product sales      15,922       90 %     12,944       101.2 % 
                                  

Gross profit    $ 1,775       10 %   $ (157 )     (1.2 )% 
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or 9%. The decrease is due to lower expenses associated with commercial products development and the result of our 
cost reduction efforts.  
   

Selling, general and administrative expenses totaled $8.1 million in 2007 as compared to $9.1 million in 2006, a 
decrease of $1.0 million, or 11%. The lower expenses resulted primarily from $610,000 received from a settlement 
agreement with a former director and lower insurance premiums.  
   

In connection with the acquisition of Conductus in December 2002 we recognized $20.1 million of goodwill. At 
July 1, 2006, we concluded that our declining stock price constituted an event under FAS 142 and required us to test 
for goodwill impairment. Our analysis led us to reasonably estimate at that time that our fair market value was less 
than our net assets excluding goodwill. Accordingly, we recorded a full write-down of the goodwill ($20.1 million) 
in the second quarter of 2006. We also recorded an impairment charge of $38,000 related to a note receivable from a 
Board member in 2006.  
   

The following table summarizes our restructuring and impairment charges for 2006 and 2007:  
   

   

Interest income decreased to $156,000 in 2007, as compared to $391,000 in 2006, primarily because of lower 
cash balances in 2007.  
   

Interest expense in 2007 amounted to $39,000, as compared to $45,000 in 2006, as a result of lower borrowing 
levels.  
   

Our loss totaled $9.1 million in 2007 as compared to $29.6 million in 2006.  
   

The net loss available to common shareholders totaled $0.73 per common share in 2007, as compared to $2.37 
per common share in 2006.  

   

2006 Compared to 2005  
   

Net revenues decreased by $3.1 million, or 13%, from $24.2 million in 2005 to $21.1 million in 2006. Net 
revenues consist primarily of commercial product revenues and government contract revenues. We also generate 
some additional revenues from sublicensing our technology.  
   

Net commercial product revenues decreased by $3.4 million, or 16%, to $17.7 million in 2006 from 
$21.1 million in 2005. The decrease is primarily the result of lower sales and lower average sale prices of our 
products. Our three largest customers accounted for 96% of our net commercial revenues in 2006, as compared to 
95% in 2005. These customers generally purchase products through non-binding commitments with minimal lead-
times. Consequently, our commercial product revenues can fluctuate dramatically from quarter to quarter based on 
changes in our customers’ capital spending patterns.  
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    For the Year Ended December 31,   
    Restructuring     Impairment           Restructuring     Impairment         
    Charges for      Charges for      Total for      Charges for      Charges for     Total for   
    2006     2006     2006     2007     2007     2007   

  

Severance costs    $ —    $ —    $ —    $  —    $  —    $  —  
Fixed assets write offs      —      —      —      —      —      —  
Facility consolidation costs      —      —      —      —      —      —  
Employee relocation cost      —      —      —      —      —      —  
Goodwill Write-off      —      20,107,000       20,107,000       —      —      —  
Impairment charge for notes receivable 

from shareholder and board member      —      38,000       38,000       —      —      —  
                                                  

Total      —      20,145,000       20,145,000       —      —      —  
Fixed Asset write off and severance 

costs included in cost of goods sold      —      —      —      —      —      —  
                                                  

Expense included in operating expenses    $ —    $ 20,145,000     $ 20,145,000     $ —    $ —    $ —  
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Government contract revenues increased to $3.4 million in 2006 from $3.1 million in 2005, an increase of 
$254,000, or 8%. This increase is primarily attributable to the addition of new or amended contracts in 2006.  
   

Cost of commercial product revenues includes all direct costs, manufacturing overhead, provision for excess and 
obsolete inventories. The cost of commercial product revenues totaled $15.9 million for 2006 as compared to 
$19.0 million for 2005, a decrease of $3.1 million, or 16%. The lower costs resulted from no restructuring expenses 
in 2006 and a lower provision for obsolete inventory. Restructuring and impairment expenses from severance and 
“fixed assets write off included in cost of goods sold” were zero in 2006 as compared to $109,000 in 2005. Our 
provision for obsolete inventories totaled $360,000 in 2006 as compared to $1.0 million in 2005.  
   

Our cost of sales includes both variable and fixed cost components. The variable component consists primarily 
of materials, assembly and test labor, overhead, which includes equipment and facility depreciation, transportation 
costs and warranty costs. The fixed component includes test equipment and facility depreciation, purchasing and 
procurement expenses and quality assurance costs. Given the fixed nature of such costs, the absorption of our 
production overhead costs into inventory decreases and the amount of production overhead variances expensed to 
cost of sales increases as production volumes decline since we have fewer units to absorb our overhead costs against. 
Conversely, the absorption of our production overhead costs into inventory increases and the amount of production 
overhead variances expensed to cost of sales decreases as production volumes increase since we have more units to 
absorb our overhead costs against. As a result, our gross profit margins generally decrease as revenue and production 
volumes decline due to lower sales volume and higher amounts of production overhead variances expensed to cost of 
sales; and our gross profit margins generally increase as our revenue and production volumes increase due to higher 
sales volume and lower amounts of production overhead variances expensed to cost of sales. Our inventory is valued 
at the lower of its actual cost or the current estimated market value of the inventory. We review inventory quantities 
on hand and on order and record, on a quarterly basis, a provision for excess and obsolete inventory and/or vendor 
cancellation charges related to purchase commitments. If the results of the review determine that a write-down is 
necessary, we recognizes a loss in the period in which the loss is identified, whether or not the inventory is retained 
or disposed.  
   

The following is an analysis of our commercial product gross profit margins for 2005 and 2006:  
   

   

We had a positive gross margin of $1.8 million in 2006 from the sale of our commercial products as compared 
to a positive gross margin of $2.1 million in 2005. The gross margin percentage improved slightly on lower sales 
volumes primarily due to lower restructuring expenses, a lower provision for obsolete inventory and the positive 
results of our cost reduction efforts. Gross margin was also favorably impacted $700,000 by the sale of previously 
written-off inventory. We regularly review inventory quantities on hand and provide an allowance for excess and 
obsolete inventory based on numerous factors including sales backlog, historical inventory usage, forecasted product 
demand and production requirements for the next twelve months.  
   

Contract research and development expenses totaled $2.4 million in 2006 as compared to $2.8 million in 2005, a 
decrease of $399,000 or 14%. The decrease was primarily the result of 2005 expenses totaling $759,000 on a contract 
for which no revenue was recognized. See “ Contractual Contingency ” under the Contractual Guarantees and 
Indemnities Note to the Financial Statements for a description of the non-revenue generating contract.  
   

Other research and development expenses relate to development of new wireless commercial products. We also 
incur design expenses associated with reducing the cost and improving the manufacturability of our existing 
products. These expenses totaled $3.5 million in 2006 as compared to $4.2 million in 2005, a decrease of $726,000, 
or 17%. The decrease is due to lower expenses associated with commercial products development and the result of 
our cost reduction efforts.  
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    For the Years Ended December 31,   
    2005     2006   
    Dollars in thousands   

  

Net commercial product sales    $ 21,080       100.0 %   $ 17,697       100.0 % 
Cost of commercial product sales      18,989       90.1 %     15,922       90 % 
                                  

Gross profit    $ 2,091       9.9 %   $ 1,775       10 % 
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Selling, general and administrative expenses totaled $9.1 million in 2006 as compared to $11.4 million in 2005, 
a decrease of $2.3 million, or 20%. The lower expenses resulted primarily from lower auditor fees, lower insurance 
premiums, lower legal expenses for other matters, no restructuring activities in 2006 and the payment in 2005 of 
retirement benefits for our previous Chief Executive Officer.  
   

We implemented several restructuring programs since 2004. These activities were completed in 2005. In 
connection with the acquisition of Conductus in December 2002 we recognized $20.1 million of goodwill. At July 1, 
2006, we concluded that our declining stock price constituted an event under FAS 142 and required us to test for 
goodwill impairment. Our analysis led us to reasonably estimate at that time that our fair market value was less than 
our net assets excluding goodwill. Accordingly, we recorded a full write-down of the goodwill ($20.1 million) in the 
second quarter. We also recorded an impairment charge of $38,000 related to a note receivable from a Board 
member.  
   

The following table summarizes our restructuring and impairment charges for 2005 and 2006:  
   

   

Interest income increased to $391,000 in 2006, as compared to $342,000 in 2005, primarily because of increased 
interest rates.  
   

Interest expense in 2006 amounted to $45,000, as compared to $116,000 in 2005, as a result of lower borrowing 
levels.  
   

Our loss totaled $29.6 million in 2006 as compared to $14.2 in 2005.  
   

The net loss available to common shareholders totaled $2.37 per common share in 2006, as compared to $1.24 
per common share in 2005.  

   

Liquidity and Capital Resources  
   

Cash Flow Analysis  
   

As of December 31, 2007, we had working capital of $3.3 million, including $3.9 million in cash and cash 
equivalents, as compared to working capital of $10.2 million at December 31, 2006, which included $5.5 million in 
cash and cash equivalents. We currently invest our excess cash in short-term, investment-grade, money-market 
instruments with maturities of three months or less. Our investments have zero exposure to the auction rate securities 
market. We believe that all of our cash investments would be readily available to us should the need arise.  
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    For the Year Ended December 31,   
    Restructuring     Impairment           Restructuring     Impairment         
    Charges for      Charges for     Total for      Charges for      Charges for      Total for    
    2005     2005     2005     2006     2006     2006   

  

Severance costs    $ 178,000     $ —    $ 178,000     $ —    $ —    $ —  
Fixed assets write offs      137,000       —      137,000               —          
Facility consolidation costs      6,000       —      6,000               —          
Employee relocation cost      16,000       —      16,000       —      —          
Goodwill Write-off      —      —      —      —      20,107,000       20,107,000   
Impairment charge for notes 

receivable from shareholder and 
board member      —      969,000       969,000       —      38,000       38,000   

                                                  

Total    $ 337,000     $ 969,000     $ 1,306,000       —      20,145,000       20,145,000   
Fixed Asset write off and severance 

costs included in cost of goods sold     (109,000 )     —      (109,000 )     —      —      —  
                                                  

Expense included in operating 
expenses    $ 228,000     $ 969,000     $ 1,197,000     $ —    $ 20,145,000     $ 20,145,000   
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Cash and cash equivalents decreased by $1.6 million from $5.5 million at December 31, 2006 to $3.9 million at 
December 31, 2007. (In January 2008 we received the remaining $11.0 million from our investment agreement with 
BAOLI. See notes below in Financing Activities and Future Liquidity ). Cash was used principally in operations and 
to a lesser extent for the purchase of property and equipment and for the payment of short and long-term borrowings. 
Cash and cash equivalents decreased by $7.5 million from $13.0 million at December 31, 2005 to $5.5 million at 
December 31, 2006. Cash was used in operations, for the purchase of property and equipment, for the payment of 
short and long-term borrowings. These uses were offset by gross cash proceeds of $12.5 million received from the 
sale of common stock in a public offering during the third quarter of 2005.  
   

Cash used in operations totaled $5.4 million in 2007. We used $9.1 million to fund the cash portion of our net 
loss. We also used cash to fund a $2.1 million increase in accounts payable payments, accounts receivable and 
patents and licenses. These uses were offset by cash generated from lower inventory, lower prepaid and other assets 
totaling $3.0 million. Cash used in operations totaled $7.3 million in 2006. In 2006 we used $6.2 million to fund the 
cash portion of our net loss. We also used cash to fund a $1.8 million increase in inventory and accounts payable 
payments. These uses were offset by cash generated from lower accounts receivables and prepaid balances totaling 
$746,000.  
   

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $165,000 in 2007. In 2007, sales of fixed assets generated $26,000 
and were offset by fixed asset purchases totaling $191,000. Net funds used in investing activities totaled $229,000 in 
2006 and $45,000 in 2005. In 2006 we purchased $229,000 of fixed assets and there were no sales of fixed assets. In 
2005, sales of fixed assets generated $216,000 and essentially offset purchases of property and equipment totaling 
$261,000.  
   

Net cash provided by financing activities totaled $4.0 million in 2007. In 2007, $4.0 million was received from 
BAOLI as an installment toward completion of a $15.0 million financing which was completed in February 2008. 
Cash used to pay long term debt was $14,000 and was offset by $26,000 provided by the exercise of stock options. 
Net cash used in financing activities totaled $19,000 in 2006 and was used to pay long term debt. In 2005 gross cash 
received from the sale of common stock totaled $12.5 million and borrowings against our line of credit totaled 
$662,000, offset by cash used to pay down our line of credit and long term debt of $1.6 million. Cash was also used 
to pay $1.9 million of offering expenses related to the sale of common stock in November 2004 and August 2005.  

   

Financing Activities  
   

We have historically financed our operations through a combination of cash on hand, equipment lease 
financings, available borrowings under bank lines of credit and both private and public equity offerings. We have 
effective registration statements on file with the SEC covering the public resale by investors of all the common stock 
issued in our private placements, as well as any common stock acquired upon exercise of their warrants.  
   

We have an existing line of credit from a bank. It is a material source of funds for our business. The line of 
credit expires in July 2008. The loan agreement is structured as a sale of our accounts receivable and provides for the 
sale of up to $5.0 million of eligible accounts receivable, with advances to us totaling 80% of the receivables sold. 
Advances bear interest at the prime rate (7.25% at December 31, 2007) plus 2.50% subject to a minimum monthly 
charge. Advances are collateralized by a lien on all of our assets. Under the terms of the agreement, we continue to 
service the sold receivables and are subject to recourse provisions. There was no amount outstanding under this 
borrowing facility at December 31, 2007.  
   

In 2007 and 2006, we did not complete a financing transaction. However, on August 17, 2007, we entered into 
the previously noted investment agreement with BAOLI and on February 27, 2008, the transactions contemplated by 
this investment agreement closed and in exchange for $15.0 million in cash we issued to BAOLI and two related 
purchasers a total of (a) 3,101,361 shares of our common stock and (b) 611,523 shares of our Series A Preferred 
Stock (convertible under certain conditions into 6,115,230 shares of our common stock).  
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Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments  
   

We incur various contractual obligations and commercial commitments in our normal course of business. They 
consist of the following:  
   

   

Our operating lease obligations consist of a facility lease in Santa Barbara, California and several copier leases.  
   

   

We have entered into various licensing agreements requiring royalty payments ranging from 0.13% to 2.5% of 
specified product sales. Some of these agreements contain provisions for the payment of guaranteed or minimum 
royalty amounts. Typically, the licensor can terminate our license if we fail to pay minimum annual royalties.  
   

   

In the normal course of business, we incur purchase obligations with vendors and suppliers for the purchase of 
inventory, as well as other goods and services. These obligations are generally evidenced by purchase orders that 
contain the terms and conditions associated with the purchase arrangements. We are committed to accept delivery of 
such material pursuant to the purchase orders subject to various contract provisions which allow us to delay receipt of 
such orders or cancel orders beyond certain agreed upon lead times. Cancellations may result in cancellation costs 
payable by us.  
   

   

At December 31, 2007, we had the following contractual obligations and commercial commitments:  
   

   

Capital Expenditures  
   

We plan to invest approximately $700,000 in fixed assets during 2008.  

   

Future Liquidity  
   

Our principal sources of liquidity consist of existing cash balances and funds expected to be generated from 
future operations. We believe one of the key factors to our liquidity will be our ability to successfully execute on our 
plans to increase sales levels in a highly concentrated industry where we experience significant fluctuations in sales 
from quarter to quarter. Our cash requirements will also depend on numerous other variable factors, including the 
rate of growth of sales, the timing and levels of products purchased, payment terms and credit limits from 
manufacturers, and the timing and level of accounts receivable collections.  
   

In 2007, we incurred a net loss of $9.1 million and had negative cash flows from operations of $5.4 million. In 
2006, we incurred a net loss of $29.6 million and had negative cash flows from operations of $7.3 million. Our 
independent registered public accounting firm has included in their audit report for fiscal 2007 and 2006 an 
explanatory paragraph expressing doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. Our prior independent 
registered public accounting firm included a similar explanatory paragraph in their audit report for 2005.  
   

At December 31, 2007 we had $3.9 million in cash and in January 2008 we received the remaining $11.0 million 
from our previously noted investment agreement with BAOLI whereby in exchange for $15.0 million  

 
32  

  •  Operating Lease Obligations 

  •  Patents and Licenses 

  •  Purchase Commitments 

  •  Quantitative Summary of Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments 

                                          

    Payments Due by Period   
          Less than                  After    
Contractual Obligations   Total     1 year     2-3 years     4-5 years     5 years   
  

Operating leases      5,870,000       1,425,000       2,999,000       1,445,000       1,000   
Minimum license commitment      1,800,000       150,000       300,000       300,000       1,050,000   
Fixed asset and inventory purchase 

commitments      3,184,000       3,184,000       —      —      —  
                                          

Total contractual cash obligations    $ 10,854,000     $ 4,759,000     $ 3,299,000     $ 1,745,000     $ 1,051,000   
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in cash we issued to BAOLI and two related purchasers a total of (a) 3,101,361 shares of our common stock and 
(b) 611,523 shares of our Series A Preferred Stock (convertible under certain conditions into 6,115,230 shares of our 
common stock). If actual cash flows deviate significantly from forecasted amounts or if we believe operations require 
additional funding we cannot assure you that additional financing will be available on acceptable terms or at all.  

   

Net Operating Loss Carryforward  
   

As of December 31, 2007, we had net operating loss carryforwards for federal and state income tax purposes of 
approximately $285.1 million and $154.7 million , respectively, which expire in the years 2008 through 2027. Of 
these amounts $88.3 million and $23.5 million, respectively, resulted from the acquisition of Conductus. Included in 
the net operating loss carryforwards are deductions related to stock options of approximately $24.1 million and 
$13.1 million for federal and California income tax purposes, respectively. To the extent net operating loss 
carryforwards are recognized for accounting purposes the resulting benefits related to the stock options will be 
credited to stockholders’ equity. In addition, we had research and development and other tax credits for federal and 
state income tax purposes of approximately $2.7 million and $1.3 million, respectively, which expire in the years 
2008 through 2027. Of these amounts $661,000 and $736,000, respectively resulted from the acquisition of 
Conductus.  
   

Due to the uncertainty surrounding their realization, we have recorded a full valuation allowance against our net 
deferred tax assets. Accordingly, no deferred tax asset has been recorded in the accompanying balance sheet.  
   

Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code imposes an annual limitation on the utilization of net operating loss 
carryforwards based on a statutory rate of return (usually the “applicable federal funds rate”, as defined in the 
Internal Revenue Code) and the value of the corporation at the time of a “change of ownership” as defined by 
Section 382. We had changes in ownership in August 1999 and December 2002. Therefore, the ability to utilize net 
operating loss carryforwards of $97.3 million incurred prior to the ownership changes will be subject in future 
periods to an annual limitation of $1.3 million. In addition, we acquired the right to Conductus’ net operating losses, 
which are also subject to the limitations imposed by Section 382. Conductus underwent three ownership changes, 
which occurred in February 1999, February 2001 and December 2002. Therefore, the ability to utilize Conductus’ net 
operating loss carryforwards of $88.3 million incurred prior to the ownership changes will be subject in future 
periods to annual limitation of $700,000. Net operating losses incurred by us subsequent to the ownership changes 
totaled $99.5 million and are not subject to this limitation. We are currently evaluating the potential limitations on 
our ability to utilize our net operating loss carryforwards as a result of the recent investment by BAOLI.  

   

Future Accounting Requirements  
   

In February 2008, the FASB issued FSP 157-2 “Partial Deferral of the Effective Date of Statement 157” 
(FSP 157-2). FSP 157-2 delays the effective date of SFAS No. 157, for all non-financial assets and non-financial 
liabilities, except those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis 
(at least annually) to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008. We are currently assessing the impact of 
SFAS No. 157 for non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities on our consolidated financial position and results 
of operations. We do not expect that the implementation of this standard, for financial assets and financial liabilities, 
will have a material impact on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.  
   

In December 2007 the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141 (revised 2007), 
“Business Combinations” (FAS 141(R) and No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, 
an amendment of ARB No. 51 (FAS 160)”. FAS 141(R) will change how business acquisitions are accounted for and 
FAS 160 will change the accounting and reporting for minority interests, which will be recharacterized as 
noncontrolling interests and classified as a component of equity. FAS 141(R) and FAS 160 are effective for fiscal 
years beginning on or after December 15, 2008 (January 1, 2009 for the Company). The adoption of FAS 141(R) and 
FAS 160 are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.  
   

In June 2007 the FASB ratified EITF No. 07-3, or EITF 07-3, Accounting for Nonrefundable Advance Payments 
for Goods or Services to Be Used in Future Research and Development Activities . EITF 07-3 requires non-
refundable advance payments for goods and services to be used in future research and development activities to  
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be recorded as an asset and the payments to be expensed when the research and development activities are 
performed. EITF 07-3 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007. We are currently evaluating 
the impact of adopting EITF 07-3 on our results of operations and financial condition.  
   

In June 2007, the FASB ratified EITF 06-11 “Accounting for the Income Tax Benefits of Dividends on Share-
Based Payment Awards” (“EITF 06-11”). EITF 06-11 provides that tax benefits associated with dividends on share-
based payment awards be recorded as a component of additional paid-in capital. EITF 06-11 is effective, on a 
prospective basis, for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007. We are currently assessing the impact of 
EITF 06-11 on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.  
   

In May 2007, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) FIN 48-1 “Definition of Settlement in FASB 
Interpretation No. 48” (FSP FIN 48-1). FSP FIN 48-1 provides guidance on how to determine whether a tax position 
is effectively settled for the purpose of recognizing previously unrecognized tax benefits. FSP FIN 48-1 is effective 
retroactively to January 1, 2007. The implementation of this standard did not have a material impact on our 
consolidated financial position or results of operations.  
   

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159 “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities” (SFAS No. 159). SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial assets and financial 
liabilities at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected are 
reported in earnings. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We do not 
expect that the implementation of this standard will have a material impact on our consolidated financial position and 
results of operations.  

   

Market Risk  
   

We are exposed to various market risks, including changes in interest rates. Market risk is the potential loss 
arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices. We do not enter into derivatives or other financial 
instruments for trading or speculation purposes. Our money market investments have zero exposure to the auction 
rate securities market.  
   

At December 31, 2007, we had approximately $3.7 million invested in a money market account yielding 
approximately 4.63%. Assuming a 1% decrease in the yield on this money market account and no liquidation of 
principal for the year, our total interest income would decrease by approximately $37,000 per annum. Also, at 
December 31, 2007, we had no amounts outstanding under a $5.0 million bank borrowing arrangement bearing 
interest at the prime rate (7.25% at December 31, 2007) plus 2.50%. Assuming a 1% increase in the prime rate 
interest and that the entire line was used for the entire year, interest expense would increase approximately $40,000 
per annum.  

   

Inflation  
   

We do not foresee any material impact on our operations from inflation.  

   

ITEM 7A.   QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK  
   

See “ Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Market 
Risk .”  

   

   

All information required by this item is listed in the Index to Financial Statements in Part IV, Item 15(a)1.  

   

   

Not applicable.  
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CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND 
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 
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Controls and Procedures  
   

We have established disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to us and our 
consolidated subsidiaries is made known to the officers who certify the Company’s financial reports, as well as other 
members of senior management and the Board of Directors, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. 
As of the end of the period covered by this report we carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the 
participation of our management, including the our Chief Executive Officer and Controller (“Principal Financial 
Officer”), of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to 
Rule 13a-15 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer 
and Controller concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective in timely alerting them to material 
information related to us that is required to be included in our annual and periodic SEC filings.  
   

There were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of the year 
ended December 31, 2007 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal 
controls over financial reporting.  
   

We do not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal controls will prevent all error and 
all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, 
assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the 
fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because 
of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all 
control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected.  

   

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
   

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over our financial 
reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Our management 
assessed the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007. In making its 
assessment of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting, our management used the criteria set 
forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework. Based on these criteria, our management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2007, our 
internal controls over financial reporting are effective. This annual report does not include an attestation report of our 
independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Management’s 
report was not subject to attestation by our independent registered public accounting firm pursuant to temporary rules 
of the SEC that permit the company to provide only management’s report in this annual report.  

   

ITEM 9B.   OTHER INFORMATION  
   

We disclosed all the information required to be disclosed pursuant to Form 8-K during the fourth quarter of 
2007.  

   

PART III  

   

   

Information regarding our executive officers and directors is incorporated by reference to the information set 
forth under the caption “ Directors and Executive Officers ” in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders to be filed with the Commission within 120 days after the end of our year ended December 31, 2007.  
   

We have a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for all of our employees, including our Chief Executive 
Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer. The purpose of the code is to ensure that our 
business is conducted in a consistently legal and ethical matter. We have posted the text of the code on our website at 
www.suptech.com. We will post any material amendments or waivers to the code on our website. We will provide a  

 
35  

ITEM 9A.    CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

ITEM 10. 
   

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 



   

copy of our code free of charge to any person upon request by writing to us at the following address: Superconductor 
Technologies Inc., 460 Ward Drive, Santa Barbara, California 93111-2310, Attn: Corporate Secretary.  

   

   

Information regarding executive compensation is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the 
caption “ Executive Compensation ” in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with 
the Commission within 120 days after the end of our year ended December 31, 2007.  

   

   

Information regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is incorporated by 
reference to the information set forth under the caption “Voting Securities and Principal Shareholders — Security 
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders to be filed with the Commission within 120 days after the end of our year ended December 31, 2007.  

   

   

Information regarding certain relationships and related transactions is incorporated by reference to the 
information set forth under the caption “Transactions With Related Persons” and “Corporate Governance — 
Director Independence” in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the 
Commission within 120 days after the end of our year ended December 31, 2007.  

   

   

Information regarding accounting fees and disclosures is incorporated by reference to the information set forth 
under the caption “Fees Paid to Independent Auditors” in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders to be filed with the Commission within 120 days after the end of our year ended December 31, 2007.  

   

PART IV  

   

   

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Report:  
   

1.  Index to Financial Statements .  Our financial statements and the Reports of Stonefield Josephson, Inc., 
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, our former Independent 
Registered Public Accounting Firm , are included in Part IV of this Report on the pages indicated:  

   

   

2.  Financial Statement Schedule Covered by the Foregoing Report of Independent Registered Public 
Accounting Firms .  
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ITEM 11. 
   

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

ITEM 12. 
   

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND 
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 

ITEM 13. 
   

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR 
INDEPENDENCE 

ITEM 14. 
   

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND DISCLOSURES 

ITEM 15. 
   

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

          

    Page 
  

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms      F-1   
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2007      F-3   
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007      F-4   
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’  Equity for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007      F-5   
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007      F-6   
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements      F-7   



   

   

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in 
the financial statements or the notes thereto.  

   

3.  Exhibits  
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Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts      F-29   

          

Number   Description of Document 
  

  3 .1   Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the registrant(1) 
  3 .2   Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation(2) 
  3 .3   Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation(3) 
  3 .4   Certificate of Designations of the Registrant relating to the Series A Preferred Stock(26) 
  3 .5   Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant(4) 
  4 .1   Form of Common Stock Certificate(5) 
  4 .2   Third Amended and Restated Stockholders Rights Agreement(6) 
  4 .3   Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock dated March 28, 2003, issued to Silicon Valley Bank(8) 
  4 .4   Form of Warrant(9) 
  4 .5   Form of Registration Rights Agreement(9) 
  4 .6   Silicon Valley Bank Warrant dated May 2004(10) 
  4 .7   Form of Warrant dated August 2005(11) 
  10 .1   Amended and Restated 1988 Stock Option Plan, as amended, with form of stock option agreement(12) 
  10 .2   1999 Stock Option Agreement(7)*** 
  10 .3   1998 Stock Option Plan (13)*** 
  10 .4(a)   Form of Change of Control Agreement dated March 28, 2003 (14)*** 
  10 .4(b)   Form of Amendment to Change of Control Agreement dated as of May 24, 2005 (12)*** 
  10 .4(c)   Form of Amendment to Change of Control Agreement dated as of December 31, 2006 (23)*** 
  10 .5(a) 

  
Accounts Receivable Purchase Agreement dated March 28, 2003 by and between Registrant and Silicon 
Valley Bank(14) 

  10 .5(b) 
  
Accounts Receivable Purchase Modification Agreement with Silicon Valley Bank dated March 17, 2004
(15) 

  10 .5(c) 
  
Accounts Receivable Purchase Modification Agreement with Silicon Valley Bank dated March 29, 2005
(16) 

  10 .6   Unconditional Guaranty dated March 27, 2003 issued by Conductus, Inc. to Silicon Valley Bank(14) 
  10 .7   Patent License Agreement between Telcordia Technologies, Inc. and Registrant dated July 13, 2002(14) 
  10 .8(a)   Securities Purchase Agreement dated June 23, 2003(17) 
  10 .8(b)   Form of Investor Warrant(17) 
  10 .9   Form of Registration Rights Agreement(17) 
  10 .10   Patent License Agreement by and between Lucent Technologies and the registrant**(18) 
  10 .11   License Agreement with Sunpower**(23) 
  10 .12(a)   Employment Agreement with Jeffrey Quiram (20)*** 
  10 .12(b)   Option Agreement with Jeffrey Quiram (20)*** 
  10 .12(c)   Amendment to Employment Agreement with Jeffrey Quiram dated as of December 31, 2006 (24)*** 
  10 .13(a)   2003 Equity Management Incentive Plan (as amended May 25, 2005)(4)*** 
  10 .13(b)   Form of Option Agreement for 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (20)*** 
  10 .13(c)   Management Incentive Plan (22)*** 
  10 .14(a)   Employment Agreement with Terry White (23)*** 
  10 .14(b)   Amendment to Employment Agreement with Terry White dated as of December 31, 2006 (24)*** 
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Number   Description of Document 
  

  10 .15   Compensation Policy for Non-Employee Directors dated March 18, 2005 (23)*** 
  10 .15   Stipulation of Settlement to Class Action dated August 10, 2005(23) 
  10 .16(a)   Placement Agency Agreement for August 2005(11) 
  10 .16(b)   Form of Subscription Agreement for August 2005 offering(22) 
  10 .17   Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreement(21) 
  10 .18   Code of Business Conduct and Ethics(21) 
  10 .19   Master Services Agreement dated as of September 8, 2006 with Cingular Wireless, LLC(24) 
  10 .20   August 17, 2007 investment agreement with Hunchun BaoLi Communication Co. Ltd. (“BAOLI ” )(25) 
  10 .21   November 9, 2007 first amendment to investment agreement with BAOLI* 
  10 .22   January 8, 2008 second amendment to investment agreement with BAOLI* 
  10 .23   November 8, 2007 Framework Agreement with BAOLI* 
  10 .24 

  
December 8, 2007 Sino-Foreign Equity Joint Venture between the Registrant and BAOLI (Exhibit A to 
Framework Agreement with BAOLI)* 

  10 .25 
  
Form of License Agreement between the Registrant and BAOLI (Exhibit B to Framework Agreement 
with BAOLI)* 

  21     List of Subsidiaries* 
  23 .1   Consent of Stonefield Josephson Inc, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm* 
  23 .2   Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm* 
  31 .1   Statement of CEO Pursuant to 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002* 
  31 .2   Statement of CFO Pursuant to 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002* 
  32 .1   Statement of CEO Pursuant to 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002* 
  32 .2   Statement of CFO Pursuant to 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002* 

(1) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed for the quarter ended 
April 3, 1999. 

  

(2) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed for the quarter ended 
June 30, 2001. 

  

(3) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Form 8-K dated March 13, 2006. 
  

(4) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Form 8-K dated May 25, 2005. 
  

(5) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 33-56714). 
  

(6) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed for the quarter ended 
July 3, 1999. 

  

(7) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No. 333-90293). 
  

(8) Incorporate by reference from Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 29, 
2003. 

  

(9) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 25, 2003. 
  

(10) Incorporated by reference from Registrants’  Registration Statement of Form S-3 (Reg. 333-89184). 
  

(11) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Form 8-K dated August 10, 2005. 
  

(12) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed for the year ended 
December 31, 1994. 

  

(13) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Reg. 
No. 333-56606) filed March 6, 2001. 

  

(14) Incorporate by reference from Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 29, 
2003. 
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(b)  Exhibits .  See Item 15(a) above.  
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(15) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 3, 
2004. 

  

(16) Incorporated by reference from Registrants’  Form 8-K dated March 29, 2005. 
  

(17) Incorporated by reference from Registrants’  Form 8-K dated June 25, 2003. 
  

(18) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2003. 

  

(19) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended October 2, 
2004. 

  

(20) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2004. 

  

(21) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2005 

  

(22) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Form 8-K dated July 27, 2006. 
  

(23) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 2, 
2005. 

  

(24) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2006. 

  

(25) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 29, 2007. 

  

(26) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K/A dated February 25, 2008. 
  

*  Filed herewith. 
  

** Confidential treatment has been previously granted for certain portions of these exhibits. 
  

*** This exhibit is a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

   

To: The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Superconductor Technologies, Inc.  
Santa Barbara, California  
   

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Superconductor Technologies, Inc. and 
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ 
equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2007. Our audits also included the 
consolidated financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a)(2) as of and for the years ended 
December 31, 2007 and 2006. These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our 
audits.  
   

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over 
financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that 
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
   

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Superconductor Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of 
its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2007 in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the related 
consolidated financial statement schedules as of and for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, when 
considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the 
information set forth therein.  
   

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America, which contemplate continuation of the company as a going concern. As 
discussed in Note 2, the Company has incurred significant net losses since its inception and has an accumulated 
deficit of $199,985,000 and expects to incur substantial additional losses and costs. The foregoing matters raise 
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these 
matters are described in Note 2 of the accompanying financial statements. These financial statements do not include 
any adjustments that might result from the outcome of these uncertainties.  

   

/s/   STONEFIELD JOSEPHSON, INC.  

   

Los Angeles, California  
March 27, 2008  
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To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of  
Superconductor Technologies Inc.  
   

In our opinion, the consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the year ended 
December 31, 2005 present fairly, in all material respects, the results of operations and cash flows of Superconductor 
Technologies Inc. and its subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement 
schedule for the year ended December 31, 2005 presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth 
therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. These financial statements and 
financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audit. We conducted our audit of 
these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe 
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
   

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will 
continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has had 
recurring losses and used $9.4 million in cash for operations in 2005. These matters raise a substantial doubt about 
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also 
described in Note 2. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the 
outcome of this uncertainty.  

   

/s/   PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP  

   

Los Angeles, California  
March 3, 2006, except for effects of  
the reverse stock split discussed in Note 2,  
as to which the date is March 13, 2006  
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SUPERCONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES INC.  
   

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

   

   

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements  
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    December 31,      December 31,    
    2006     2007   

  

ASSETS  
Current Assets:                  

Cash and cash equivalents    $ 5,487,000     $ 3,939,000   
Accounts receivable, net      1,535,000       2,413,000   
Inventory, net      5,978,000       3,415,000   
Prepaid expenses and other current assets      507,000       442,000   

                  

Total Current Assets      13,507,000       10,209,000   
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $18,599,000 and 

$19,129,000, respectively      5,770,000       3,961,000   
Patents, licenses and purchased technology, net of accumulated amortization of 

$1,391,000 and $1,722,000, respectively      2,409,000       2,236,000   
Other assets      218,000       219,000   

                  

Total Assets    $ 21,904,000     $ 16,625,000   
                  

  
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ’  EQUITY  

Current Liabilities :                  
Accounts payable    $ 1,725,000     $ 1,467,000   
Accrued expenses      1,610,000       1,405,000   
Proceeds for shares to be issued      —      4,000,000   
Current portion of capitalized lease obligations and long term debt      14,000       45,000   

                  

Total Current Liabilities      3,349,000       6,917,000   
Other long term liabilities      604,000       518,000   

                  

Total Liabilities      3,953,000       7,435,000   
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 9, 10 and 11)                  
Stockholders’ Equity:                  

Preferred stock, $.001 par value, 2,000,000 shares authorized, none issued and 
outstanding      —      —  

Common stock, $.001 par value, 250,000,000 shares authorized, 12,483,367 
and 12,511,414 shares issued and outstanding, respectively      12,000       12,000   

Capital in excess of par value      208,825,000       209,163,000   
Notes receivable from stockholder and board member      (27,000 )     —  
Accumulated deficit      (190,859,000 )     (199,985,000 ) 

                  

Total Stockholders’  Equity      17,951,000       9,190,000   
                  

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’  Equity    $ 21,904,000     $ 16,625,000   
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SUPERCONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES INC.  
   

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS  

   

   

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements  
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    For the Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2006     2007   

  

Net revenues:                          
Net commercial product revenues    $ 21,080,000     $ 17,697,000     $ 12,787,000   
Government and other contract revenues      3,107,000       3,361,000       5,115,000   
Sub license royalties      22,000       20,000       —  

                          

Total net revenues      24,209,000       21,078,000       17,902,000   
Costs and expenses:                          

Cost of commercial product revenues      18,989,000       15,922,000       12,944,000   
Contract research and development      2,806,000       2,407,000       2,906,000   
Other research and development      4,214,000       3,488,000       3,172,000   
Selling, general and administrative      11,442,000       9,086,000       8,123,000   
Restructuring expenses and impairment charges      1,197,000       38,000       —  
Write off Goodwill      —      20,107,000       —  

                          

Total costs and expenses      38,648,000       51,048,000       27,145,000   
                          

Loss from operations      (14,439,000 )     (29,970,000 )     (9,243,000 ) 
Interest income      342,000       391,000       156,000   
Interest expense      (116,000 )     (45,000 )     (39,000 ) 

                          

Net loss    $ (14,213,000 )   $ (29,624,000 )   $ (9,126,000 ) 
                          

Basic and diluted net loss per common share    $ (1.24 )   $ (2.37 )   $ (0.73 ) 
                          

Basic and diluted weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding      11,418,504       12,483,367       12,487,593   
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SUPERCONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES INC.  
   

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

   

   

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.  
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    Convertible                  Capital in      Receivable                
    Preferred Stock     Common Stock     Excess of      From      Accumulated          
    Shares     Amount     Shares     Amount     Par Value     Stockholder     Deficit     Total   

  

Balance at December 31, 2004      —      —      10,771,103     $ 11,000     $ 197,080,000     $ (820,000 )   $ (147,022,000 )   $ 49,249,000   
Exercise of stock options Issuance of common 

stock                      1,712,329       1,000       11,440,000                       11,441,000   
Issuance of options and warrants                                      25,000                       25,000   
Reserve for impairment                                              755,000               755,000   
Net loss                                                      (14,213,000 )     (14,213,000 ) 
                                                                  

Balance at December 31, 2005      —      —      12,483,431       12,000       208,545,000       (65,000 )     (161,235,000 )     47,257,000   
Issuance of common stock and warrants                      (64 )                                         
Issuance of options                                      280,000                       280,000   
Reserve for impairment                                              38,000               38,000   
Net loss                                                      (29,624,000 )     (29,624,000 ) 
                                                                  

Balance at December 31, 2006      —      —      12,483,367       12,000       208,825,000       (27,000 )     (190,859,000 )     17,951,000   
Exercise of stock options                      3,350               26,000                       26,000   
Issuance of common stock                                      (27,000 )                     (27,000 ) 
Issuance of options and warrants                      24,697               339,000                       339,000   
Reserve for impairment                                              27,000               27,000   
Net loss                                                      (9,126,000 )     (9,126,000 ) 
                                                                  

Balance at December 31, 2007      —      —      12,511,414     $ 12,000     $ 209,163,000     $ —    $ (199,985,000 )   $ 9,190,000   
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SUPERCONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES INC.  
   

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  

   

   

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.  
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    For the Year Ended December 31   
    2005     2006     2007   

  

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:                          
Net loss    $ (14,213,000 )   $ (29,624,000 )   $ (9,126,000 ) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used for operating 

activities:                          
Depreciation and amortization      3,225,000       2,600,000       2,333,000   
Warrants and options charges      25,000       280,000       339,000   
Provision for excess and obsolete inventories      984,000       360,000       160,000   
Forgiveness of note receivable from former CEO      150,000       —      —  
Reserve for impairment of note and interest receivable from 

stockholder      924,000       38,000       (583,000 ) 
Write off Goodwill      —      20,107,000       —  
Gain on disposal of property and equipment      (138,000 )     —      —  
Changes in assets and liabilities:                          

Accounts receivable      (732,000 )     631,000       (877,000 ) 
Inventory      2,979,000       (974,000 )     2,403,000   
Prepaid expenses and other current assets      112,000       115,000       574,000   
Patents and licenses      (154,000 )     (217,000 )     (169,000 ) 
Other assets      (23,000 )     128,000       16,000   
Accounts payable and accrued expenses      (2,543,000 )     (727,000 )     (465,000 ) 

                          

Net cash used in operating activities      (9,404,000 )     (7,283,000 )     (5,395,000 ) 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:                          
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment      216,000       —      26,000   
Purchase of property and equipment      (261,000 )     (229,000 )     (191,000 ) 
                          

Net cash used in investing activities      (45,000 )     (229,000 )     (165,000 ) 
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:                          
Proceeds from Shares to be issued      —      —      4,000,000   
Proceeds from short-term borrowings      662,000       —      —  
Payments on short-term borrowings      (1,600,000 )     —      —  
Payments on long-term obligations      (43,000 )     (19,000 )     (14,000 ) 
Gross proceeds from sale of common stock and exercise of warrants 

and options      12,500,000       —      26,000   
Payment of common stock issuance costs      (1,854,000 )     —      —  
                          

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities      9,665,000       (19,000 )     4,012,000   
                          

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents      216,000       (7,531,000 )     (1,548,000 ) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year      12,802,000       13,018,000       5,487,000   
                          

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year    $ 13,018,000     $ 5,487,000     $ 3,939,000   
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Superconductor Technologies Inc. (together with our subsidiaries, “we” or “us”) was incorporated in Delaware 
on May 11, 1987 and maintains its headquarters in Santa Barbara, California. We operate in a single industry 
segment, the research, development, manufacture and marketing of high-performance infrastructure products for 
wireless voice and data applications. Our commercial products are divided into three product offerings: SuperLink 
(high-temperature superconducting filters), AmpLink (high performance, ground-mounted amplifiers) and SuperPlex 
(high performance multiplexers). Our research and development contracts are used as a source of funds for our 
commercial technology development. From 1987 to 1997, we were engaged primarily in research and development 
and generated revenues primarily from government research contracts.  
   

We continue to be involved as either contractor or subcontractor on a number of contracts with the United States 
government. These contracts have been and continue to provide a significant source of revenues for us. For the years 
ended December 31, 2005, 2006, and 2007, government related contracts account for 13%, 16% and 29%, 
respectively, of our net revenues.  

   

   

Basis of Presentation  
   

Our financial statements have been prepared assuming that it will continue as a going concern.  
   

In 2007, we incurred a net loss of $9.1 million and negative cash flows from operations of $5.4 million. In 2006 
and 2005 we incurred net losses of $29.6 million and $14.2 million, respectively, and negative cash flows from 
operations of $7.3 million and $9.4 million, respectively.  
   

Our principal sources of liquidity consist of existing cash balances and funds expected to be generated from 
future operations. On August 17, 2007, we entered into an agreement with Hunchun BaoLi Communication Co. Ltd. 
(“BAOLI”). On February 27, 2008, the transactions contemplated by our investment agreement with BAOLI closed 
and in exchange for $15.0 million in cash we issued to BAOLI and two related purchasers a total of 
(a) 3,101,360 shares of our common stock and (b) 611,523 shares of our Series A Preferred Stock (convertible into 
6,115,230 shares of our common stock).  
   

We believe one of the key factors to our liquidity beyond 2008 will be our intention to successfully execute on 
our plans to increase sales levels. Our cash requirements will also depend on numerous other variable factors, 
including the rate of growth of sales, the timing and levels of products purchased, payment terms and credit limits 
from manufacturers, the timing and level of accounts receivable collections and the timing and levels of new product 
development.  
   

There is no assurance that additional financing (public or private) will be available on acceptable terms or at all. 
If we issue additional equity securities to raise funds, the ownership percentage of our existing stockholders would be 
reduced. New investors may demand rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of existing holders of common 
stock. If we cannot raise any needed funds, it might be forced to make further substantial reductions in our operating 
expenses, which could adversely affect our ability to implement our current business plan and ultimately our viability 
as a company.  
   

The factors described above raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. These 
financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from this uncertainty.  

   

Principles of Consolidation  
   

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Superconductor Technologies Inc. and its wholly 
owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated from the consolidated financial 
statements.  
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Cash and Cash Equivalents  
   

Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. 
Cash and cash equivalents are maintained with quality financial institutions and from time to time exceed FDIC 
limits. Historically, we have not experienced any losses due to such concentration of credit risk.  

   

Accounts Receivable  
   

We sell predominantly to entities in the wireless communications industry and to entities of the United States 
government. We grant uncollateralized credit to our customers. We perform usual and customary credit evaluations 
of our customers before granting credit. Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not 
bear interest. The allowance for doubtful accounts is our best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in our 
existing accounts receivable. We determine the allowance based on historical write-off experience. Past due balances 
are reviewed for collectibility. Accounts balances are charged off against the allowance when we deem it is probable 
the receivable will not be recovered. We do not have any off balance sheet credit exposure related to our customers.  

   

Revenue Recognition  
   

Commercial revenues are principally derived from the sale of our SuperLink, AmpLink and SuperPlex family of 
products and are recognized once all of the following conditions have been met: a) an authorized purchase order has 
been received in writing, b) customer’s credit worthiness has been established, c) shipment of the product has 
occurred, d) title has transferred, and e) if stipulated by the contract, customer acceptance has occurred and all 
significant vendor obligations, if any, have been satisfied.  
   

Contract revenues are principally generated under research and development contracts. If the current contract 
estimate were to indicate a loss, utilizing the funded amount of the contract, a provision would be made for the total 
anticipated loss. Revenues from research related activities are derived primarily from contracts with agencies of the 
United States Government. Credit risk related to accounts receivable arising from such contracts is considered 
minimal. These contracts include cost-plus, fixed price and cost sharing arrangements and are generally short-term in 
nature.  
   

All payments to us for work performed on contracts with agencies of the U.S. Government are subject to 
adjustment upon audit by the Defense Contract Audit Agency. Contract audits through 2003 are closed. Based on 
historical experience and review of current projects in process, we believe that the audits will not have a significant 
effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.  

   

Gross versus Net Presentation  
   

In accordance with EITF 06-03 “How Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitted to Governmental 
Authorities should be Presented in the Income Statement (Gross versus Net Presentation”, the Company collects 
sales tax on its sales to customers. These sales taxes are accounted for by the Company on a net basis and excluded 
from revenue. These amounts are included in both accounts receivable and accrued expenses.  

   

Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs  
   

Shipping and handling fees billed to customers are included in net commercial product revenues. Shipping and 
handling fees associated with freight are generally included in cost of commercial product revenues.  

   

Warranties  
   

We offer warranties generally ranging from one to five years, depending on the product and negotiated terms of 
purchase agreements with our customers. Such warranties require us to repair or replace defective product returned  
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to us during such warranty period at no cost to the customer. Our estimate for warranty related costs is recorded at 
the time of sale based on our actual historical product return rates and expected repair costs. Such costs have been 
within our expectations.  

   

Guarantees  
   

In connection with the sales and manufacturing of our commercial products, we indemnify, without limit or 
term, our customers and contract manufactures against all claims, suits, demands, damages, liabilities, expenses, 
judgments, settlements and penalties arising from actual or alleged infringement or misappropriation of any 
intellectual property relating to our products or other claims arising from our products. We cannot reasonably 
develop an estimate of the maximum potential amount of payments that might be made under our guarantee because 
of the uncertainty as to whether a claim might arise and how much it might total. Historically, we have not incurred 
any expenses related to these guarantees.  

   

Research and Development Costs  
   

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred and include salary, facility, depreciation and material 
expenses. Research and development costs incurred solely in connection with research and development contracts are 
charged to contract research and development expense. Other research and development costs are charged to other 
research and development expense.  

   

Inventories  
   

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, with costs primarily determined using standard costs, which 
approximate actual costs utilizing the first-in, first-out method. We review inventory quantities on hand and on order 
and record, on a quarterly basis, a provision for excess and obsolete inventory and/or vendor cancellation charges 
related to purchase commitments. If the results of the review determine that a write-down is necessary, we recognize 
a loss in the period in which the loss is identified, whether or not the inventory is retained or disposed. Our inventory 
reserves establish a new cost basis for inventory and are not reversed until the related inventory is sold or otherwise 
disposed. Such provisions are established based on historical usage, adjusted for known changes in demands for such 
products, or the estimated forecast of product demand and production requirements. Costs associated with idle 
capacity are expensed immediately.  

   

Property and Equipment  
   

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Equipment is depreciated using the straight-line method over their 
estimated useful lives ranging from three to five years. Leasehold improvements and assets financed under capital 
leases are amortized over the shorter of their useful lives or the lease term. Furniture and fixtures are depreciated over 
seven years. Expenditures for additions and major improvements are capitalized. Expenditures for minor tooling, 
repairs and maintenance and minor improvements are charged to expense as incurred. When property or equipment is 
retired or otherwise disposed of, the related cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts. Gains 
or losses from retirements and disposals are recorded in selling, general and administration expenses. In 2007, we 
disposed of $1.3 million of older, fully depreciated equipment. There was no gain or loss on said disposition.  

   

Patents, Licenses and Purchased Technology  
   

Patents and licenses are recorded at cost and are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of 
their estimated useful lives or approximately seventeen years. Purchased technology acquired through the acquisition 
of Conductus, Inc. in 2002 was recorded at its estimated fair value and is amortized using the straight-line method 
over seven years.  
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Goodwill  
   

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over fair value of net assets acquired in connection with the 
acquisition of Conductus in December 2002. Conductus was acquired primarily for the synergies the acquisition 
would bring to our existing business of developing, manufacturing and marketing products for the commercial 
wireless telecommunications business and for the synergies it would have on our fund raising abilities.  
   

At July 2006, our market capitalization had declined to $25.5 million, an amount less than our total book value. 
We concluded that our declining stock price constituted an event under FAS 142 and required us to test for goodwill 
impairment as of July 2006. Our analysis led us to reasonably estimate at that time that our fair market value was less 
than our net assets excluding goodwill. Accordingly, we recorded a full write-down of the goodwill ($20.1 million) 
in the second quarter 2006.  

   

Long-Lived Assets  
   

The realizability of long-lived assets is evaluated periodically as events or circumstances indicate a possible 
inability to recover the carrying amount. Long-lived assets that will no longer be used in the business are written off 
in the period identified since they will no longer generate any positive cash flows for us. Periodically, long lived 
assets that will continue to be used by us will need to be evaluated for recoverability. Such evaluation is based on 
various analyses, including cash flow and profitability projections. The analyses necessarily involve significant 
management judgment. In the event the projected undiscounted cash flows are less than net book value of the assets, 
the carrying value of the assets will be written down to their estimated fair value. We tested our long lived assets for 
recoverability during fiscal 2007 and determined there was no impairment.  

   

Restructuring Expenses  
   

Liability for costs associated with an exit or disposal activity are recognized when the liability is incurred.  

   

Loss Contingencies  
   

In the normal course of our business we are subject to claims and litigation, including allegations of patent 
infringement. Liabilities relating to these claims are recorded when it is determined that a loss is probable and the 
amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. The costs of our defense in such matters are expensed as incurred. 
Insurance proceeds recoverable are recorded when deemed probable.  

   

Income Taxes  
   

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (“SFAS 109”), which requires that the Company recognize deferred tax 
liabilities and assets based on the differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities, using enacted tax rates in effect in the years the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred 
income tax benefit (expense) results from the change in net deferred tax assets or deferred tax liabilities. A valuation 
allowance is recorded when it is more likely than not that some or all deferred tax assets will not be realized.  
   

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — An 
Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (“FIN 48”). FIN 48 provides detailed guidance for the financial statement 
recognition, measurement and disclosure of uncertain tax positions recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements 
in accordance with SFAS 109. Income tax positions must meet a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold at the 
effective date to be recognized upon the adoption of FIN 48 and in subsequent periods. We adopted FIN 48 effective 
January 1, 2007, and the provisions of FIN 48 have been applied to all income tax positions commencing from that 
date. There was no material impact from this adoption. As of December 31, 2007, we had net operating loss 
carryforwards for federal and state income tax purposes of approximately $285.1 million and $154.7 million, 
respectively. We are currently evaluating the potential limitations on our ability to utilize our net  
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operating loss carryforwards as a result of the recent investment by BAOLI. Due to the uncertainty surrounding their 
realization, we recorded a full valuation allowance against our net deferred tax assets. Accordingly, no deferred tax 
asset has been recorded in the accompanying balance sheet.  

   

Marketing Costs  
   

All costs related to marketing and advertising our products are expensed as incurred or at the time the 
advertising takes place. Advertising costs were not material in each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2007.  

   

Net Loss Per Share  
   

Basic and diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss available to common stockholders by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding in each year. Potential common shares are not included in 
the calculation of diluted loss per share because their effect is anti-dilutive.  

   

Stock-based Compensation  
   

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) 
No. 123(revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS No. 123(R)”). Under this provision, the share-based 
compensation cost recognized beginning January 1, 2006 includes compensation cost for (i) all share-based payments 
granted prior to, but not vested as of January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair value originally estimated in 
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” (“SFAS No. 123”) 
and (ii) all share-based payments granted subsequent to January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair value estimated 
in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). Compensation cost under SFAS No. 123(R) is recognized 
ratably using the straight-line attribution method over the expected vesting period. Prior periods are not restated 
under this transition method.  
   

As a result of adopting SFAS 123R, the impact to the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the years ended 
December 31, 2007 and 2006 on net income, for stock options and awards, was an expense of $339,000 and 
$280,000 and $0.03 and $0.02, respectively, on basic and diluted earnings per share. No stock compensation cost was 
capitalized during the period.  
   

In the years prior to 2006, as permitted under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 
(“SFAS 123”), “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, we elected to follow Accounting Principles Board 
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” in accounting for our stock options and other stock-
based employee awards. Pro forma information regarding net loss and loss per share, as calculated under the 
provisions of SFAS 123, are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. We accounted for equity securities 
issued to non-employees in accordance with the provision of SFAS 123 and Emerging Issues Task Force 96-18. If 
we had elected to recognize compensation expense for employee awards based upon the fair value at the grant date  
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consistent with the methodology prescribed by SFAS 123, our net loss and net loss per share in 2005 would have 
been increased to the pro forma amounts indicated below:  
   

   

Use of Estimates  
   

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires us 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting periods. The significant estimates in the preparation of the financial statements relate 
to the assessment of the carrying amount of accounts receivable, inventory, fixed assets, intangibles, goodwill, 
estimated provisions for warranty costs, accruals for restructuring and lease abandonment costs, contract revenues, 
income taxes and disclosures related to the litigation. Actual results could differ from those estimates and such 
differences may be material to the financial statements. At December 31, 2007, we reversed $319,000 of product line 
exit cost accruals. This accrual was established in 2002 in the amount of $1,042,000 and represented the estimated 
costs to be incurred with a customer to support commercial product units previously purchased from Conductus for a 
period of five years.  

   

Fair Value of Financial Instruments  
   

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses 
approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. We estimate that the carrying amount of the 
debt approximates fair value based on our current incremental borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing 
arrangements.  

   

Comprehensive Income  
   

We have no items of other comprehensive income in any period and consequently do not report comprehensive 
income.  

   

Segment Information  
   

We operate in a single business segment, the research, development, manufacture and marketing of high 
performance products used in cellular base stations to maximize the performance of wireless telecommunications 
networks by improving the quality of uplink signals from mobile wireless devices. Net commercial product revenues 
are primarily derived from the sales of our SuperLink, AmpLink and SuperPlex products. We currently sell most of 
our products directly to wireless network operators in the United States. Net revenues derived  
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    For the Year Ended   
    December 31,    
    2005   

  

Net loss:          
As reported    $ (14,213,000 ) 
Stock-based employee compensation included in net loss      —  
Stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value method      (6,459,000 ) 
          

Pro forma    $ (20,672,000 ) 
          

Basic and diluted loss per share          
As reported    $ (1.24 ) 
Stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value method      (0.57 ) 
          

Pro forma    $ (1.81 ) 
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principally from government research and development contracts are presented separately on the statement of 
operations for all periods presented.  

   

Reverse Stock Split  
   

On March 13, 2006, we made a one-for-ten (1:10) reverse stock split effective as of the open of business. All 
results prior to that time have been adjusted to reflect the impact of that split.  

   

Certain Risks and Uncertainties  
   

Our long-term prospects are dependent upon the continued and increased market acceptance for our products.  
   

We currently sell most of our products directly to wireless network operators in the United States and our 
product sales have historically been concentrated in a small number of customers. In 2007, we had three customers 
that represented 40%, 14% and 7% of total net revenues. At December 31, 2007, these three customers represented 
26%, 15% and 2% of accounts receivable. In 2006, these three customers represented 44%, 20% and 16% of total net 
revenues and in 2005 we had three customers that represented 31%, 37% and 15% of total net revenues. The loss of 
or reduction in sales, or the inability to collect outstanding accounts receivable, from any of these customers could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.  
   

We currently rely on one supplier for purchase of high quality substrates for growth of high-temperature 
superconductor films and on a limited number of suppliers for other key components of our products. The loss of any 
of these suppliers could have material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and 
cash flows.  
   

In connection with the sales of our commercial products, we indemnify, without limit or term, our customers 
against all claims, suits, demands, damages, liabilities, expenses, judgments, settlements and penalties arising from 
actual or alleged infringement or misappropriation of any intellectual property relating to our products or other 
claims arising from our products. We cannot reasonably develop an estimate of the maximum potential amount of 
payments that might be made under our guarantee because of the uncertainty as to whether a claim might arise and 
how much it might total.  

   

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  
   

In February 2008, the FASB issued FSP 157-2 “Partial Deferral of the Effective Date of Statement 157” 
(FSP 157-2). FSP 157-2 delays the effective date of SFAS No. 157, for all non-financial assets and non-financial 
liabilities, except those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis 
(at least annually) to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008. We are currently assessing the impact of 
SFAS No. 157 for non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities on our consolidated financial position and results 
of operations. We do not expect that the implementation of this standard, for financial assets and financial liabilities, 
will have a material impact on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.  
   

In December 2007 the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141 (revised 2007), 
“Business Combinations” (FAS 141(R)) and No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial 
Statements, an amendment of ARB No. 51 (FAS 160)”. FAS 141(R) will change how business acquisitions are 
accounted for and FAS 160 will change the accounting and reporting for minority interests, which will be 
recharacterized as noncontrolling interests and classified as a component of equity. FAS 141(R) and FAS 160 are 
effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008 (January 1, 2009 for the Company). The adoption 
of FAS 141(R) and FAS 160 are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements.  
   

In June 2007 the FASB ratified EITF No. 07-3, or EITF 07-3, Accounting for Nonrefundable Advance Payments 
for Goods or Services to Be Used in Future Research and Development Activities . EITF 07-3 requires  
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non-refundable advance payments for goods and services to be used in future research and development activities to 
be recorded as an asset and the payments to be expensed when the research and development activities are 
performed. EITF 07-3 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007. We are currently evaluating 
the impact of adopting EITF 07-3 on our results of operations and financial condition.  
   

In June 2007, the FASB ratified EITF 06-11 “Accounting for the Income Tax Benefits of Dividends on Share-
Based Payment Awards” (“EITF 06-11”). EITF 06-11 provides that tax benefits associated with dividends on share-
based payment awards be recorded as a component of additional paid-in capital. EITF 06-11 is effective, on a 
prospective basis, for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007. We believe there will be no impact from 
EITF 06-11 on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.  
   

In May 2007, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) FIN 48-1 “Definition of Settlement in FASB 
Interpretation No. 48” (FSP FIN 48-1). FSP FIN 48-1 provides guidance on how to determine whether a tax position 
is effectively settled for the purpose of recognizing previously unrecognized tax benefits. FSP FIN 48-1 is effective 
retroactively to January 1, 2007. The implementation of this standard did not have a material impact on our 
consolidated financial position or results of operations.  
   

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159 “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities” (SFAS No. 159). SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial assets and financial 
liabilities at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected are 
reported in earnings. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We do not 
expect that the implementation of this standard will have a material impact on our consolidated financial position and 
results of operations.  

   

   

We have a line of credit with a bank. The line of credit expires July 2008 and is structured as a sale of accounts 
receivable. The agreement provides for the sale of up to $5 million of eligible accounts receivable, with advances to 
us totaling 80% of the receivables sold. Advances under the agreement are collateralized by all of our assets. Under 
the terms of the agreement, we continue to service the sold receivables and are subject to recourse provisions.  
   

Advances bear interest at the prime rate (7.25% at December 31, 2007) plus 2.50% subject to a minimum 
monthly charge. There was no amount outstanding under this borrowing facility at December 31, 2007.  
   

The agreement contains representations and warranties, affirmative and negative covenants and events of default 
customary for financings of this type. The failure to comply with these provisions, or the occurrence of any one of 
the events of default, would prevent any further borrowings and would generally require the repayment of any 
outstanding borrowings. Such representations, warranties and events of default include (a) non-payment of debt and 
interest hereunder, (b) non-compliance with terms of the agreement covenants, (c) insolvency or bankruptcy, 
(d) material adverse change, (e) merger or consolidation where our shareholders do not hold a majority of the voting 
rights of the surviving entity, (f) transactions outside the normal course of business, or (g) payment of dividends.  

   

   

On March 15, 2005, our Chief Executive Officer and President retired. In connection with the retirement, we 
agreed to the continuation of his salary and benefits for one year and to immediately vest and extend all his 
outstanding stock options and the executive agreed to provide certain consulting services as requested by us. Also, in 
connection with the retirement, a $150,000 loan made to our Chief Executive Officer in 2001, and in accordance with 
the existing terms of a promissory note in effect prior to the adoption of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, was 
forgiven. We recognized expense of $565,000 relating to the retirement of the CEO in 2005.  
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A former director and stockholder executed two notes aggregating $820,244 in principal in connection with the 
exercise in December 2000 of two options. Through the third quarter of, 2005, we carried the principal (as “Notes 
Receivable from Stockholder”) and accrued interest (as “Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets”) for both notes 
as assets on our balance sheet. In December 2005, we filed a lawsuit to collect both notes and recorded a reserve for 
the value of the notes (principal plus accrued interest) in excess of the market value of the collateral securing the 
notes. In 2007, we received $610,000 in full satisfaction of our claims including interest and attorneys’ fees, and the 
rescinded the second purported option exercise and canceled the related note.  

   

   

We incurred a net loss in each year of operation since inception resulting in no current or deferred tax expense 
for 2005, 2006 and 2007.  
   

The benefit for income taxes differs from the amount obtained by applying the federal statutory income tax rate 
to loss before benefit for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 as follows:  
   

   

The significant components of deferred tax assets (liabilities) at December 31 are as follows:  
   

   

The valuation allowance increased by $3,129,000 in 2007, increased by $5,854,000 in 2006 and decreased by 
$290,000 in 2005.  
   

As of December 31, 2007, we had net operating loss carryforwards for federal and state income tax purposes of 
approximately $285.1 million and $154.7 million , respectively, which expire in the years 2008 through 2027. Of 
these amounts $88.3 million and $23.5 million, respectively, resulted from the acquisition of Conductus. Included in  
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For the Year Ending 

December 31   
    2005     2006     2007   

  

Tax benefit computed at Federal statutory rate      34.0 %     34.0 %     34.0 % 
Increase (decrease) in taxes due to:                          

Change in valuation allowance      (39.8 )     (16.7 )     (39.8 ) 
State taxes, net of federal benefit      5.8       5.8       5.8   
Impairment of Goodwill (not deductible for tax)      —      (23.1 )     —  

                          

      —%     —%     —% 
                          

                  

    For the Year Ended    
    December 31,   
    2006     2007   

  

Loss carryforwards    $ 101,519,000     $ 105,460,000   
Capitalized research and development      3,972,000       2,710,000   
Depreciation      2,430,000       2,582,000   
Tax credits      3,226,000       3,822,000   
Inventory      559,000       415,000   
Purchase accounting adjustments      93,000       46,000   
Acquired intellectual property      (286,000 )     (190,000 ) 
Other      640,000       437,000   
Less: valuation allowance      (112,153,000 )     (115,282,000 ) 
                  

    $ —    $ —  
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the net operating loss carryforwards are deductions related to stock options of approximately $24.1 million and 
$13.1 million for federal and California income tax purposes, respectively. To the extent net operating loss 
carryforwards are recognized for accounting purposes the resulting benefits related to the stock options will be 
credited to stockholders’ equity. In addition, we had research and development and other tax credits for federal and 
state income tax purposes of approximately $2.7 million and $1.3 million, respectively, which expire in the years 
2008 through 2027. Of these amounts $661,000 and $736,000, respectively resulted from the acquisition of 
Conductus.  
   

Due to the uncertainty surrounding their realization, we have recorded a full valuation allowance against our net 
deferred tax assets. Accordingly, no deferred tax asset has been recorded in the accompanying balance sheet.  
   

Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code imposes an annual limitation on the utilization of net operating loss 
carryforwards based on a statutory rate of return (usually the “applicable federal funds rate”, as defined in the 
Internal Revenue Code) and the value of the corporation at the time of a “change of ownership” as defined by 
Section 382. We had changes in ownership in August 1999 and December 2002. Therefore, the ability to utilize net 
operating loss carryforwards of $97.3 million incurred prior to the ownership changes will be subject in future 
periods to an annual limitation of $1.3 million. In addition, we acquired the right to Conductus’ net operating losses, 
which are also subject to the limitations imposed by Section 382. Conductus underwent three ownership changes, 
which occurred in February 1999, February 2001 and December 2002. Therefore, the ability to utilize Conductus’ net 
operating loss carryforwards of $88.3 million incurred prior to the ownership changes will be subject in future 
periods to annual limitation of $700,000. Net operating losses incurred by us subsequent to the ownership changes 
totaled $99.5 million and are not subject to this limitation. We are currently evaluating the potential limitations on 
our ability to utilize our net operating loss carryforwards as a result of the recent investment by BAOLI.  

   

   

Preferred Stock  
   

Pursuant to our Certificate of Incorporation, the Board of Directors is authorized to issue up to 2,000,000 shares 
of preferred stock (par value $.001 per share) in one or more series and to fix the rights, preferences, privileges, and 
restrictions, including the dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, redemption price or prices, liquidation 
preferences, and the number of shares constituting any series or the designation of such series.  

   

Common Stock  
   

On August 17, 2007, we entered into an agreement with Hunchun BaoLi Communication Co. Ltd. under which 
on February 27, 2008 we issued to BAOLI and two related purchasers a total of (a) 3,101,360 shares of our common 
stock and (b) 611,523 shares of our Series A Preferred Stock (convertible under certain conditions into 
6,115,230 shares of our common stock) in exchange for $15.0 million in cash. At December 31, 2007 we had 
received $4.0 million from BAOLI and in January 2008 we received the remaining $11.0 million. This transaction 
caused the exercise price and the number of shares of the warrants issued to a bridge lender under our 2004 bridge 
loan to be adjusted to $8.34 and 110,880, respectively, under the anti-dilution provisions of the warrants. In 
November 2007, the holder of these warrants elected the net exercise provision of this warrant, where by the holder 
received 24,697 shares. The BAOLI transaction also caused the exercise price of the warrants issued to lenders under 
our 2005 financing to be adjusted to $7.08 under the anti-dilution provisions of the warrants.  
   

We raised no money from the sale of our common stock in 2006.  
   

In August 2005, we raised net proceeds of $11,441,000, net of offering costs of $1,059,000, from the public sale 
of 1,712,329 shares of common stock at $7.30 per share and 5-year warrants to purchase an additional 342,466 shares 
of common stock exercisable at $11.10 per share. The warrants become exercisable on February 16, 2006. The 
warrant agreement also contains the following significant terms: (i) in the event of changes in our outstanding 
Common Stock, the number of shares and their price under the warrant shall be correspondingly  

 
F-16  

Note 7 —Stockholders’  Equity 



Table of Contents  

   

SUPERCONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES INC.  
   

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  

   

adjusted and (ii) if, at any time while the warrants are outstanding, we issue additional shares at an effective price 
less than the warrant price the number of shares and their price will be adjusted. This transaction caused the exercise 
price and the number of shares of the warrants issued to a bridge lender under our 2004 bridge loan to be adjusted to 
$13.30 and 69,549, respectively, under the anti-dilution provisions of the warrants.  

   

Stock Options  
   

We have five stock option plans, the 1992 Stock Option Plan, the nonstatutory 1992 Directors Stock Option 
Plan, 1998 and 1999 Stock Option Plans and the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (collectively, the “Stock Option Plans”). 
The 1988 Stock Option Plan expired in 1998 and the 1992 Stock Option Plan and the nonstatutory 1992 Directors 
Stock Option Plan expired in 2002. During 2003, the 1998 and 1999 Stock Option Plans were replaced by the 2003 
Equity Incentive Plan. Under the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan, stock awards may consist of stock options, stock 
appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, performance awards, and performance share awards. Stock awards may 
be made to our directors, key employees, consultants, and non-employee directors. Stock options granted under these 
plans must be granted at prices no less than 100% of the market value on the date of grant. Both stock options and 
restricted stock awards have been granted under these plans. Generally, stock options become exercisable in 
installments over a minimum of four years, beginning one year after the date of grant, and expire not more than ten 
years from the date of grant, with the exception of 10% or greater stockholders which may have options granted at 
prices no less than the market value on the date of grant, and expire not more than five years from the date of grant. 
There were no stock option exercises in 2006 and 3,350 shares were exercised in 2007.  
   

At our 2007 Annual Meeting, the stockholders approved an increase in the total shares available for grants under 
the 2003 Equity Plan from 1,200,000 shares of common stock to 2,500,000 shares of common stock.  
   

During 2005, our President and Chief Executive Officer, as well as another board member, retired. In connection 
with these retirements, we modified the terms of all the stock options held by these individuals to fully vest them and 
to extend the term until the earlier of the fifth anniversary of the retirement or the normal expiration date. Since these 
options had no intrinsic value at the date of modification, the modifications did not impact our statement of 
operations.  
   

In 2005, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors made grants of performance based stock 
options totaling 40,816 to our officers and certain managers. The Compensation Committee determined that the 
financial performance criteria for these options were not met and therefore these options were canceled.  
   

On December 1, 2005, the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors approved the accelerated vesting 
of all time-vested outstanding out-of-the-money stock options held by current employees or consultants. For this 
purpose, the Compensation Committee defined “out-of-the-money options” as options having an exercise price equal 
to or greater than $5.80 per share (the market price on the date of the committee’s decision to accelerate the vesting). 
The acceleration of vesting increased the pro forma expense in 2005 by $3.7 million. We accelerated the vesting of 
these options in anticipation of the impact of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 123R (“SFAS 123R”) 
Share-Based Payment. The primary purpose of the accelerated vesting was to minimize the amount of compensation 
expense recognized in relation to the underwater options in future periods following our adoption of SFAS 123R. In 
addition, because these options had exercise prices in excess of current market values and were not fully achieving 
their original objectives of incentive compensation and employee retention, we believe that the acceleration has had a 
positive effect on employee morale and retention.  
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For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, the weighted average fair value has been estimated at the date 
of the grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The following are the significant weighted average 
assumptions used for estimating the fair value under our stock option plans:  
   

   

The expected life was based on the contractual term of the options and the expected employee exercise behavior. 
Typically, options to our employees have a 4 year vesting term and a 10 year contractual term. Four year vesting 
term options vest at 25% after one year and ratably, on a monthly basis, thereafter. Options to Board Members have a 
2 year vesting term and a 10 year contractual term. Two year vesting term options vest at 50% after one year and 
50% after two years. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a remaining 
term equal to the expected option life assumed at the grant date. The future volatility is based on our 4 year historical 
volatility. We used an expected dividend yield of 0% because we have never paid a dividend and do not anticipate 
paying dividends. We assumed a 10% forfeiture rate based on historical stock option cancellation rates over the last 
4 years.  
   

The impact of the stock options to the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the years ended December 31, 
2007 and 2006 on net income was an expense of $115,000 and $187,000 and $0.01 and $0.01, respectively, on basic 
and diluted earnings per share. No stock compensation cost was capitalized during the periods. The total 
compensation cost related to non-vested awards not yet recognized is $175,000 and the weighted-average period over 
which the cost is expected to be recognized is 2.75 years. Prior to 2006, we did not recognize compensation expense 
for issuance of stock options.  
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Year Ended 

December 31,   
    2006     2007   

  

Per share fair value at grant date    $ 2.55     $ 2.15   
Risk free interest rate      4.82 %     4.34 % 
Expected volatility      95 %     98 % 
Dividend yield      0 %     0 % 
Expected life in years      4.0       4.0   
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At December 31, 2007, 1,585,397 shares of common stock were available for future grant of options and 
741,858 options had been granted but not yet exercised. Option activity during the three years ended December 31, 
2007 was as follows:  
   

   

The following table summarizes information concerning currently outstanding and exercisable stock options at 
December 31, 2007:  
   

   

Our outstanding options expire by the end of December 2017. The weighted-average contractual term of stock 
options currently exercisable is slightly less than 5.6 years. At December 31, 2007, 100,400 shares of outstanding 
stock options and 32,967 exercisable options had an exercise price less than the current market value and had an 
intrinsic value of $235,000 and $61,000, respectively. The number of options exercisable and weighted average 
exercise price at December 31, 2005 and 2006 totaled 1,162,330 and $41.32 and 1,067,296 and $41.13, respectively.  
   

Prior to 2006 we adopted the disclosure-only provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
No. 123, (“SFAS 123”), “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” Accordingly, no compensation cost had been 
recognized for the stock-based compensation other than for non-employees.  
   

The fair value of the options granted in 2005 was estimated for purposes of the pro forma amounts in Note 2 as 
of the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions 
for 2005: dividend yield of zero percent; expected volatilities of 93.85-95%; risk-free interest rates of 4.28-4.62%;  
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          Weighted    
    Number      Average    
    of Shares     Exercise Price   

  

Outstanding at December 31, 2004      946,725     $ 55.21   
Granted      453,206       8.02   
Canceled      (197,555 )     37.18   
Exercised      —      —  
                  

Outstanding at December 31, 2005      1,202,376       40.38   
Granted      80,900       3.70   
Canceled      (128,335 )     34.64   
Exercised      —      —  
                  

Outstanding at December 31, 2006      1,154,941       38.33   
Granted      45,670       2.96   
Canceled      (455,403 )     41.68   
Exercised      (3,350 )     7.42   
                  

Outstanding at December 31, 2007      741,858     $ 34.24   
                  

                                          

          Weighted            Exercisable   
          Average      Weighted            Weighted    
Range of    Number      Remaining      Average      Number      Average    
Exercise Prices   Outstanding     Contractual Life     Exercise Price     Exercisable     Exercise Price   
  

 $1.43 —   $5.90      102,800       8.62     $ 3.28       35,367     $ 3.85   
 $6.10 —   $7.52      248,670       7.50     $ 6.91       238,670     $ 6.89   
 $8.00 —  $10.40      97,615       4.96     $ 9.66       96,364     $ 9.68   
$10.80 —  $38.75      111,645       4.11     $ 28.06       111,645     $ 28.06   
$39.00 — $493.75      181,128       2.67     $ 106.40       181,128     $ 106.40   
                                          

      741,858       5.64     $ 34.24       663,174     $ 37.87   
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and expected life of 4.0 years. All options granted during 2005 were granted at the then fair market value of our 
common stock. The weighted average fair value of options granted in 2005 was $5.50.  

   

Restricted Stock Awards  
   

In July 2006, for the first time we issued restricted stock awards. A total of 331,000 shares were granted and will 
fully vest in one single installment on the second anniversary of the grant date in July 2008. The per share weighted 
average grant-date fair value was $1.50. A 10% forfeiture rate was assumed.  
   

The impact to the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2007 on net income 
was an expense of $223,000 and $0.02 on basic and diluted earnings per share. The 2006 impact on net income was 
an expense of $93,000 and $0.01 on basic and diluted earnings per share. No stock compensation cost was 
capitalized during either period. The total compensation cost related to non-vested awards not yet recognized is 
$130,000 and the weighted-average period over which the cost is expected to be recognized is seven months.  

   

Warrants  
   

The following is a summary of outstanding warrants at December 31, 2007:  
   

   

   

   

No warrants were exercised during 2005 and 2006.  
   

During 2007 the following warrants were exercised:  
   

   

   

In December 1989, the Board of Directors approved a 401(k) savings plan (the “401(k) Plan”) for our employees 
that became effective in 1990. Eligible employees may elect to make contributions under the terms of the 401(k) 
Plan; however, contributions by us are made at the discretion of management. We made no contributions to the 401
(k) Plan in 2007.  
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    Common Shares   
          Currently      Price per         
    Total     Exercisable     Share     Expiration Date   

  

Warrants and options related to issuance of common 
stock      342,466       342,466     $ 7.08       August 16, 2010 * ** 

      116,279       116,279       29.00       June 24, 2008 * 
Warrants related to April 2004 Bridge Loans      10,000       10,000       18.50       April 28, 2011 * 
Total      468,745       468,745                   
                                  

 * The terms of these warrants contain net exercise provisions, wherein instead of a cash exercise holders can elect 
to receive common stock equal to the difference between the exercise price and the average closing sale price for 
common shares over 10-30 days immediately preceding the exercise date. 

  

** The terms of these warrants contain antidilution adjustment provisions related to issuances at certain prices. 

                                  

                Common Shares Issued   
    Warrants           In Accordance With   
    Warrants     Price per           Net Exercise    
    Exercised     Share     For Cash     Provisions   

  

Warrants related to issuance of common stock      24,697     $ 10.73       —      24,697   
                                  

Note 8 —Employee Savings Plan 
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Operating Leases  
   

We lease our offices and production facilities under a non-cancelable operating lease that expires in four years. 
This lease contains a minimum rent escalation clause that requires additional rental amounts after the first year. Rent 
expense for this lease with minimum annual rent escalation is recognized on a straight line basis over the minimum 
lease term. This lease also requires us to pay utilities, insurance, taxes and other operating expenses and contains one 
five-year renewal option at 95% of the then current market rental value.  
   

For 2005, 2006 and 2007, rent expense was $1,158,000, $1,152,000 and 1,104,000, respectively.  

   

Capital Leases  
   

Our property and equipment leases under a capital lease arrangement expired in 2007.  

   

Patents and Licenses  
   

We have entered into various licensing agreements requiring royalty payments ranging from 0.13% to 2.5% of 
specified product sales. Certain of these agreements contain provisions for the payment of guaranteed or minimum 
royalty amounts. In the event that we fail to pay minimum annual royalties, these licenses may automatically be 
terminated. These royalty obligations terminate in 2009 to 2020. Royalty expenses totaled $211,000 in 2005, 
$156,000 in 2006 and $172,000 in 2007. Under the terms of certain royalty agreements, royalty payments made may 
be subject to audit. There have been no audits to date and we do not expect any possible future audit adjustments to 
be significant.  
   

The minimum lease payments under operating and capital leases and license obligations are as follows:  
   

   

   

During our normal course of business, we make certain contractual guarantees and indemnities pursuant to 
which we may be required to make future payments under specific circumstances. We have not recorded any liability 
for these contractual guarantees and indemnities in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.  

   

Warranties  
   

We establish reserves for future product warranty costs that are expected to be incurred pursuant to specific 
warranty provisions with our customers. Our warranty reserves are established at the time of sale and updated 
throughout the warranty period based upon numerous factors including historical warranty return rates and expenses 
over various warranty periods.  
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          Operating    
Year Ending December 31,   Licenses     Leases   
  

2008    $ 150,000     $ 1,425,000   
2009      150,000       1,474,000   
2010      150,000       1,525,000   
2011      150,000       1,436,000   
2012      150,000       9,000   
Thereafter      1,050,000       1,000   
                  

Total payments    $ 1,800,000     $ 5,870,000   
                  

Note 10 —Contractual Guarantees and Indemnities 
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Intellectual Property Indemnities  
   

We indemnify certain customers and our contract manufacturers against liability arising from third-party claims 
of intellectual property rights infringement related to our products. These indemnities appear in development and 
supply agreements with our customers as well as manufacturing service agreements with our contract manufacturers, 
are not limited in amount or duration and generally survive the expiration of the contract. Given that the amount of 
any potential liabilities related to such indemnities cannot be determined until an infringement claim has been made, 
we are unable to determine the maximum amount of losses that it could incur related to such indemnifications.  

   

Director and Officer Indemnities and Contractual Guarantees  
   

We have entered into indemnification agreements with our directors and executive officers, which require us to 
indemnify such individuals to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. Our indemnification obligations under 
such agreements are not limited in amount or duration. Certain costs incurred in connection with such 
indemnifications may be recovered under certain circumstances under various insurance policies. Given that the 
amount of any potential liabilities related to such indemnities cannot be determined until a lawsuit has been filed 
against a director or executive officer, we are unable to determine the maximum amount of losses that it could incur 
relating to such indemnifications. Historically, any amounts payable pursuant to such director and officer 
indemnifications have not had a material negative effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.  
   

We have also entered into severance and change in control agreements with certain of our executives. These 
agreements provide for the payment of specific compensation benefits to such executives upon the termination of 
their employment with us.  

   

General Contractual Indemnities/Products Liability  
   

During the normal course of business, we enter into contracts with customers where it agreed to indemnify the 
other party for personal injury or property damage caused by our products. Our indemnification obligations under 
such agreements are not generally limited in amount or duration. Given that the amount of any potential liabilities 
related to such indemnities cannot be determined until a lawsuit has been filed against a director or executive officer, 
we are unable to determine the maximum amount of losses that it could incur relating to such indemnifications. 
Historically, any amounts payable pursuant to such guarantees have not had a material negative effect our business, 
financial condition or results of operations. We maintain general and product liability insurance as well as errors and 
omissions insurance which may provide a source of recovery to us in the event of an indemnification claim.  

   

Short Term Borrowings  
   

We have a line of credit with a bank. The line of credit expires July 2008 and is structured as a sale of accounts 
receivable. The agreement provides for the sale of up to $5 million of eligible accounts receivable, with advances to 
us totaling 80% of the receivables sold. Advances under the agreement ( See Note 3)  are collateralized by all our 
assets. Under the terms of the agreement, we continue to service the sold receivables and are subject to recourse 
provisions. Under the terms of the agreement, if the bank determines that there is a material adverse change in our 
business, they can exercise all their rights and remedies under the agreement, including demanding immediate 
payment of outstanding amounts. There was no amount outstanding under this facility at December 31, 2007  

   

Contractual Contingency  
   

We have a contract to deliver several custom products to a government contractor. We are unable to 
manufacture the products for technical reasons. We have discussed the problem with the contractor and our 
government customer. They are considering the problem, and further discussions are expected. We do not believe 
that a loss, if any, is reasonably estimable at this time and therefore has not recorded any liability relating to this  
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matter. We will periodically reassess our potential liability as additional information becomes available. If we later 
determine that a loss is probable and the amount reasonably estimable, we will record a liability for the potential loss. 
All costs have been expensed and no revenues recognized on this contract.  

   

Note 11 — Legal Proceedings  
   

Settlement of Shalvoy Litigation  
   

Mr. Shalvoy, a director and stockholder, executed two notes aggregating $820,244 in principal in connection 
with the exercise in December 2000 of two options to purchase Conductus, Inc. common stock prior our acquisition 
of Conductus, Inc. in December 2002. Through the third quarter of, 2005, we carried the principal (as “Notes 
Receivable from Stockholder”) and accrued interest (as “Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets”) for both notes 
as assets on our balance sheet.  
   

We filed a lawsuit against Mr. Shalvoy on December 21, 2005 in the California Superior Court (Case 
No. 1186812) to collect both notes. In that same quarter, due to Mr. Shalvoy’s refusal to pay the notes voluntarily we 
recorded a reserve for the value of the notes (principal plus accrued interest) in excess of the market value of the 
collateral securing the notes.  
   

On March 2, 2007, we entered into a Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release of All Claims with Mr. Shalvoy 
to settle the lawsuit. As per the agreement, we received a payment of $610,000 on April 2, 2007 in payment of one 
note, including interest and attorneys’ fees, and the rescission of Mr. Shalvoy’s second purported option exercise 
including cancellation of the related note.  

   

Routine Litigation  
   

We may be involved in routine litigation arising in the ordinary course of our business, and, while the results of 
the proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe that the final outcome of such matters will not have a 
material adverse effect on our financial position, operating results or cash flows.  

   

   

The computation of per share amounts for 2005, 2006 and 2007 is based on the average number of common 
shares outstanding for the period. Options and warrants to purchase 2,031,213, 1,983,779 and 1,210,603 shares of 
common stock during 2005, 2006 and 2007 respectively, were not considered in the computation of diluted earnings 
per share because their inclusion would have been antidilutive.  

   

   

During the first quarter of 2005, we implemented another restructuring program and reduced our workforce by 
another 27 positions and vacated a portion of our leased facility in Santa Barbara.  
   

As discussed in Notes Receivable from Stockholder we recorded an impairment charge of $969,000 related to 
certain notes in the fourth quarter of 2005. The impairment charge is included in Restructuring Expenses and 
Impairment Charges.  
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The following summarizes the restructuring and impairment charges for the years ended December 31, 2005, 
2006 and 2007:  
   

   

   

Balance Sheet Data:  
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    For the Years Ended December 31,   
    Restructuring     Impairment           Restructuring     Impairment            Restructuring     Impairment         
    Charges for      Charges for     Total for      Charges for      Charges for      Total for      Charges for      Charges for     Total for   
    2005     2005     2005     2006     2006     2006     2007     2007     2007   

  

Severance costs    $ 178,000     $ —    $ 178,000     $ —    $ —    $ —    $ —    $ —    $ —  
Fixed assets write-offs      137,000       —      137,000       —      —      —      —      —      —  
Patent, licenses and purchased technology write-

off              —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —  
Lease abandonment costs                      —      —      —      —      —      —      —  
Facility consolidation costs      6,000       —      6,000       —      —      —      —      —      —  
Employee relocation costs      16,000       —      16,000       —      —      —      —      —      —  
Goodwill write-off              —      —      —      20,107,000       20,107,000       —      —      —  
Impairment charge for notes receivable from 

shareholder and board member      —      969,000       969,000       —      38,000       38,000       —      —      —  
                                                                          

Total      337,000       969,000       1,306,000       —      20,145,000       20,145,000       —      —      —  
                                                                          

Fixed assets write-off and severance costs 
included in cost of goods sold      109,000       —      109,000       —      —      —      —      —      —  

                                                                          

Expense included in operating expenses    $ 228,000     $ 969,000     $ 1,197,000     $ —    $ 20,145,000     $ 20,145,000     $ —    $ —    $ —  
                                                                          

Note 14 —Details of Certain Financial Statement Components and Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow 
Information and Non-Cash Activities 

                  

    December 31,     December 31,   
    2006     2007   

  

Accounts receivable:                  
Accounts receivable-trade    $ 1,117,000     $ 1,242,000   
U.S. government accounts receivable-billed      493,000       1,246,000   
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts      (75,000 )     (75,000 ) 

                  

    $ 1,535,000     $ 2,413,000   
                  

                  

    December 31,     December 31,   
    2006     2007   

  

Inventories:                  
Raw materials    $ 2,242,000     $ 1,934,000   
Work-in-process      569,000       679,000   
Finished goods      4,534,000       1,817,000   
Less: inventory reserves      (1,367,000 )     (1,015,000 ) 

                  

    $ 5,978,000     $ 3,415,000   
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At December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2007, equipment includes $237,000 of assets financed under capital 
lease arrangements, net of $226,000 and $237,000 of accumulated amortization, respectively. Depreciation expense 
amounted to $2,548,000, $2,277,000 and $1,877,000 respectively, in 2005, 2006 and 2007. At December 31, 2007 
we disposed of $1,344,000 of older, fully depreciated equipment. There was no gain or loss on said disposition.  
   

   

Amortization expense related to these items totaled $329,000, $326,000 and $331,000 respectively in 2005, 
2006 and 2007. Amortization expenses related to these items are expected to total $331,000 in 2008 and 2009 and 
approximately $95,000 in 2010 and 2011.  
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    December 31,      December 31,    
    2006     2007   

  

Property and Equipment:                  
Equipment    $ 17,186,000     $ 15,951,000   
Leasehold improvements      6,732,000       6,732,000   
Furniture and fixtures      451,000       407,000   

                  

      24,369,000       23,090,000   
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization      (18,599,000 )     (19,129,000 ) 

                  

    $ 5,770,000     $ 3,961,000   
                  

                  

    December 31,     December 31,   
    2006     2007   

  

Patents and Licenses:                  
Patents pending    $ 632,000     $ 705,000   
Patents issued      899,000       983,000   
Less accumulated amortization      (286,000 )     (345,000 ) 

                  

Net patents issued      613,000       638,000   
Licenses      563,000       563,000   
Less accumulated amortization      (100,000 )     (134,000 ) 

                  

Net licenses      463,000       429,000   
Purchased technology      1,706,000       1,706,000   
Less accumulated amortization      (1,005,000 )     (1,242,000 ) 

                  

Net purchased technology      701,000       464,000   
                  

    $ 2,409,000     $ 2,236,000   
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SUPERCONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES INC.  
   

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  
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    December 31,     December 31,   
    2006     2007   

  

Accrued Expenses and Other Long Term Liabilities:                  
Salaries payable    $ 287,000       307,000   
Compensated absences      379,000       371,000   
Compensation related      299,000       369,000   
Warranty reserve      428,000       380,000   
Lease abandonment costs      8,000       —  
Product line exit costs      319,000       —  
Deferred rent      390,000       373,000   
Other      104,000       123,000   

                  

      2,214,000       1,923,000   
Less current portion      (1,610,000 )     (1,405,000 ) 

                  

Long term portion    $ 604,000     $ 518,000   
                  

                          

    For the Year Ended   
    December 31,     December 31,     December 31,   
    2005     2006     2007   

  

Warranty Reserve Activity:                          
Beginning balance    $ 419,000     $ 491,000     $ 428,000   
Additions      204,000       140,000       75,000   
Deductions      (273,000 )     (203,000 )     (123,000 ) 
Change in estimate relating to previous warranty accruals      141,000       —      —  
                          

Ending balance    $ 491,000     $ 428,000     $ 380,000   
                          

Lease Abandonment Costs:                          
Beginning balance    $ 1,336,000     $ 225,000     $ 8,000   
Additions      —      —      —  
Transfers from unfavorable lease costs      —      —      —  
Deductions      (1,111,000 )     (217,000 )     (8,000 ) 
                          

Ending balance    $ 225,000     $ 8,000     $ —  
                          

Product Line Exit Costs:                          
Beginning balance    $ 885,000     $ 402,000     $ 319,000   
Additions      —      —      —  
Deductions      (483,000 )     (83,000 )     (319,000 ) 
Change in estimate relating to previous exit costs accrual      —      —      —  
                          

Ending balance    $ 402,000     $ 319,000     $ —  
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Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities  
   

Under a previously announced investment agreement with Hunchun BaoLi Communication Co. Ltd, or BAOLI 
in August 2007, on February 27, 2008, we issued to BAOLI and two related purchasers a total of 
(a) 3,101,361 shares of our common stock (of which 953,065 must be voted in accordance with the votes of our other 
shares, effectively giving BAOLI no voting power over such shares) and (b) 611,523 shares of our Series A 
Convertible Preferred Stock, or Series A Preferred (convertible under certain conditions into 6,115,230 shares of our 
common stock). We received $15.0 million in cash, of which $4.0 million was funded in 2007 and the $11.0 million 
balance was funded in January 2008.  
   

Subject to the terms and conditions of our Series A Preferred and to customary adjustments to the conversion 
rate, each share of our Series A Preferred is convertible into ten shares of our common stock so long as the number of 
shares of our common stock beneficially owned by BAOLI following such conversion does not exceed 9.9% of our 
outstanding common stock. Except for a preference on liquidation of $.01 per share, each share of Series A Preferred 
is the economic equivalent of the ten shares of common stock into which it is convertible. Except as required by law, 
the Series A Preferred will not have any voting rights and there is currently no dividend.  
   

With the issuance of the Series A Preferred, our ability to declare or pay dividends on shares of our common 
stock will be subject to the requirement that we pay an equivalent dividend on each outstanding share of Series A 
Preferred (on an as converted basis).  
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    For the Year Ended   
    December 31,     December 31,     December 31,   
    2005     2006     2007   

  

Severance Costs:                          
Beginning balance    $ 36,000     $ 32,000           
Additions      218,000       —          
Deductions      (222,000 )     (32,000 )         
                          

Ending balance    $ 32,000     $ —    $ —  
                          

                          

    Dec. 31,      Dec. 31,      Dec. 31,    
    2005     2006     2007   

  

Supplemental Cash Flow Information:                          
Cash paid for interest    $ 116,000     $ 45,000     $ 39,000   
Cash paid for taxes    $ (5,190 )   $ 15,592     $ 183,249   

Note 15 —Subsequent Event 
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Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)  
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    First Quarter     Second Quarter     Third Quarter     Fourth Quarter   
  

2007                                  
Net revenues(1)    $ 4,183,000     $ 4,685,000     $ 4,120,000     $ 4,914,000   
Loss from operations(2)(3)      (2,977,000 )     (2,006,000 )     (2,040,000 )     (2,220,000 ) 
Net loss      (2,937,000 )     (1,982,000 )     (2,020,000 )     (2,187,000 ) 
Basic and diluted loss per common share    $ (0.24 )   $ (0.16 )   $ (0.16 )   $ (0.17 ) 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding      12,483,367       12,483,367       12483,367       12,500,134   
2006                                  
Net revenues(1)    $ 4,840,000     $ 5,021,000     $ 5,910,000     $ 5,307,000   
Loss from operations(4)(5)      (3,340,000 )     (22,755,000 )     (2,164,000 )     (1,712,000 ) 
Net loss      (3,226,000 )     (22,659,000 )     (2,092,000 )     (1,647,000 ) 
Basic and diluted loss per common share    $ (0.26 )   $ (1.81 )   $ (0.17 )   $ (0.13 ) 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding      12,483,367       12,483,367       12,483,367       12,483,367   

(1) Our revenues vary from quarter to quarter as our customers provide minimal lead-time prior to the release of 
their purchase orders and have non-binding commitments to purchase from us. 

  

(2) Includes sale of previously written-off inventory of none, $138,000, $57,000 and none, respectively. 
  

(3) Includes increased reserve for inventory obsolescence of $90,000, $70,000, none and none, respectively. 
  

(4) Includes increased reserve for inventory obsolescence of $90,000, $90,000, $90,000 and $90,000, respectively. 
  

(5) Includes sale of previously written-off inventory of $119,000, $273,000, $309,000 and none, respectively. 
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Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts  
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    Additions   
          Charge to      Charge to     Charge to          
    Beginning      Costs &      Other      Other      Ending    
    Balance     Expenses     Accounts     Deductions     Balance   

  

Year Ended December 31, 2007                                          
Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts    $ 75,000     $ —    $ —    $ —    $ 75,000   
Impairment for Notes Receivable from 

Stockholder      1,007,000       (583,000 )     —      (424,000 )     —  
Reserve for Inventory Obsolescence      1,367,000       (195,000 )     —      (157,000 )     1,015,000   
Reserve for Warranty      428,000       75,000       —      (123,000 )     380,000   
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance      112,153,000       3,129,000       —      —      115,282,000   
Year Ended December 31, 2006                                          
Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts      75,000       —      —      —      75,000   
Impairment for Notes Receivable from 

Stockholder      969,000       38,000       —      —      1,007,000   
Reserve for Inventory Obsolescence              3,209,000       360,000       (2,202,000 )     1,367,000   
Reserve for Warranty      491,000       140,000       —      (203,000 )     428,000   
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance      106,299,000       5,854,000       —      —      112,153,000   
Year Ended December 31, 2005                                          
Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts      77,000       —      —      (2,000 )     75,000   
Impairment for Notes Receivable from 

Stockholder      —      969,000       —      —      969,000   
Reserve for Inventory Obsolescence      5,402,000       984,000       —      (3,177,000 )     3,209,000   
Reserve for Warranty      419,000       204,000       —      (132,000 )     491,000   
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance    $ 106,589,000     $ (290,000 )   $ —    $ —    $ 106,299,000   
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SIGNATURES  
   

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has 
duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on this 27th day of 
March 2008.  

   

SUPERCONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES INC.  

   

Jeffrey A. Quiram  
President and Chief Executive Officer  

   

POWER OF ATTORNEY  
   

KNOW ALL THESE PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below 
constitutes and appoints William J. Buchanan, his attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him in any and 
all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto 
and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and 
confirming all that said attorney-in-fact or his substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.  
   

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report on Form 10-K has been signed 
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:  
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  By:  /s/  Jeffrey A. Quiram 

              

Signature   Title   Date 
  

          
/s/  Jeffrey A. Quiram  

Jeffrey A. Quiram   

President, Chief Executive Officer and 
Director (Principal Executive Officer)   

March 27, 2008 

          
/s/  William J. Buchanan  

William J. Buchanan   

Controller (Principal Accounting Officer) 
(Principal Financial Officer)   

March 27, 2008 

          
/s/  David W. Vellequette  

David W. Vellequette   

Director 

  

March 27, 2008 

          
/s/  Lynn J. Davis  

Lynn J. Davis   

Director 

  

March 27, 2008 

          
/s/  Dennis J. Horowitz  

Dennis J. Horowitz   

Director 

  

March 27, 2008 

          
/s/  Martin A. Kaplan  

Martin A. Kaplan   

Director 

  

March 27, 2008 

          
/s/  John D. Lockton  

John D. Lockton   

Chairman of the Board 

  

March 27, 2008 



   



   

EXHIBIT 10.21 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT  

     This First Amendment, dated as of November 1 st , 2007 (the “ Amendment ”), between Superconductor Technologies, Inc., a Delaware 
corporation (“ STI ”), and Hunchan BaoLi Communication Co., Ltd. (“ BAOLI ”) amends that certain Agreement, dated as of August 17, 2007 
( the " “Agreement ”), between STI and BAOLI.  

RECITALS  

     The Agreement is hereby amended so that the term “ Shares ” consists of the Common Shares and the Preferred Shares. The purchase price 
per Common Share is $1.6275 and the purchase price per Preferred Share Is $16.275, with the total purchase price for the Shares equal to 
$15,000,000. On a fully converted basis, BAOLI will receive the same number of Common Shares as under the Agreement,  

     STI hereby grants to BAOLI the registration rights related to the Common Shares set forth in Exhibit C,  

     3.1. Legal Consent to the Amendment, BAOLI and each Purchaser represents and warrants that the execution and performance of the 
Amendment are consented and approved by the Board of Directors of BAOLI and such Purchaser and that the Amendment is legally binding 
on BAOLI and such Purchaser. BAOLI and each Purchaser also make the representations and warranties set forth in Exhibit A .  

     3.2. Legality of the Offer to Amend. STI represents and warrants that the execution and performance of the Amendment are for the 
corporate interest of SIT's development and STI has obtained all and any necessary internal approval and STI is legally bound by each of the 
Agreement and the Amendment, and in addition, subject to the representations and warranties of each Purchaser contained in Exhibit A upon 
which STI hereby relies complies with the  

   

A.   Pursuant to the Agreement, BAOLI agreed to purchase and STI agreed to sell $15,000,000 of shares of STFs Common. Stock, par value 
$0.001 per share (the “ Common Stock ”), at a per share price of $1.6275. The Agreement provides that it may be amended by the written 
agreement of STI and BAOLI, and STI and BAOLI agree to amend the Agreement as set forth below. 

  

B.   This Amendment provides: (i) that upon full payment of the Purchase Price by BAOLI to STI, STI will instead be obligated to deliver 
2,148,296 shares of Common Stock (the “Common Shares”) and 706,829 shares of newly created Series A Convertible Preferred Stock of 
the Corporation (the “ Preferred Shares" ) (with the rights and privileges set forth in the Certificate of Designations attached hereto as 
Exhibit B and convertible into 7,068,290 shares of Common Stock), and (ii) BAOLI with registration rights with respect to the Common 
Shares as set forth in Exhibit C . 

1.   PURCHASE AND SALE . 

2.   REGISTRATION RIGHTS 

3.   LEGALITY OF INVESTMENT 



   

EXHIBIT 10.21 

provisions of the laws and regulations of United States of America, including but not limited to the pertinent SEC requirements.  

     Except as amended by this Amendment, the Agreement remains in full force and effect. Terms used in this Amendment that are not defined 
in this Amendment shall have the same meaning given to such terms in the Agreement. Terms defined in this Amendment shall be applicable 
to the Agreement, as amended hereby.  

      IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties have executed this Amendment as of the date first written above.  

2  

4.   TERMS AND EFFECT OF AMENDMENT 

          
  SUPERCONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC  

    

  By:   /s/ Jeffrey Quiram     
    Name:   Jeffrey Quiram    
    Title:   President & CEO    
  
          
  BAOLI COMMUNICATIONS CO. LTD  

    

  By:   /s/ (Signature)     
    Name:       
    Title:       
  



   



   

EXHIBIT 10.22 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT  

     This Second Amendment, dated as of January 7, 2008 (the “ Amendment ”) between Superconductor Technologies Inc. a Delaware 
corporation (“ STI ”). and Hunchun BaoLi Communication Co. Ltd, (“ BAOLI ”) amends that certain Agreement, dated as of August 17, 2007 
and subsequently amended as of November 1st, 2007 (the “ Agreement ”), between STI and BAOLI.  

RECITALS  

      1.   PURCHASE AND SALE . The Agreement is hereby amended so that (i) term “ Shares ” consists of 3,101,361 shares of Common 
Stock and 611,523 shares of Preferred Stock; (ii) BOALI agrees to increase its deposit from $4,000,000 to $6,000,000 not later than 1 PM on 
January 8, 2008 (Los Angeles time); and (iii) BAOLI agrees to complete the purchase of all of the Shares by paying the remaining $9,000,000 
of the $15,000,000 Purchase Price not later than 1 PM on January 21, 2008 (Los Angeles time). BAOLI represents that the additional 
$2,000,000 has been irrevocably wired to STI.  

      2.   VOTING AGREEMENT . BAOLI agrees that 953,065 of the Common Shares (any and all other shares or securities of STI issued or 
issuable in respect thereof on or after the date hereof, the “ Non Voting Shares ”) shall be covered by the Irrevocable Proxy and Voting 
Agreement executed simultaneously herewith. Each certificate representing any Non Voting Shares shall be endorsed by the Company with a 
legend reading substantially as follows:  

“THE SHARES EVIDENCED HEREBY ARE SUBJECT TO AN IRRE VOCABLE PROXY AND VOTING AGREEMENT (A 
COPY OF WHICH MAY BE OBTAINED UPON WRITTEN REQUEST FROM THE COMPANY), AND BY ACCEPTING ANY 
INTEREST IN SUCH SHARES THE PERSON ACCEPTING SUCH INTEREST SHALL BE DEEMED TO AGREE TO AND 
SHALL BECOME BOUND BY ALL THE PROVISIONS OF THAT AG REEMENT.”  

     Upon receipt by STI of reasonably acceptable evidence of bona fide transfer to a person not covered by the Irrevocable Proxy and Voting 
Agreement according to its terms, the legend  

1  

A.   Pursuant to the Agreement, BAOLI agreed to purchase and STI agreed to sell 2,148,296 shares of STI's common stock, par value $0.001 
per share (the “ Common Stock”  ) and 706,829 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock of STI (the “ Preferred Stock ”) in 
exchange for $15,000,000, of which a deposit of $4,000,000 has already been received by STI, The Agreement provides that it may be 
amended by the written agreement of STI and BAOLI and STI and BAOLI agree to amend the Agreement as set forth below. 

  

B.   This Amendment provides that if full payment of the Purchase Price is actually received from BAOLI, STI will Instead be obligated to 
deliver 3,101361 shares of Common Stock  
(the “ Common Shares ”) and 611,523 shares of Preferred Stock (the “ Preferred Shares ”) (convertible into 6,115,230 shares of Common 
Stock, for an aggregate of 9,216,519 shares of Common Stock including the Common Shares). As of the date hereof, STI has approximately 
12,500,000 shares of common stock outstanding. 

  

    NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereby agree as follows: 
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will be removed from the certificate representing such transferred shares.  

      3.  EXCHANGE . STI has informed BAOLI that the issuance of additional Common Stock under the initial Agreement was not permitted 
by the NASDAQ Stock Market without a shareholder vote. Although NASDAQ has given preliminary approval of the issuance under 
Section 1, if final approval is denied, the parties will work together to overcome or respond to any objections. In addition if all necessary 
regulatory approvals, including the NASDAQ, can be obtained on or before February 15, 2008, the parties will take all steps needed to 
exchange the Preferred Shares for the Common Stock into which it would be convertible, provided that BAOLI signs the same form of 
Irrevocable Proxy and Voting Agreement with respect to all such shares of Common Stock issued in such exchange and such shares bear the 
same legend set forth in Section 2.  

      4.  LEGALITY OF INVESTMENT .  

          4.1. Legal Consent to the Amendment. BAOLI represents and warrants that the execution and performance of the Amendment are 
consented and approved by the Board of Directors of BAOLI and that the Amendment is legally binding on BAOLI. BAOLI also makes the 
representations and warranties set forth in, Exhibit A to the First Amendment.  

          4.2. Legality of the Offer to Amend. STI represents and warrants that the execution and performance of the Amendment are for the 
corporate interest of STI’s development and STI has obtained all and any necessary internal approval and STI is legally bound by each of the 
Agreement and the Amendment, and in addition, subject to the representations and warranties of each Purchaser contained in Exhibit A to the 
First Amendment upon which STI hereby relies, complies with the provisions of the laws and regulations of United States of America, 
including but not limited to the pertinent SEC requirements.  

      5. FUNDING OF JOINT VENTURE . Section 12 of the Sino-Foreign Equity Joint Venture Contract dated as of December 8, 2007 
among BAOLI and Superconductor Investments (Mauritius) Ltd (the “ JV Contract ”) relating to BAOLI Superconductor Technology Co, Ltd 
(“ BSTC ”) is hereby amended to require the contributions of the parties be made not later than September 30, 2008; it being understood that 
the Effective Date under the STI Trademark and Technology License (when technology transfers can begin) is not until “ten days after the 
completion of the contribution to the capitalization of [BSTC] of [BAOLI] as contemplated by the [JV Contract].” Should BAOLI fail for any 
reason, including governmental decisions, to fully fund its contributions not later the date in the first sentence, (1) the Trademark and 
Technology License shall immediately terminate and neither BAOLI nor the BSTC shall have any rights to the technology or trademarks of 
STI, although both shall continue to bound by their obligations to maintain the confidentiality of all information provided by STI and its 
affiliates; (2) BAOLI shall be deemed to be in material breach under Article 15 of the JV Contract; (3) BSTC shall be immediately terminated 
and a liquidation application shall be submitted to the original Examination and Approval Authority for approval, with BAOLI agreeing to be 
responsible for promptly obtaining such approval and (4) STI and its affiliates shall be immediately relieved of all of its or their obligations 
under the JV Contract and the related Framework Agreement.  

      6.  TERMS AND EFFECT OF AMENDMENT . Except as amended by this Amendment, the Agreement remains in full force and effect. 
Terms used in this Amendment that are not defined in this Amendment shall have the same meaning given to such terms in the  

2  
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Agreement. Terms defined in this Amendment shall be applicable to the Agreement, as amended hereby.  

     7.  TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE. TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT. THERE WILL BE NO FURTHER 
EXTENSIONS OF TIME OF ANY LENGTH OF THESE DEADLINES  FOR ANY REASON, EVEN IF GOVERNMENTAL 
APPROVAL IS NOT RECEIVED BY BAOLI. BAOLI specifically agrees that, unless BOTH (1) the additional $2,000,000 deposit is 
actually RECEIVED by STI NO LATER THAN the date and time set forth in Section 1 AND (2) FULL payment is actually RECEIVED by 
STI NO LATER THAN the date and time set forth in Section 1, BAOLI will FORFEIT its entire deposit, which may be retained by STI 
without any further obligations to BAOLI. BAOLI acknowledges that (i) STI could have sold its stock at amounts far in excess of either the 
price in the Agreement of the current market price, but refrained form doing so based on BAOLI’s assurances that it would complete its 
obligations under the Agreement and (ii) STI will suffer significant damages as a results of any failure of BAOLI to complete the transactions 
contemplated by the Agreement. The parties have agreed that, under the circumstances, and in consideration of the additional extension of time 
for BAOLI to invest its money without increasing the price per share to reflect current market conditions, the current deposit is inadequate and 
that increasing it by an additional $2,000,000 to a total of $6,000,000 as contemplated by Section 1 is fair and reasonable in light of the 
repeated delays, and the significant benefits to BAOLI, and the risks to STI, of this extension. Accordingly, BAOLI agrees that STI retaining 
the full amount of its deposit in the event that either BAOLI fails to increase the deposit or fails to pay the full purchase price by the precise 
deadlines set forth above is fair and reasonable based on these and other factors.  

      IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties have executed this Amendment as of the date first written above.  
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SUPERCONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES INC.  
   
By:   /s/ JEFFREY QUIRAM   
Name:   Jeffrey Quiram   
Title:   President & CEO    
  

        
HUNCHUN BAOLI COMMUNICATIONS 
COMPANY., LTD  
  

  

By:   /s/ (SIGNATURE)     
Name:       
Title:       
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     1.  Grant of Proxy . Hunchun BaoLi Communication Co. Ltd. (“ BAOLI ”) hereby irrevocably appoints Superconductor Technologies Inc. 
a Delaware corporation (“ STI ”), as BAOLI’s sole and exclusive attorney and proxy, with fall power of substitution and resubstitution, to vote 
and exercise all voting, consent and similar rights (to the full extent that BAOLI would be entitled to do so) with respect to the Non Voting 
Shares (including, without limitation, the power to execute and deliver written consents) at every annual, special or adjourned meeting of 
shareholders of STI and in every written consent in lieu of such a meeting, with respect to the Non Voting Shares, in the same proportion (for, 
against and abstaining) as the votes of the shares of common stock of STI other than the Non Voting Shares. “ NON VOTING SHARES ” 
means 953,060 shares of common stock of STI beneficially owned by BOALI as of the date hereof whose certificate is being legended to refer 
to this Agreement, and any and all other shares or securities of STI issued or issuable in respect thereof on or after the date hereof.  

     2.  Agreement to Vote . In addition to the irrevocable proxy granted in Section 1, BAOLI agrees to vote the Non Voting Shares at regular 
and special meetings of stockholders (and by written consent) in accordance with any written instructions of STI. STI may disregard any 
purported vote or consent with respect to the Non Voting Shares which is not in accordance with this Agreement.  

     3.  Binding . This Proxy is irrevocable, is coupled with an interest and is granted pursuant to that certain agreement dated as of August 17, 
2007 and subsequently amended, between STI and BAOLI. The obligations of BAOLI shall be binding upon it and on and successors and 
assigns and any transferees of the Non Voting Shares, except that STI will cease to have the right to vote, and this Agreement will terminate 
with respect to any shares after BOALI provides STI with reasonably acceptable written evidence of a bona fide transfer of those shares 
(including, all voting rights) to a transferee which is not affiliated (i) with BOALI or (ii) with any other person or a “group” (within the 
meaning of Section S.3(d) of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934) of which such holder is or is deemed to be a part, “beneficially 
owns” (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934) more than 5% of the outstanding common stock of 
STL  

     4.  Enforcement . BAOLI acknowledges and agrees that STI will be irreparably damaged if any of the provisions of this Agreement are not 
performed by BAOLI in accordance with their specific terms or are otherwise breached. Accordingly, it is agreed that STI shall be entitled to 
an injunction without the necessity of posting a bond to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to specific enforcement of this Agreement and 
its terms and provisions in any action instituted in any court of the United States or any state having subject matter jurisdiction, in addition to 
any other remedy to which STI may be entitled at law or in equity. BAOLI hereby consents to personal jurisdiction in any such action brought 
in the United States District Court for the Central District of California or in any court of the State of California having subject matter 
jurisdiction. In any dispute arising out of, or relating to, this Agreement or its performance or breach, (including any dispute which is the 
subject of judicial, arbitration or administrative proceedings, including appeals), the prevailing party shall be entitled to and awarded, in 
addition to any other relief, its reasonable costs incurred, including reasonable attorneys’ fees.  

4  

          
  BAOLI COMMUNICATIONS CO. LTD  

    

  By:   /s/ (Signature)    
  Name:    
  Title:     
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Framework Agreement  

Pursuant to this Framework Agreement (the “Agreement”), effective as of November 8th, 2007 Hunchun BaoLi Communications Co. Ltd., a 
Chinese enterprise (“BaoLi Communications”), and Superconductor Technologies Inc., a Delaware corporation (“STI”), agree as follows:  

1. Organization of HBST. BaoLi Communications and STI (or such subsidiaries of STI as STI may designate) agree to establish the Hunchun 
BaoLi Superconductor Technology Co Ltd. (“HBST”) pursuant to the Sino-Foreign Equity Joint Venture Contact attached as Exhibit A and 
HBST and STI shall enter into a License Agreement in the form attached as Exhibit B (in each case, with any changes on which the parties 
mutually agree). STI may substitute its designated subsidiary or subsidiaries as parties to such Joint Venture Contract. BaoLi Communications 
will provide additional working capital to HBST as reasonable needed, without any dilution to the equity of STI without its consent and with 
the goal of minimizing any effect on HBST or the ownership interest of STI.  

2. Confidentiality. The parties each agree to comply with the relevant provisions of Exhibits A and B concerning the confidentiality of all 
information concerning HBST and the licensed technology. Any news releases related to this Agreement and the proposed formation of HBST 
is subject to the review and approval of both STI and BaoLi Communications, not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed, and subject to the 
requirement that each party comply with applicable law and regulations of any stock exchange.  

3. Governing law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed under the laws of the State of California, except for the conflict of laws 
provisions thereof and without reference to the Vienna Convention on the International Sale of Goods. Any disputes concerning this 
Agreement will be arbitrated according to the arbitration provisions of the Trademark License.  

4. Termination. This Agreement will terminate if the parties have not completed the formation HBST on or before January 31, 2008 and the 
parties will thereafter have no further obligations under this Agreement.  

In witness whereof, having ready, understood and agreed to the terms and conditions of this Framework Agreement, and with full authority to 
execute this Agreement on behalf of the respective Parties, the undersigned hereby execute this Agreement as of the date first above written.  

   

              
Superconductor Technologies Inc., a Delaware   Hunchan BaoLi Communications Co. 
Corporation   Ltd. a Chinese company 
               
By:   /s/ Jeffery Quiram   By:   /s/ (Signature) 
   

  
  

  
  

  
  

     Name: Jeffery Quiram       Name: 
     Title: President & CEO       Title: 



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 SINO -FOREIGN EQUITY JOINT VENT URE CONTRACT Between  Hunchun BaoLi Communication Co. Ltd And Superconductor Investments (Mauri tius) L imited December 8th 2007  



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 Chapter 1  General Principles Art icle 1 In accordance with  the stipulations o f the Law of the Peop le’s Republic of China on Chinese-Foreign Equity Joint Ventu res, the Regulat ions fo r the Implementat ion of the Law of the People ’s Repub lic of China on Chinese-Foreign Equity Joint Ventu res and other related laws and rules, Hunchun Bao li Communication Co., Ltd . (hereinafter referred to  as Party A ) from China and Superconductor Investments (Maurit ius) Limited (hereinafter referred to as Party B) from the Mauri tius  hereby  agree to form a Sino-Foreign Joint  Venture Company (hereinafter referred  to as “JV Company”), and  en ter into this con tract.  Art icle 2 Name of JV Company: The Chinese name of the JV Company is and the English name of the JV Company is “Baoli  Superconductor Techno logy Co., Ltd. ” Statu tory Address: Baol i Electronic Communication Industrial Park,  Hunchun City, Jil in Province, China “Baoli  Superconductor Techno logy Co., Ltd. “0 Article 3 Company  Name, Statutory Address, and Legal Representat ive of the two  part ies to  the JV Company are as follows: Party A: Hunchun Baoli Communication Co., Ltd. Statuto ry Address: Baoli E lectronic Communicat ion Industrial Park, Hunchun  City, J ilin  Province, China Legal 
Represen tative: Mr. Yi Zhang , Chairman, Chinese Nat ionali ty Party B: Superconductor Investments (Maurit ius) Limited , a wholly owned subsid iary  of Superconductor Techno logies, Inc. Statu tory Address: 1” Floor, Felix House, 24 Dr. Joseph Riviere Street, Port Louis, Mauri tius  Legal Representative: Mr. Jeff Quiram, Pres ident, President and Ch ief E xecut ive Officer of Superconductor Technologies and lead director and designated legal represen tative for Superconductor Investments (Maurit ius) Limited. 2/28 



   



   

  

   

EXHIBIT 10.24 Article 4 The JV Company shal l be a limited l iabil ity company. Article 5  The JV Company has the status of a legal person and  is subject to  the jurisdiction and protection of Chinese laws concerned . All the act ivit ies of the JV Company shal l be governed by the laws, decrees, pertinent rules and  regulat ions of the People’s Repub lic of China. 3/28 





   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 Chapter 2  Art icle 6 Purpose of the N Company: With Party B’s superconducto r wave -fi ltering techno logy,  the JV Company aims to produce and market h igh temperatu re superconductor wave-fi ltering equipment in an effo rt  to tap  the market for telecommunication  equipment. and reap satisfactory economic benefits for the two  part ies of the JV Company. Article 7 Business Scope of the JV Company: to design, produce and market high temperature superconductor wave-fi ltering system and  equipment (Party B’s SuperLink Product) and provide related technology  support  and services. Article 8 Production Scale of the JV Company: In the in itial operation phase, i t is  planned that the JV Company wil l produce 500 units  for the first year, 1,500 units for the second year, and 5,000 uni ts for the third year. The Parties  may decide to expand  the production scale of the JV Company later. Article 9 The Parties p lan that the JV Company w ill sel l i ts products to the domestic and in ternat ional market in the fol lowing proportions: The first year: 20% o f Product production  by the JV Company is expected  to be so ld to HK and Macao and 80% to the domestic market;  The second year: 30% of Product p roduction  by the JV Company is  expected to be so ld to  HK and 
Macao and 70% to the domest ic market; The third year:  50% of Product p roduction  by the JV Company is  expected to be sold to  HK and Macao  and 50% to the domestic market. A dditional Product product ion by the JV  Company may be sold to STI or its des ignees in  the international market at any time. Actual  sales by the JV Company  shall be decided by the JV Company’s Board o f Directors.  Market ing channel, method and  responsibili ty shal l be allocated as follows: The Company JV shall be responsible for marketing in  China (including HK and Macao, bu t not Taiwan) Party B shall  retain all rights in Taiwan and the international  market exclusive o f China. 4 /28 



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 5/28 



   



   

  

   

EXHIBIT 10.24 Chapter 3  Total Amount of Investment and the Registered Capital Article 10  The total  amount of investment o f the JV Company shall be thirty mill ion US do llars ($30,000,000 .00) and the regis tered capital  of the JV Company  shall  be twenty -five point  five mi llion US dollars ($25,500,000.00). ($25,500,000.00 ), Art icle 11 Cap ital Contribution to be made by the two parties of the JV Company shal l be as follows: Party A: to invest fourteen mill ion and twen ty -five thousand US dollars ($14 ,025,000.00), which includes: Cash  $7,012,500.00 US dollars Mechanical Equipment worth void U S do llars Workshop worth $2,000,000.00  US dollars Land Use Right worth  $5,012 ,500.00 US dollars Industrial Property Right worth void US dol lars Others worth void  US dollars Party B: to invest eleven mill ion and  four hundred and seventy-five thousand US dollars ($11 ,475,000.00), which includes: Cash  void  US dollars Mechanical Equ ipment worth void US dol lars Intellectual Property Rights worth  $11,475,000 US do llars Others w orth void US dollars Art icle 12 Two part ies of the JV  Company shal l effect their capital  con tribut ion within the following  time l imits:  All capital  will  be contribu ted in two years  in accordance with Ch inese applicable laws. 6/28 





   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 Article 13 When a capital  con tribut ion is effected, the JV Company shal l issue a certificate for capi tal contribution on cond ition that such contribution has been verified by a cert ified accoun tant appointed by the JV Company . The main con tent of such certificate shall  be: Name of JV Company, Date of Establ ishment, Two Parties o f the JV Company and  Respective Capital Contribution and the respective equ ity ratio, Date of Con tribut ion and  Date o f Issue. Such  certificate shall  be signed  by the Chairman, and affixed with the corporate chop of the JV Company. However, the non-issuance of such cert ificate shall not affect the Parties ’ rights  as shareho lders of the JV  Company. Article 14 During the Joint Ventu re period,  the JV Company  shall not reduce the amount of the registered capital. However, in case o f severe difficult ies, registered cap ital reduction may be appl ied for to the original approval authority and implemented  after obtaining such approval. Article 15 Any increase or decrease in regis tered capital of the JV Company  must be agreed by  both part ies. Any such increase or decrease shal l be approved by the original  approval authori ty and regis tered with the original regis tration  authority. If any  Party fails  to make i ts capital  increase 
con tribut ion after both  Parties have agreed to such capital  increase, the other Party may at its discretion: (a) give the failing Party a ninety (90 ) days’ prior written notice, and contribute all o r part of the short fall  amount not con tributed  by the failing Party if no con tribut ion is made by the fai ling Party upon expiry o f the said no tice period, whereupon both Part ies ’ shareholding  percentages in  the JV Company shall  be ad justed so as to  be in proport ion to the regis tered capital of the Company actually contribu ted by each  of them respectively, and the number of Directors appoin ted by each  Party to the Board  of Directors shall , without changing the total number of Directors of the Company , be reduced or increased accordingly to match to the fulles t extent each Party ’s then shareholding percentage in the JV Company; or (b ) treat such fai lure as a material  breach of th is Contract by the fai ling  Party. Both  Parties agree to execute al l such documents  and take all such  steps as required to legally  effect  ei ther of the above opt ions taken by the non-fail ing Party in  good faith . 7/28 



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 Article 16 If one party transfers i ts capital con tribut ion o r any  interest in the JV Company, either partially or total ly, i t shal l not ify the other party  in writ ten form thirty (30 ) days in advance. The details  of the conditions of the transfer shall  be speci fied  in the notice, such as the amount and the price of registered cap ital to be transferred, and the brief descript ion of the proposed transferee.  No transfer may occur w ithou t the approval of both part ies. The non  transferring  party shall  have the preemptive right to  purchase the interest to be transferred, or, together with  the transferring party, to transfer a similar portion of its interest on  the same terms, in which  case the non-transferring party  shall reduce its portion of the interest to be transferred  and shall  cause the transferee to accept the transfer by the non-transferring party  on the same terms as those applied to the transferring party . 8/28  



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 Chapter4 Board of Directors Article 17 The JV Company shall  have Board of Directors with the highest authority  over the JV Company . Article 18 T he Board of Directors shal l consist of five (5) directors, of which th ree (3) directors shall  be appointed  by Party A and two  (2) directors by Party B. The term of office fo r the directors is  four (4 ) years un less sooner removed  by the Party with the corresponding power of appointment, and may be renewed by that Party. Art icle 19 The Board of Directors shall  have one director designated as Chairman by Party  A and one director designated as Vice Chairman by Party  B. Art icle 20 When any party o f the JV Company  appoints or replaces a director, a writ ten not ice shal l be submit ted to the Board of Directors,  and  it shall also noti fy the other party.  Art icle 21 The Board of Directors shall  convene one regular meet ing every year. An interim meeting may be convened based on  a proposal made by more than one third o f all  the directors. A rt icle 22 The Board  meeting shall be held at  the principal  business location of the JV Company unless otherwise agreed by  the Directors. Article 23 The Chairman shall convene and preside at any Board Meet ings. Should the Chairman be unable to attend the Board  meet ing,  
the Vice Chairman shall convene and p reside at the Board meeting. 9 /28 



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 Article 24 The Chairman shall issue a written notice th irty (30) days before the date of any Board meeting. The not ice shal l cover the agenda, time and place o f the meeting . The agenda may only be changed  with the consent o f all  of the directors. A rt icle 25 Should a director be unable to at tend the Board  meeting , he may entrust another person (including  another director) to attend on his  behalf, provided that a written  proxy signed by the non-attending  director must be presen ted to the Board. Article 26 The Board meet ing requires a quorum of over two  thirds of the to tal number o f the directors (in person  or by proxy) and  at least one Director appointed by  each of Party  A and Party  B attends. Each Director shall have one (1 ) vote. When the quorum is  not present, any purported decis ions adopted by the Board meeting are invalid . Article 27 Detai led written records shal l be made for each Board  meeting and  signed by all the at tended directors or by  the attended proxy. The record shall be made in Ch inese and in English and shal l be filed by a special ly -ass igned person  by the Board. Each  director shall be given a copy of such  minutes and resolu tions. No one shall amend or destroy the record during the Jo int Venture term. Article 28 Directors are en tit led 
to attend Board meetings via telephone, video  con ferencing or other electronic means, provided  that a quorum is  present and that each attendee can speak to each o ther at tendee at the same time. In lieu o f a Board meeting , reso lutions in writing signed in  person or via facs imi le by all  of the Directors of the JV Company shal l have the same force and effect as if such resolutions had been passed at a duly constituted and convened meeting of the Board of Directors. 10/28 



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 Article 29 As for the following issues, unanimous approval by the Board shall  be required: 29.1 amendment to the articles of associat ion o f the JV Company  29.2 the termination and dissolution of the JV Company 29.3  ad justment to the registered capital o f the JV Company  29.4 merger, break  up or reorgan izat ion o f the JV Company 29.5 transfer of reg istered capital by one or several parties  29.6 mortgage or pledge of regis tered capital  by one or several parties to its  creditor 29.7 sel l, exchange or otherwise d ispose of al l or substantial ly all  of the JV Company’s assets, other than in  the ordinary course of the JV Company ’s business; 29.8 l icense all  or any substantial  portion of the JV Company ’s intel lectual property;  29.9 acquire or sell  equ ity interests in other enti ties o r be a promoter, incorporator, general  partner,  limited partner, owner of any other ent ity, except wholly  owned subsidiaries;  29.10  au thorize any sale, acquisi tion , mortgage, p ledge, or other disposi tion of any asset of the JV Company, which would materially impair or change the conduct of the o rd inary  business of the JV Company. 29.11 authorize any activity or the JV Company  en tity commitment where the considerat ion to be paid by the JV  Company enti ty is  in excess of or as a 
resul t of which  the JV Company en tity may become obl igated, d irectly or ind irectly, for an amount in excess of o r that would otherwise cause the JV Company enti ty to incur liab ility in excess o f $500,000 (or as specifical ly pre-authorized or delegated by a unanimous vote of the Board of Directors, or is a line i tem in  the budget prev iously approved by  the Board o f Directors in the manner set forth herein), 29.12  au thorize any act ivity that is ou tside the ordinary course of the JV Company ’s business; 29.13 incur indebtedness in excess of $1,000,000 in the aggregate; 29.14 pledge or otherwise encumber any assets of the JV Company; 29.15 purchase, take, receive, lease or otherwise acqu ire, own, hold, improve, use and o therw ise deal in o r w ith real property or any interest in  real property ; 29.16 indemnify an owner, Director or any other person  except pursuant to an agreement approved by bo th of the parties ; 29.17 enter into any transaction  with an owner o f the JV Company  or an  affiliate of any owner; 29.18 sell any  product at a gross margin of less than  30%; 29.19 change ti le principal accounting firm o r auditor of the JV Company; 29.20 material ly deviate from the JV Company’s business plan ; and 29.21 knowingly do any act in  contraven tion  of the Joint Venture 
Agreement or the JV Company ’s art icles of association. 11 /28 



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 Article 30 As for the following issues, approval by over two thirds of all the Board of Directors shall be required: 30.1 decide annual business principle, business plan (including  proportion of sale in  domest ic and international markets) and budget and development p lan; 30 .2 exam and approve annual financial  budget, final  accounts and annual financial  statement or increases in expenditures from the approved budget by  more than 10%; 30.3  exam and approve the annual business report  submitted  by the general manager; 30.4  decide annual profit sharing scheme of the JV Company; 30.5 final ize labor contract and  rules and regulations of the JV Company; 30.6 decide capital  dep loyment and loan limit;  30.7 appo int and dismiss general manager, deputy general manager and other sen ior administrative personnel recommended by the general  manager and  decide their salary package; 30.8 formu late the welfare system for staff and workers of the JV Company in accordance with the relevant regulat ions of China; and 30 .9 decide the organization structure of the JV Company and increase or remove subord inate functional  departments.  30.10 decide bank  account opening  and  sign ing p rocedures. 12 /28 



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 Article 31 Directo rs  who do  not hold positions in the Joint  Ven ture Company shall  not be compensated by the Joint Ventu re Company . All costs related to Board meetings shal l be borne by the JV Company.  13/28 



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 Chapter 5  Bus iness Management Organization Art icle 32 The JV Company shal l establish a management organizat ion/system under which there shal l have production, technology, Human Resource, Finance and  Administrat ion Departments (subject to actual condit ions of the JV Company). Article 33 T he JV Company shall have one general  manager and  one deputy  general manager appoin ted by the Board. The inaugural  general manager shal l be appointed by Party A and inaugural deputy  general manager shal l be appoin ted by Party B. Unless otherwise agreed by the parties, successors shall  also be appointed by  the party orig inally  appointed such officer. Art icle 34 The general  manager shall be responsible to the Board  of Directors  directly, carry  out the reso lutions o f the Board of Directors and organ ize the dai ly work  on product ion, techno logy and  management of the JV Company. T he deputy general manager shall ass ist  the general manager and perform the funct ion o f the general manager should the general manager be absent. Art icle 35 Decisions on  importan t matters  concerning JV Company ’s daily  work require join t signatures from the general manager as wel l as the deputy general manager and such matters  requ iring joint  signatures shall be 
speci fied  by the Board of Directors. When dealing with  other significant issues no t requiring  join t approval, the General Manager shall  consult with the Deputy General Manager. Article 36 The term of office fo r general manager and deputy general manager is  four (4) years and may be renewed by the Board o f Directors.  Art icle 37 14 /28 



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 At the invi tation of the Board o f Directors,  the Chairman, Vice Chairman and Directors of the Board  may concurrent ly be the general manager, deputy general manager and other sen ior staffs of the JV Company. Art icle 38 The general manager o r deputy general manager of the JV Company shall  not hold posit ions concurrently as general manager or deputy general  manager o f o ther economic organizations and shal l not engage in act ivi ties of other economic organizations on commercial  competit ion w ith the JV Company.  Art icle 39 The JV Company shal l have one Chief Engineer, one Chief Accoun tant and one Audito r appointed by the Board  of Directors. Article 40  The Chief Engineer, Chief Accountant and Auditor shall  be under the leadership o f the general manager. The Chief Accountant shall supervise account ing issues,  carry out overall  economic check and perfo rm economic responsibi lity  system. The Auditor shal l conduct internal audit , check and verify financial  income and spending , account ing s tatement, and  fi le report  to the general manager as well as the Board of Directors. Art icle 41 The general  manager, deputy general manager, chief engineer, chief accountant, aud itor and o ther senior administrat ive personnel who ask for res ignation 
shall submit their wri tten reports to the Board  of Directors thirty (30) days before their resignat ion. In case any of the above-mentioned  persons practice graft  or be seriously derel ict of duty, they may be dismissed  at any time upon the decision  of the Board, and  if such conduct violates the criminal  law, they may bear legal responsib ilit ies. 15 /28 



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 Chapter 6  Finance and Account ing Article 42 The finance and  account ing o f the JV Company shall be hand led in accordance with all appl icab le law and regulations. Article 43 The fiscal year o f the JV Company  shall be calendar year from January 1  to December 31, and the fi rs t fiscal year shall start from the JV Company’s date of establishment til l the end o f that calendar year. Article 44 All vouchers,  account ing books, accounting statements and reports  shall be wri tten in Ch inese and can put English notes if requested by other parties . Article 45.  The JV Company shall adop t Renminb i (RMB) as its accounts keeping uni t. The conversion of RMB into other cu rrency shall  be in accordance with the exchange rate o f the convert ing day published by the Foreign Exchange Trad ing Center authorized by the People’s Bank of China. Article 46 The JV Company shal l open accounts  in RMB and foreign currency w ith Bank of China or other banks approved by  the Board. Bank signature procedures shall be approved by the Board . Article 47 The JV Company shal l adopt internationally used accrual basis  and debit  and credit  account ing system. The JV Company  will  operate so as to permit Party B to comp ly with its reporting obligations under United States 
public company reporting  requ irements in a manner which enables the JV Company to produce financial in fo rmation that is to be prov ided to Party B within 25  days of the end  of any calendar financial quarter. The JV Company wil l choose an audit partner and accoun tant approved by  both  part ies. The chosen accounting partner will  work closely  with  Party B’s audit  fi rm (Stonefield Josephson) and i ts Hong Kong  office. The JV Company wi ll cooperate as necessary in the preparat ion 16 /28 



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 of such financial reports  and other comp liance issues of Company B, and its books and records will  be subject to quarterly audit by the part ies and open at al l times for reasonab le review by each party and  its agents. Article 48  The account ing books of the JV Company  shall include the fol low conten ts: 48.1 all amount of income and payment in  cash of the JV Company  48.2 s ituations concerning  sale and purchas ing the materials o f the JV Company 48.3 si tuations concern ing regis tered capital  and debt of the JV Company 48.4 si tuations concern ing date of settlement,  increase and transfer of the registered cap ital o f the JV Company A rt icle 49 In the fi rst three months o f each  fiscal  year, the Finance Department shall p repare the prev ious fiscal  year’s balance sheet, profit and loss statement and  cashflow statement, and prepare proposal regarding the disposal of profits  which should be examined and signed by the aud itor, then submit to the Board of Directors. Article 50 The two parties  of the JV Company have the right to invite an aud itor to  undertake annual financial check and examination at his own expense.  The JV Company shall cooperate in all  reasonable ways for the check and  examination. Article 51 The depreciation period for the fixed  assets of 
the JV Company  shall be decided by the Board  of Directors  in accordance with applicable law and regulat ions. 17/28 



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 Article 52 All matters  concerning foreign exchange shall be handled in  accordance with applicable law and  regu lations as well as the stipulations in  the Joint Venture Contract. 18 /28 



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 Chapter 7  Profit  Sharing  Article 53 T he JV Company shal l allocate the reserve fund, the expans ion fund  and the bonuses welfare fund fo r s taff and workers after payment of taxes and in accordance with law. The proportion  of al location  shall be decided by the Board  of Directo rs . Article 54 Unless o therwise agreed and s tipu lated by the Board of Directors, after paying the taxes in accordance with law and drawing  various funds, the p ro fi ts in net wil l be distribu ted according to the proportion of each party ’s investment in the regis tered capital.  Art icle 55 The JV Company shal l distribu te its profi ts once a year.  The profit distribution plan and amount o f p ro fi t to  be distributed to each party shall be reported to the Board within the first  three months following each fiscal year.  Art icle 56 The JV Company shal l not dis tribute i ts profi ts in  case the losses in the p revious years have not been made up. Profi ts no t yet distributed in the previous year shal l be allocated to  the exist ing fiscal year. 19/28 



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 Chapter 8  Staff and Workers Article 57 The employment, dismissal, resignation  of the staff and workers of the JV Company and their salary , welfare, labor insurance, labor pro tect ion, labor discip line and o ther matters shal l be handled accord ing to applicable law and regulat ions. Article 58 T he recru itmen t of the s taff and workers o f the JV Company shall be conducted  by the JV Company publicly  in open channels . Article 59 The JV Company has the right to take discipl inary actions, such as warning, demeri t recording and salary reducing against those staff and workers who v iolate the rules and regulations of the JV Company and labor discipl ines. The JV Company’s labor pract ices shall  be in comp liance with law. Article 60 The salary treatment of the staff and workers shal l be set by the Board  of Directors  according to the speci fic situat ion o f the JV Company  with reference to the regulat ions issued by the Government, and shal l be specified in detail in the labor contract. T he salary of the staff and workers shall  be increased correspondent ly with the development o f p roduction  and the progress o f the worker’s abili ty and technology. Art icle 61 Matters  concerning welfare, bonus, labor insurance and  labor protection shall  be stipulated in  ru les and 
regulat ions of the JV Company to ensure that the staff and workers go  in for production and work  under normal cond ition. 20/28 



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 Chapter 9  The Trade Union Organization Article 62 T he staff and workers of the JV Company  have the right to establ ish trade un ion o rganization and carry out activi ties in accordance with the stipulation of the Trade Union Law of the People’s Repub lic of China. Article 63 Trade union activ ities  and the JV Company’s deal ings with  the trade union  shall  be in comp liance with law . Article 64 The JV Company shall annually allocate a total of 2% of all salaries o f the staff and  workers  of the JV Company as trade union’s funds which shall  be used by  trade union in accordance with the Management Rules for the Trade Union Funds fo rmulated by  All China Federation of Trade Union . 21/28 



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 Chapter 10 Durat ion,  Termination and Liquidation of the Joint Venture Art icle 65 The duration of the JV Company is thirty (30) years . The establishment of the JV Company shall  start from the date on which  the bus iness l icense of the JV Company  is issued. Art icle 66 A writ ten application for the extension of the durat ion unan imously p roposed by  two parties of the JV Company  and embodied in the reso lution of the Board of Directors shall  be submitted  to the relevant foreign  investment authority s ix months prior to the expiry date of the Join t Venture Contract. The duration shall  ex tend upon  approval and shal l file for amendment to regis trat ion information with the relevan t company registration  au thority. Article 67 With the agreement between bo th parties on the termination which should be pursuing  the best benefits for the parties, the JV Company  shall be terminated in  advance of its term expiry . In this case, the decision  fo r the termination shal l be made by the plenary meeting  of the Board of Directo rs  and file for approval from the relevant fo reign  investment approval authority. Article 68 The JV Company and  tins  Join t Venture Contract shall  be terminated at the option of either Party if any of the fol lowing occurs, and a liquidation application 
shall be submitted to the original Examination  and Approval Au thority for approval: (a) one party materially breaches th is Joint Venture Contract, and such breach (if capab le of being rectified) is  not rectified within  60 days of being no tified by  the other party;  (b ) nei ther Party intends or is able to continue the bus iness cooperation; (c) the Company has suffered losses for a consecut ive period o f 3  years, causing the JV Company to  be inso lvent;  (d ) the Join t Venture Term expires and no resolut ion on  the extension of the term is approved by the Board ; or (e) the Board resolves to terminate the JV Company  fo r any  other reason. 22/28 



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 Article 69 Upon the expirat ion o f the durat ion or termination of the JV Company, a liquidation committee for liquidat ing the assets of the JV Company shal l be establ ished in accordance w ith all  applicable law. Article 70 The tasks of the liquidat ion committee are: to  conduct thorough check of the property of the JV Company , its  claims and  indebtedness; to  work out the statement of assets and  liabil ities  and lis t of property;  to formulate liquidation plan w hich shall  be carried out upon the approval of the Board of Directors. Article 71 During the liquidation period, the liquidation committee shal l handle l itigat ion matters on behalf of the JV Company. Art icle 72 The remuneration  for the members o f the liqu idation committee shall  have the priority to be effected from ex isting property of the JV Company . Article 73 T he liquidation  committee shall  revalue the assets of the JV Company based on depreciated book value with reference to current value. Article 74 T he remain ing property  after the clearance of debts of the JV Company  shall be al lotted  according to two  part ies’ con tribut ion to the registered capital of the JV Company . 23/28 



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 Article 75 On complet ion o f the liqu idation, the JV  Company shal l submit  a l iquidation  report  to the foreign investment approval authority , go through the formal ities  fo r nulli fying i ts regis trat ion relevant company reg istration authori ty and hand  in i ts business license, at the same time, make an announcement to  the publ ic. After winding up o f the JV Company , its  account ing books shall be kept in the care o f its Chinese party . Article 76 If either party b reaches this  Join t Venture Contract, it  shall be l iable for all direct economic losses suffered by  the other party as a result  of such breach.  If bo th parties are at  fau lt, their respective liabil ity shall be p roportional  to their faul t. 24/28 



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 Chapter 11 Ru les and Regu lations Article 77  Following are the ru les and regulations to  be fo rmulated by  the Board o f Directo rs  of the JV Company; 77.1 Management regulat ions,  including powers and funct ions of the management branches and i ts work ing rules and  procedures; 77.2 Rules for the staff and  workers ; 77.3  System of labor and  salary ; 77.4 System of work  at tendance record , promotion  and  awards and  punishment fo r the staff and  workers ; 77.5  Detai led rules o f staff and w orkers ’ welfare; 77.6  Finance system; 77.7 Liquidation procedures upon the dissolution  of the JV Company; 77 .8 Other necessary ru les and regulations. 25 /28 



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 Chapter 12 0 Supplementary Art icles Article 78  The amendment to the Joint  Ven ture Con tract shall be unan imously agreed  and decided by the Board of Directors and submitted to the orig inal examin ing and approving authority  fo r approval. Article 79 T he Joint  Venture Contract shall be written in  Chinese and in English. Both languages are of equal validity. In even ts of any d iscrepancy between the two aforementioned versions, the Ch inese vers ion shall prevail. Art icle 80 The Joint  Ven ture Con tract shall come into effect upon the approval by the relevant foreign investment approval authority . Article 81 The Parties shal l use reasonable efforts to resolve and settle amicably through consu ltations any dispute, con troversy or claim (a “Dispute”). If any Dispute is not settled amicab ly th rough consu ltations within  one hundred twenty (120) days of one Party ’s receipt  of the other Party ’s not ice of a Dispute, then  any Party involved in the Dispu te may elect to submit such Dispu te to arbitration, in  which event such  Dispu te shall be exclusively and  finally settled by bind ing arbit ration in Singapore under the auspices o f the Singapore In ternat ional Arbi trat ion Centre, by a sole arbi trator. The arb itration  proceedings shal l be conducted in the Eng lish  language, 
and  al l documentation  to be reviewed by the arbit rator or submitted by the Part ies shall  be in the English language. The arbi trat ion tribunal shall apply the Arbit rat ion Rules o f the United N at ions Commission  on International  Trade Law in effect  at the t ime of the arbit ration. However, if such ru les are in  conflict wi th the p rovisions here set forth, including the p rovisions concern ing the appointment o f the arbi trator, these provisions shall  prevai l. 26/28 



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 During  arbi trat ion, the Parties shall perform this Joint  Ven ture Con tract to the ful lest extent poss ible, except for the matter o r matters in  dispute. The arb itrator shal l render a writ ten decision  in English stating their reasons fo r their decision  with in twelve (12 ) months of the request for arbit ration, and such  award shal l be final and binding upon the Part ies without any  right o f review o r appeal. Any compensation shal l be calcu lated and paid in United  States Dollars i f to be paid to Party B. The Conven tion  on the Recognition and En fo rcement o f Foreign A rbi tral Awards (also known as the “New York  Conven tion ”) shall apply to this  Join t. Venture Contract. and to  any  arbi tral award o r o rder result ing from any arbi tration conducted hereunder. Judgment upon  the award rendered  by the arbit rator may be entered in any court o f record of competent jurisdiction  in any coun try, or appl icat ion may  be made to such  court  for judicial  acceptance o f the award and an order of enforcement, as  the law of such  jurisdiction  may require or allow. The Parties agree that the award of the arbitral t ribunal shall be the sole and exclusive remedy  among them regarding any and all  claims and  counterclaims presented to the tribunal. The Parties further agree that this arb itration 
clause is an explici t waiver of any immun ity o r defense that may apply  against the enforcement and execution of any arbitral award  or any judgment thereon.  The substantially prevailing Party in an arb itration proceeding shall  be en tit led, in add ition to such other relief as  may be granted, to recover its attorneys ’ fees and costs, and the o ther Party shall pay all  costs of the arbi tration . The arbi trator shall  determine which of the Parties  has substantial ly prevailed based upon an assessment of which  Party’s major arguments or pos itions taken in the p roceedings could fairly be said to have p revailed over the other Party ’s major arguments or pos itions on major disputed  issues. Article 82 Th is contract is governed by and construed in  accordance with Chinese law. 27/28 



   



   

  
EXHIBIT 10.24 Ai1icle 83 This  contract is executed in  Shenzhen, China by the authorized represen tatives o f the part ies on December 8th,  2007. A uthorized representat ive of Hunchun  Baoli  Communicat ion Co., Ltd. (Party A) Signature: Date: Authorized representative of Superconductor Investments (Mauritius) Limited (Party B) Signature: Date: 28/28 



   



   



   

EXHIBIT 10.25 

Form of Technology and Trademark License Agreement  

Superconductor Technologies Inc., a Delaware corporation Superconductor Investments (Mauritius) Ltd (“ STI ”) and BAOLI 
Superconductor Technology Co, Ltd , a technologically-advanced contractual joint venture in the People’s Republic of China (“ BSTC ”), 
make this License of Technology and Trademark Agreement (“ License Agreement ”) as of                  , 2007. Certain capitalized terms are 
defined in Schedule A—Definitions.  

Recitals  

A. Hunchun BaoLi Communications Co. Ltd., a Chinese enterprise (“ BaoLi Communications ”) and STI have established BSTC as a 
technologically-advanced contractual joint venture, within the territory, and under the laws, of the People’s Republic of China to manufacture, 
market and sell the Product in the Territory and to manufacture the Product for export from the Territory by sale to STI and its designees.  

B. STI makes this License Agreement with BSTC: (a) to enable it (i) to manufacture the Product in the Territory so that BSTC may market and 
sell such Product in the Territory and (ii) to manufacture the Product for export from the Territory by sale to STI and its designees pursuant to 
that certain Export Supply Agreement entered into by and between the parties (the “Export Supply Agreement”); and, (b) to use certain marks 
of STI in connection with the foregoing.  

Now therefore , in consideration of the promises herein, and for good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency and receipt of which is 
hereby acknowledged, and intending to be legally bound, the parties hereby agree as follows:  

1. Grant of Technology License  
As of the Effective Date, STI grants to BSTC, subject to the limitations of this License Agreement, an exclusive license, for a term of thirty 
years (subject to earlier termination as provided herein), without any right to sub-license, to use the Technology within the Territory solely to 
the extent needed to make, reproduce, and manufacture, the Product: (i) to market, sell, and offer for sale such Product solely for use within the 
Territory, in every instance only for Qualified Uses, and (ii) to sell such Product to STI and its designees for use outside the Territory pursuant 
to the terms of the Export Supply Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, BSTC expressly agrees that this license to use the Technology shall 
not serve to restrict in any manner STI’s exercise of rights with regard to the Technology outside the Territory. As an express condition of this 
license, BSTC shall not have the right to modify or create derivative works of the Technology without the express permission of STI, nor to use 
the Technology to make, reproduce, manufacture, market, sell, or offer for sale any products other than the Product. All rights not expressly 
granted herein regarding the Technology are reserved to STI.  

2. Grant of Trademark License  
As of the Effective Date, STI grants to BSTC, subject to the limitations of this License Agreement, an exclusive, royalty-free license, 
coterminous with the license of Section 1, without any right to sub-license, to use the Licensed Trademarks only in connection with the 
manufacture, sale and service of the Product within the Territory, in each case only for Qualified Uses and only as the Product is permitted to 
be manufactured, sold and serviced in conformity with the license granted in Section 1.  
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3. Related Services  
3.1 Transition Assistance During the first year after the Effective Date, (i) STI will supply BSTC with kits for up to 500 units of the Product, 
priced at direct material and labor cost plus 20%, as reasonably requested by BSTC on not less than 90 days’ notice and (ii) STI will provide 
reasonable consulting support to BSTC’s efforts in assembling the kits and acquiring and/or building the specialty equipment and fixtures 
necessary to manufacture the Product in accordance with the training plan attached to this Agreement as Schedule E—Training Plan. BSTC 
will pay for all costs required to send its technical staff to STI to be trained; as well as the expenses (living and travel costs within the Territory) 
of any STI staff while within the Territory. STI will pay for any travel costs to get its personnel to the Territory as required by the training plan. 
STI may sell any excess equipment and fixtures it may have to BSTC as mutually agreed.  

3.2 Manufacturing arrangements  
If STI determines that it wishes to have the Product made in China, upon STI’s request from time to time, BSTC will manufacture the Product 
for sale by STI outside the Territory, priced to STI at direct material and labor cost plus 20%.  

The parties acknowledge that certain aspects of the manufacturing process may be retained by STI based on factors including economics, 
feasibility and regulatory climate. To the extent consistent with compliance with any prohibitions as to export of pertinent technology, STI will 
sell to BSTC, priced to BSTC at direct material and labor cost plus 20%, any components as to which it retains the manufacturing process.  

4. Royalties; payment terms  
4.1 Royalties  
In consideration, and as a condition to the continuance, of the license granted under Section 1, BSTC shall timely pay STI royalties equal to the 
greater of (i) 7% of Revenues for the corresponding quarter or (ii) any applicable Minimum Royalty for the corresponding quarter. No payment 
of Minimum Royalty hereunder is creditable towards royalty due for future quarters.  

4.2 Reporting; payment  
During the term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years thereafter, BSTC shall keep and maintain all books of account relating to 
Revenue reasonably needed to support the calculation of royalties under this Agreement at its principal offices, in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting practices as observed in the United States. Within 15 days after the end of each calendar quarter, BSTC shall render a 
Royalty Statement to STI. BSTC shall pay to STI the royalty due for each calendar quarter within 15 days after the end of each calendar quarter 
by wire transfer in United States Dollars in readily available funds to an account designated by STI in the United States or such other place as 
STI may identify.  

STI may audit the books and records of BSTC relating to the calculation of any Royalty Statement. BSTC shall pay all costs and expenses of 
any audit if it shows an underpayment in connection with any such Royalty Statement by more than 5%.  

4.3 Taxes  
In the event that BSTC is required by the laws of the People’s Republic of China to withhold or deduct any taxes, levies, fees, imposts, duties 
or similar charges (“Local Taxes”) from any payments hereunder to STI, or in the event that payments by BSTC to STI hereunder are otherwise 
subject to Local Taxes (in each case other than the national withholding tax on Chinese-source royalties paid to nonresidents of China that is 
currently imposed under Chinese domestic law (the “Withholding  
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Tax”), but only to the extent that the Withholding Tax does not exceed a rate of 10%) then BSTC will pay such additional amounts to STI as 
shall be necessary in order that the net amounts received by STI, after withholding, deduction or payment of such Local Taxes, equal the 
amounts that would otherwise have been receivable by STI pursuant to this License Agreement in the absence of such Local Taxes.  

5. Ownership matters  
5.1 Technology  
As between the parties, STI retains all title, and (except as expressly granted in this License Agreement) all rights and interest in and to the 
Technology and any and all portions thereof. BSTC hereby grants to STI a perpetual royalty-free license, with right to sublicense, to all rights, 
title and interest in and to any BSTC Technology, which license shall be non-exclusive for the Territory and exclusive outside the Territory. 
STI consents to the grant by BSTC to BaoLi Communications of a perpetual, non-exclusive royalty-free license for the Territory to all rights, 
title and interest in and to any BSTC Technology.  

5.2 Licensed Trademarks  
All right, title and interest in and to the Licensed Trademarks, other than the specific rights granted to BSTC in this License Agreement, are 
retained by STI for its own use or license to others. BSTC recognizes the value of the goodwill associated with the Licensed Trademarks and 
acknowledges that (as between the parties) such goodwill belongs exclusively to STI. BSTC agrees that (i) it will not assert any interest or 
property rights in any rights included in the Licensed Trademarks other than the license set forth herein; (ii) all permitted uses of the Licensed 
Trademarks by BSTC shall inure to the benefit of and be on behalf of STI; and (iii) nothing in this License Agreement shall give BSTC any 
interest in the Licensed Trademarks other than the right to use the Licensed Trademarks in accordance with this License Agreement. BSTC 
shall not attack, directly or indirectly, the validity of the Licensed Trademarks or STI’s title in or to the Licensed Trademarks. BSTC will not 
modify, enhance, or create a derivative work of the Licensed Trademarks (“ Junior Marks ”) without the prior written consent of STI, and STI 
will own all right, title and interest in and to the Junior Marks, including all intellectual property rights therein. BSTC irrevocably transfers and 
assigns to STI, and agrees to irrevocably transfer and assign to STI, all right, title and interest in and to the Junior Marks, including all 
intellectual property rights therein. At STI’s request and expense, during and after the term of this License Agreement, BSTC will assist and 
cooperate with STI in all respects (and will cause its employees and subcontractors to assist and cooperate with STI in all respects), and will 
execute documents (and will cause its employees and subcontractors to execute documents), and will take such further acts reasonably 
requested by STI to enable STI to acquire, perfect, maintain and enforce STI’s intellectual property rights in and to the Junior Marks. BSTC 
hereby appoints the officers of STI as BSTC’s attorney-in-fact to execute documents on behalf of BSTC and its employees and subcontractors 
for this limited purpose. BSTC also, on behalf of itself and its employees and subcontractors, irrevocably transfers and assigns to STI, and 
agrees to irrevocably transfer and assign to STI, and waives and agrees never to assert, any and all moral rights that BSTC or its employees or 
subcontractors may have in or with respect to the Junior Marks, even after termination of the licenses granted by this License Agreement. 
BSTC will not register, nor attempt to register, any trade name, domain name, service mark, or trademark which, in whole or in part, 
incorporates or is confusingly similar to the Licensed Trademarks.  

5.3 Clearances  
BSTC will be responsible for verifying that its use of any patent rights, trademark rights or other intellectual property rights related to the 
manufacture, marketing or sale of the Product in the  
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Territory, including the Technology and the Licensed Trademarks, does not violate intellectual property rights of any other person.  

5.4 Filings; costs  
BSTC agrees to assist STI: (i) in recording this License Agreement with appropriate government authorities where such recording is required 
by law or regulation or where such recording is permitted or desired by STI; and, (ii) in applying in the name of STI for patents and/or 
trademarks on all or any of the Technology or the Licensed Trademarks in the Territory. BSTC shall not apply for any patents on the 
Technology without the prior written consent of STI. All costs associated with recording this License Agreement, the licenses granted herein 
and registering, maintaining, or renewing rights in and to the Technology or Licensed Trademarks in the Territory shall be borne by BSTC.  

5.5 Infringements  
If, at any time, BSTC learns that another party is or may be making unauthorized use of the Licensed Trademarks or the Technology, BSTC 
agrees to give STI prompt notice of that infringement. STI, at its option and for its own account, may take actions with respect to any such 
infringement and any other infringements, and BSTC agrees to cooperate with STI (at the sole expense of STI) in connection with any action 
taken by STI with respect to infringements.  

5.6 Use  
During the term of this License Agreement, BSTC agrees sufficiently to use and employ the Licensed Marks so as to maintain and preserve the 
legal validity and enforceability of the Licensed Marks in the Territory.  

5.7 Quality Control  
(i) Maintenance of Quality . BSTC agrees that its manufacture of the Product and its marketing and service thereof will be of high quality and 
at least of the quality offered by STI at the time that this License Agreement is entered. BSTC agrees that it will maintain the same level of 
quality for its manufacture of the Product and its marketing and service thereof throughout the term of this License Agreement and throughout 
any renewals thereof.  

(ii)  Investigation . STI may periodically request samples of marketing materials showing use of the Licensed Trademarks to view how BSTC 
is using the Licensed Trademarks. BSTC shall comply with all reasonable instructions given by STI to BSTC as to the use of the Licensed 
Trademarks. STI will have the right to access BSTC’s premises during normal business hours on reasonable advance notice for the purpose of 
inspecting the facilities used by BSTC in connection with the manufacturing, marketing and service of the Product associated with the Licensed 
Trademarks in order to ensure the quality thereof.  

6. Competition  
6.1 Direct or indirect competition  
During the term of this License Agreement, except as permitted hereunder BSTC will not directly or indirectly promote market or sell any 
products in or outside the Territory which compete directly or indirectly with any STI products, nor will it assist any other person in doing so.  

6.2 Notification of opportunities  
If STI learns of any opportunity for marketing the Product within the Territory, it will promptly notify BSTC, and if BSTC learns of any 
opportunity for marketing the Product outside the Territory, it will promptly notify STI.  
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7. Compliance with Law  
7.1 Export  
BSTC agrees to comply strictly with any and all laws and regulations of the United States applicable to the transfer of Technology and 
Products, whether by sale, lease, license, technical assistance, or any other means of distribution. Without limitation, in no case may BSTC 
transfer any Technology or Products in any manner or to any party in violation of the Export Administration Regulations (15 CFR Parts 730—
774.1) or the regulations of the Office of Foreign Assets Control, U.S. Treasury Department (31 CFR Parts 500—598), or other U.S. 
Government agency with jurisdiction of same. BSTC shall be responsible for obtaining any and all U.S. Governmental approvals of such 
transfers, with the reasonable assistance of STI. This Agreement, and the license in Section 1, shall not grant any license to any technology to 
the extent that such licensing is prohibited by any applicable laws, regulations or other US government policies.  

7.2 Civilian Use Only  
None of the Technology transferred to BSTC by STI will be applied to or in any other way used by BSTC to design or manufacture any 
Product for use in a military environment or by a military end-user. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, no Product designed or 
manufactured by BSTC will be sold or otherwise distributed, directly or indirectly, to any “entity” identified by the U.S. Government in 
Part 744 of the Export Administration Regulations, or to any customer who is classified as a “military end user” by the U.S. Government 
without the express advance approval by the U.S. Government.  

7.3 Law; Foreign Corrupt Practices Act  
BSTC agrees to comply with all laws, statutes, regulations, rules, ordinances, orders, or other legal requirements, including, but not limited to 
the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, and Chinese law covering a similar subject matter, and to obtain and maintain all licenses and permits 
required to perform its obligations hereunder. BSTC acknowledges that the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, and Chinese law covering a 
similar subject matter, specifically prohibits employees or agents or consultants of Chinese or United States corporations and their domestic 
and foreign subsidiaries from offering or making payments (whether made in China, the United States or elsewhere) to employees or agents of 
foreign governments (or government controlled entities) for the purpose of influencing official acts or decisions. Payments or offers of payment 
intended for government officials disguised as compensation to agents, consultant fees and the like violate the law as much as direct payments 
and are not to be made. BSTC agrees that: (i) no undisclosed or unrecorded account, fund, or assets of the other shall be established by it for 
any purpose nor shall any account, fund, or assets of either be held in the name of another entity or person; (ii) no false, misleading, or artificial 
entries shall be made in the books and records of either by the other for any reason and no arrangement that results in such entries or in any 
arrangement that omits to make entries that properly should be made; (iii) no payment from funds of either shall be approved or made by the 
other with the intention or understanding that any part of such payment is to be used for any purpose other than that described by the 
documents supporting such payment; and (iv) all payments of any nature made by either on behalf of the other will be properly identified and 
recorded by it, and be made only in accord with the provisions of valid purchase orders, subcontracts, blanket orders, and written sales agency 
or consulting agreements and that full value will be received for each such payment. BSTC further agrees to adopt and apply the compliance 
procedures applicable thereto reasonably approved by Licensor and to conduct employee training and to audit business transactions in a manner 
and at such times appropriate to ensure compliance with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar laws and regulations of such other 
countries.  
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8. Default and termination  
8.1 Causes of termination  
The licenses granted by Section 1 and 2 shall terminate if an Event of Default has occurred as provided in Section 8.2 and any non-defaulting 
party elects to terminate such licenses. Such licenses shall also terminate on the termination of the BSTC joint venture. The election by a party 
to terminate such licensees shall not be the exclusive remedy, and such party shall retain any and all remedies available under law, equity, or 
this License Agreement.  

8.2 Events of Default  
The occurrence of any of the following events shall constitute an Event of Default on the part of the party in respect of which such event 
occurs (the “ Defaulting Party ”):  

8.3 Effect of termination; remedies  
The termination under Section 8.2 of the licenses granted by Sections 1 and 2 shall not relieve any party from its other obligations hereunder, 
including any liability for past breaches.  

9. Indemnification  
9.1 Indemnification by STI  
STI will defend, indemnify and hold harmless BSTC and its officers, directors, employees, shareholders, customers, agents, and permitted 
successors and assigns from and against any and all loss, damage, settlement or expense (including legal expenses), as incurred, resulting from 
or arising out of (i) any breach of this License Agreement by STI or (ii) any third-party claim based on Product sold by STI or its assignees 
outside the Territory, other than claims arising in conjunction with a breach by BSTC of its obligations pursuant to this License Agreement.  

9.2 Indemnity by BSTC  
BSTC will defend, indemnify and hold harmless STI and its officers, directors, employees, shareholders, customers, agents, and permitted 
successors and assigns from and against any and all loss, damage, settlement or expense (including legal expenses), as incurred, resulting from 
or arising out of (i) any breach of this License Agreement by BSTC or (ii) any third-party claim based on Product sold by BSTC or its 
assignees, or any other activities of BSTC, whether in connection with the Licensed Trademarks or otherwise, other than claims arising in 
conjunction with a breach by STI of its obligations pursuant to this License Agreement.  
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(i)   any material default in performance of, or any material failure to comply with, this License Agreement or any other agreements, obligations 
or undertakings of such party to the other party, and the continuation of such default for thirty (30) days following notice of such default 
from the other party; 

(ii)   the incorrectness in any material respect of any representation or warranty contained in this License Agreement or in any certificate or 
document delivered hereunder; 

(iii)   the institution by a party of proceedings of any nature under any laws, whether now existing or subsequently enacted or amended, for the 
relief of debtors wherein such party is seeking relief as debtor; 

(iv)   a general assignment by a party for the benefit of creditors, the admission by a party in writing of its inability to pay its debts as they 
mature, or the institution by a party of a proceeding under any provision of bankruptcy or insolvency law as now existing or hereafter 
amended or becoming effective; or 

(v)   the appointment of a receiver for a party or a substantial portion of its assets which appointment is not vacated within sixty (60) days after 
the filing thereof. 
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9.3 Procedure  

10. Confidentiality  
10.1 Obligations  
Each party agrees that (a) except as provided in Section 10.3, it shall maintain the confidential nature of any Confidential Information received 
from the other party, and (b) it shall use such Confidential Information solely for the purpose of meeting its obligations under this License 
Agreement and not in connection with any other business or activity. At the termination of the licenses granted under Sections 1 and 2, or any 
time upon demand of a disclosing party, each of the parties agrees to return any and all materials containing any Confidential Information.  

10.2 Limitations on confidentiality obligations and use restrictions  
The restrictions on use and the obligations of confidentiality contained in this License Agreement will not apply to any item or combination of 
items of information (a) that the receiving party can demonstrate (i) is then in the public domain by acts not attributable to such party, (ii) is 
disclosed to a third party on an unrestricted basis by the party to whom it belonged, (iii) is hereafter received on an unrestricted basis by the 
receiving party from a third party source who to the receiving party’s knowledge after due inquiry is not and was not bound by confidentiality 
obligations to the disclosing party, or (iv) was known to the receiving party as shown by its written records prior to the date of disclosure 
hereunder.  

10.3 Actions if disclosure required  
If the receiving party is requested pursuant to, or required by, applicable law or regulation or by legal process to make any disclosure otherwise 
prohibited hereunder, it shall provide the disclosing party with prompt notice of such requests or requirements prior to disclosure so that (a) the 
disclosing party (with the reasonable cooperation of the receiving party) may seek an appropriate protective order or other remedy and/or 
(b) the parties can seek in good faith to agree on the appropriate scope and approach to disclosure. If a protective order or other remedy is not 
obtained, the receiving party may furnish only that portion of the Confidential Information which, in the written opinion of counsel addressed 
to the disclosing party, it is legally compelled to disclose and shall use its reasonable efforts to obtain confidential treatment for the 
Confidential Information.  
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(i)   Notice . Promptly upon receipt by an indemnified party of a notice of a claim by a third party that may give rise to a claim hereunder, the 
indemnified party shall give written notice thereof to the indemnifying party, although failure to do so shall not affect the right to 
indemnification except to the extent of actual prejudice. 

  

(ii)   Control of defense . The indemnified party shall allow the indemnifying party to assume control of the defense of any such action brought 
by a third party so long as such defense will be conducted by reputable attorneys retained by the indemnifying party at the indemnifying 
party’s cost and expense and the indemnifying party agrees to be solely responsible for satisfying the claim. The indemnified party will 
have the right to participate in such proceedings and to be separately represented by attorneys of its own choosing at its own expense. 

  

(iii)   Effect . The indemnifying party may contest or settle any third party claim on such terms as the indemnifying party may choose; however, 
the indemnifying party will not have the right, without the indemnified party’s written consent, to settle any such claim if such settlement 
(i) arises from or is part of any criminal action, suit or proceeding, (ii) contains an admission of wrongdoing on the part of the indemnified 
party, or (iii) provides for injunctive relief which is binding on the indemnified party or limits its use of the Licensed Trademarks. 
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10.4 Injunctions  
The parties agree that remedies at law may be inadequate to protect against breach of this Article 10, and hereby agree to the granting of 
injunctive relief without proof of actual damage or requirement for posting of a bond.  

11. General  
11.1 Relationship of parties  
Nothing contained in this License Agreement will be construed as creating any agency, partnership, or other form of joint enterprise between 
the parties. The relationship between the parties will at all times be that of independent contractors. Neither party will have authority to contract 
for or bind the other in any manner whatsoever. This License Agreement confers no rights upon either party except those expressly granted 
herein.  

11.2 Authority  
Each party represents that it has full corporate power and authority to enter into this License Agreement and comply with the terms and 
conditions hereof, and that the person signing this License Agreement on behalf of such party has been properly authorized and empowered to 
enter into this License Agreement.  

11.3 Warranty disclaimer  
STI does not warrant that the Product or the Technology will meet the needs of BSTC. STI warrants that any Product or component 
manufactured and delivered to BSTC by STI will, when delivered, conform to the documentation and specifications provided by STI. STI will 
replace any such STI Product that STI provides to BSTC and that is defective, upon request by BSTC made within thirty days after delivery of 
the defective item and upon return of the defective item. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN THIS SECTION 11.3, STI MAKES NO 
WARRANTIES TO ANY PERSON OR ENTITY, EXPRESS, IMPLIED, STATUTORY OR OTHERWISE, REGARDING THE SUBJECT 
MATTER OF THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT. STI SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF 
MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, NOR ARE THERE ANY WARRANTIES CREATED BY A 
COURSE OF DEALING, COURSE OF PERFORMANCE OR TRADE USAGE. STI DOES NOT WARRANT THAT THE PRODUCT 
WILL MEET BSTC’S OR ANY CUSTOMER’S NEEDS OR BE FREE FROM ERRORS, OR THAT THE OPERATION OF THE 
PRODUCT WILL BE UNINTERRUPTED. THE FOREGOING EXCLUSIONS AND DISCLAIMERS ARE AN ESSENTIAL PART OF 
THIS AGREEMENT AND FORMED THE BASIS FOR DETERMINING THE ROYALTIES ASSESSED HEREUNDER.  

11.4 Limitation of damages  
STI’s liability for damages from any cause of action whatsoever, including liability for any claim of infringement of proprietary rights will not 
exceed the value of its ownership interest in BSTC. In no event will STI be liable for lost profits or other incidental or consequential damages 
of BaoLi Communications or of BSTC under any circumstances whatsoever, even if advised of the possibility of such damages.  

11.5 Governing law  
This License Agreement and all disputes arising out of or related to this License Agreement, or the performance, enforcement, breach or 
termination hereof, and any remedies relating thereto, will be construed, governed, interpreted and applied in accordance with the laws of 
California, without regard to conflict of laws principles. Except (i) with reference to enforcement of the obligations of Section 10, (ii) with 
reference to enforcement of any final judgment duly obtained, and (iii) as  
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provided in this Section 11.5 and Section 11.6, the sole jurisdiction and venue for actions related to the subject matter hereof will be state and 
federal courts in Los Angeles, California and each of the parties hereto submits itself to this exclusive jurisdiction and venue of such courts for 
the purpose of such action. Each party acknowledges that its breach of this License Agreement may cause irreparable injury to the other for 
which monetary damages may not be an adequate remedy. Accordingly, and without prejudice from the dispute resolution mechanisms of 
Section 11.6, a party in the event of such a breach by the other will be entitled without the requirement for posting of any bond to seek 
injunctions or other equitable remedy in any jurisdiction through which the potential for irreparable injury may be mitigated or prevented.  

11.6 Arbitration of disputes  

Confidential 
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(i)   The parties shall use reasonable efforts to resolve and settle amicably through consultations any dispute, controversy or claim (a 
“Dispute”) arising out of or in connection with this License Agreement or its validity, interpretation, performance, breach or 
enforceability. 

  

(ii)   If any Dispute is not settled amicably through consultations within one hundred twenty (120) days of one party’s receipt of the other 
party’s notice of a Dispute, then any party involved in the Dispute may elect to submit such Dispute to arbitration, in which event such 
Dispute shall be exclusively and finally settled by binding arbitration in Singapore under the auspices of the Singapore International 
Arbitration Centre through a sole arbitrator. 

  

(iii)   The arbitration proceedings shall be conducted in the English language, and all documentation to be reviewed by the arbitrator or 
submitted by the parties shall be in the English language. The arbitration tribunal shall apply the Arbitration Rules of the United Nations 
Commission on International Trade Law in effect at the time of the arbitration. However, if such rules are in conflict with the provisions 
here set forth, including the provisions concerning the appointment of the arbitrator, the provisions here set forth shall prevail. 

  

(iv)   During arbitration, the parties shall perform this License Agreement to the fullest extent possible, except for the matter or matters in 
dispute. 

  

(v)   The arbitrator shall render a written decision in English stating its reasons for its decision within twelve (12) months of the request for 
arbitration, and such award shall be final and binding upon the parties without any right of review or appeal. Any compensation shall be 
calculated and paid in United States Dollars. 

  

(vi)   The Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Arbitral Awards (also known as the “New York Convention”) shall 
apply to this License Agreement and to any arbitral award or order resulting from any arbitration conducted hereunder. Judgment upon 
the award rendered by the arbitrator may be entered in any court of record of competent jurisdiction in any country, or application may be 
made to such court for judicial acceptance of the award and an order of enforcement, as the law of such jurisdiction may require or allow. 
The parties agree that the award of the arbitral tribunal shall be the sole and exclusive remedy among them regarding any and all claims 
and counterclaims presented to the tribunal. The parties further agree that this arbitration clause is an explicit waiver of any immunity or 
defense that may apply against the enforcement and execution of any arbitral award or any judgment thereon. 

  

(vii)   The substantially prevailing party in an arbitration proceeding shall be entitled, in addition to such other relief as may be granted, to 
recover its attorneys’ fees and costs, and the other party shall pay all costs of the arbitration. The arbitrator shall determine which of the 
parties has substantially prevailed based upon an assessment of which party’s major arguments or positions 
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taken in the proceedings could fairly be said to have prevailed over the other party’s major arguments or positions on major disputed 
issues.  

11.7 Attorneys fees  
If the services of an attorney are required by any party to secure the performance of this License Agreement or otherwise upon the breach or 
default of another party to this License Agreement, or if any judicial remedy or arbitration is necessary to enforce or interpret any provision of 
this License Agreement or the rights and duties of any person in relation thereto, the prevailing party shall be entitled to reasonable attorneys’ 
fees, costs and other expenses, in addition to any other relief to which such party may be entitled. Any award of damages following judicial 
remedy or arbitration as a result of the breach of this License Agreement or any of its provisions shall include an award of prejudgment interest 
from the date of the breach at the maximum amount of interest allowed by law.  

11.8 Assignment; transfer  
This License Agreement and the rights and obligations hereunder are not transferable or assignable without the prior written consent of the 
parties hereto, except that a person or entity who acquires all or substantially all of the assets or business of STI, whether by sale, merger or 
otherwise will have the right to assume all the rights and obligations of STI hereunder.  

11.9 Notices  
All notices will be in writing and sent by express courier (with written acknowledgment of receipt), to the following addresses, or such other 
address as either party may provide under this Section 11.9:  

 

 
11.10 Integration; severability  
This License Agreement and all schedules, exhibits and attachments hereto constitute the entire agreement between the parties concerning the 
subject matter hereof. This License Agreement replaces and supersedes any prior verbal or written understandings, communications, or 
representations between the parties with respect to its subject matter. If any provision of this License Agreement will be held to be illegal or 
unenforceable, that provision will be limited or eliminated to the minimum extent necessary so that this License Agreement will otherwise 
remain in full force and effect and enforceable.  

11.11 Construction; headings  
Unless the context otherwise requires, the term including means “including but not limited to.” The section headings herein are provided for 
ease of reference only and will have no legal effect. This Agreement has been negotiated by the parties, which have had reasonable access to 
legal counsel. This Agreement will be fairly interpreted in accordance with its terms, without any construction in favor of or against either party 
as a result of having drafted any particular provision.  
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To BSTC:  

   
Jilin Province  
People’s Republic of China  

Attention:                       

To STI:  

Superconductor Technologies Inc. (STI)  
460 Ward Drive  
Santa Barbara, CA 93111|  
USA  

Attention: Chief Executive Officer  
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11.12 Amendments; waivers; counterparts  
This License Agreement may be amended or modified only with the prior written consent of both parties. The failure by a party to exercise any 
rights hereunder will not operate as a waiver of such party’s right or any other right in the future. This License Agreement may be executed in 
counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original.  

In witness whereof , each of the parties has caused this License Agreement to be executed as of the date first written above by its duly 
authorized officer.  
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Superconductor Investments (Mauritius)   BAOLI Superconductor Technology Co, 
LTD, a Delaware corporation   Ltd , a technologically-advanced contractual joint 
        venture within the territory of the People’s 
        Republic of China 
               
By:       By:     
   

  
  

  
  

  
  

     Name:       Name: 
     Title:       Title: 



   

EXHIBIT 10.25 

Schedule A– Definitions  

“ BaoLi Communications ” means BAOLI Superconductor Technology Co, Ltd ., a Chinese enterprise.  

“ Confidential Information ” means all oral, written or recorded information about or related to the party (or any of its subsidiaries or other 
affiliates) or its or their technology, assets, liabilities, or business, which is furnished by its officers, directors, employees, agents or controlling 
persons, whether furnished before or after the date hereof, and regardless of the manner in which it is furnished, together with any summaries, 
extracts, analyses, compilations, studies or other documents or records prepared by the receiving party which contain, reflect or are generated 
from such information, regardless of whether explicitly identified as confidential. Confidential Information also includes the Proprietary 
Information and the Technology. For purpose of clarification, the Licensed Trademarks are not Confidential Information.  

“ Documentation ” means any documentation or materials including reference, user, installation, systems administrator and technical guides 
relating to the use of the Technology.  

“ Effective Date ” means the date ten days after the completion of the contribution to the capitalization of BSTC of BaoLi Communications as 
contemplated by the Joint Venture Contract between BaoLi Communications and STI dated December 8, 2007.  

“ BSTC Technology ” means inventions or proprietary information that BSTC accomplishes or creates or to which BSTC acquires rights, 
other than the Technology.  

“ BSTC ” means Huichun BaoLi Superconductor Technology Co Ltd, a technologically-advanced contractual joint venture in the People’s 
Republic of China.  

“ Junior Marks ” is defined in Section 5.2.  

“ Licensed Trademarks ” means the marks identified on Schedule D—Description of Licensed Trademarks.  

“ Minimum Royalty ” means (x) zero in each calendar quarter through December 31, 2009 and (y) $250,000 per quarter in each calendar 
quarter thereafter.  

“ Product ” means STI’s proprietary, cryogenic front-end receiver product to improve the performance of base stations in wireless 
telecommunication networks, more fully described as follows:  

The Product is comprised of (i) a fixed frequency filter that passes the signals received from cell phone handsets and rejects other frequencies 
and (ii) an amplifier that increases the level of the signals that pass through the filter and adds very little noise in the process.  

The filter is made using high temperature superconductor material, and because of the proprieties of this material, the filter can select 
frequencies to pass that are only slightly different than the frequencies that are rejected. This selectivity allows for example 849MHz to pass the 
filter, but 851MHz to be rejected, so that less than one millionth of the power leaks through the filter at that frequency.  

The amplifier is a cryogenically-cooled, low-noise radio-frequency amplifier. All amplifiers add some electronic noise to the signal that is 
amplified, but because the Product’s amplifier is cooled to -320F, the electronic noise that it adds to the desired signal is minimized.  
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The Product’s use is limited to serving cellular base stations. Typically cellular base stations use six separate antennas to receive the signals for 
cell phones, so each unit of the Product has six filters and six amplifiers.  

The filters and amplifiers are mounted in a small enclosure (called a micro-enclosure) which is then placed inside a larger enclosure (called a 
dewar). The dewar is then evacuated to provide thermal isolation between the cryo-cooled micro-enclosure and the ambient environment. A 
cooler is then attached to the dewar to achieve the low temperatures necessary for the high temperature superconductor to work. A control 
board is added to monitor and control the functions of the unit.  

The Product will have each of two specific forms:  

1) For use in the 850MHz CDMA cellular network, the only variation in the Product from that heretofore implemented in the United States is 
an optimization of the filter (China uses only a sub-set of the frequencies used by the United States so an optimum design would narrow the 
filter used in STI’s SuperLink product), and a minor modification of the power supply.  

2) For use in the TD-SCDMA network that is planned to operate in the 2,000MHz band, the only variation in the Product from that heretofore 
implemented in the United States is a modification to operate at 2,000MHz.  

“ Proprietary Information ” means all information of STI that is not generally known to the public, whether of a technical, business or other 
nature (including trade secrets, know-how and information relating to the technology, customers, business plans, marketing activities, finances 
and other business affairs of STI), that is disclosed by STI to BSTC in written, oral, electronic and/or other form or that is otherwise learned by 
BSTC in the course of its discussions or dealings with, or its physical or electronic access to the premises of, STI, and that has been identified 
as being proprietary and/or confidential or that by the nature of the circumstances surrounding the disclosure or receipt should reasonably be 
construed as proprietary or confidential. Proprietary Information also includes (a) all information concerning the existence and progress of the 
parties’ dealings and the identity of STI’s vendors and strategic partners and (b) the existence of, and the data generated by, field trials 
involving STI’s products.  

“ Qualified Uses ” of the Product means use by commercial and civilian telecommunications industry customers and shall expressly not 
include military use of any type or nature, whether direct or indirect.  

“ Revenues ” means (a) gross revenues of BSTC or any successor or assign received or earned from sales of the Product either (i) using any 
Technology or (ii) associated with any Licensed Trademarks less (b) sales commissions paid to any unaffiliated third party and less 
(c) discounts and allowances to customers on such revenues and less (d) related shipping and taxes on revenues, but excluding (e) revenues and 
sales commissions on (i) the first 500 units of Product built during the initial development period from the kits provided by STI as 
contemplated herein and (ii) any sales from BSTC to STI or its designees.  

“ Royalty Statement ” means a statement in English setting forth the Revenues during such quarterly period and a calculation of royalty due 
for the period.  

“ Technology ” means (a) the Proprietary Information pertinent to the technology described on Schedule B—Description of Proprietary 
Information included in the Technology included in the Technology, together with the Documentation, delivered by STI to BSTC 
(b) corrections, updates, upgrades, enhancements, releases, fixes, new versions or other improvements of, modifications to, and derivative 
works of, such technology, Proprietary Information and Documentation developed  
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by BSTC, and (c) the inventions object of the patents issued in China and patent filings made in China that are identified on Schedule C—
Patents and Patent Applications, but only to the extent of their embodiment in the Product and solely for the purpose of manufacture and sale of 
the Product as permitted by this License Agreement. The Technology does not include any technology pertinent to certain aspects of the 
manufacturing process retained by STI based on factors including economics, feasibility and regulatory climate. The Technology does not 
include any technology the licensing or transfer of which is prohibited by any United States laws, regulations or governmental policies. If any 
technology otherwise licensed hereunder is excluded by reason of such laws, regulations or policies and not addressed through STI’s retention 
of aspects of the manufacturing process, STI will use reasonable efforts to obtain any required United States approval to include it in the 
Technology.  

“ Territory ” means The People’s Republic of China, including its Special Administrative Regions of Hong Kong and Macau, but excluding 
Taiwan.  
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Schedule B– Description of Proprietary Information included in the Technology  

A. Proprietary Information pertinent to the manufacture of the Product includes information relative to the following:  

1. Facility/factory layout  
(a) locations and specifications for areas such as material receiving, inspection, material storage, assembly, test and shipping  
(b) facility specifications such as electrical power requirements, liquid nitrogen plumbing, chilled water flow rates and clean room class 
specifications  
(c) process flow descriptions using commercially available methodology for production planning such as Value Stream Mapping and Just In 
Time methods  

2. Purchasing and procurement for precision mechanical and electronic parts  
(a) disclosure of known vendors to produce parts and equipment, such as electrical RF connectors, RF switches, vacuum test equipment, circuit 
boards, hermitic seals, and precision machining  

3. Final assembly and test  
(a) final assembly and testing of RF filter assemblies using commercially available electrical test equipment  
(b) routinization of assembly steps so as not to require special methods or techniques such as screw drivers, torque wrenches, etc.  
(c) test equipment including noise figure meter, S-Parameter network analyzer, digital power meters, personal computers, and Agilent VEE or 
Lab View and Microsoft SQL software  
(d) Electrical testing including RF filter performance, system operating temperatures, and electrical power consumption at several different 
temperature conditions found in a typical indoor controlled environment  

4. Cooler assembly  
(a) assembly of an enclosed cooler assembly using ultrasonic cleaning equipment, sand blasting, commercially available vacuum bake oven and 
epoxy curing ovens, TIG welding equipment, pressure testing, commercial vacuum leak tester, custom test equipment using commercially 
available components, temperature monitor, network analyzer (mechanical frequency tuning), and Lab View and Microsoft SQL software  

5. Micro Enclosure  
(a) assembly of a mechanical/electrical assembly using ultrasonic cleaning equipment, mechanical hardware, Miyachi wire soldering 
equipment, Kulicke & Saffa (K&S) gold wire ball bonder, and spot welding  
(b) further elements of assembly including RF testing using S-Parameter network analyzer, digital power meter, personal computer, and Lab 
View and Microsoft SQL software  

6. Dewar  
(a) assembly of a mechanical vacuum housing with ultrasonic cleaning, LN2 handling, mechanical hardware, TIG welding, and commercially 
available vacuum leak tester.  
(b) evacuating during assembly an enclosed housing with custom automated vacuum equipment which consists of commercial available ON-
BOARD cryogenic vacuum pump and a Direct Logic 205 controller system  
(c) RF testing using noise figure meter, S-Parameter network analyzer, digital power meter, personal computers, and Lab View and Microsoft 
SQL software  
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B. Proprietary Information pertinent to the cryogenic cooling technology to cool the filters and amplifiers in the Product includes information 
relative to the following:  

There are two areas of application of the cryogenic cooling technology in the Product: the cooler and the Dewar.  

The cooler works by moving a piston back and forth with an electro magnet: the piston pushes helium gas back and forth driving a displacer. 
The displacer expands cold gas in one spot and compresses hot gas in another spot, pumping heat away from the cryogenic end. Proprietary 
technology is used to ensure that there is no friction as the piston and displacer move back and forth about sixty times per second. The 
cryogenic end of the cooler cools the filter and amplifier to a temperature of -320F, while the heat reject end of the cooler stays just a few 
degrees above ambient. Proprietary technology is employed throughout the cooler to enable it to work correctly over an extended lifetime with 
a low failure rate.  

The Dewar works by reducing the heat flow. The Dewar reduces all the three sources of heat flow: convection, conduction, and radiation. 
Convection is eliminated by maintaining a vacuum between cold and ambient parts. The high vacuum is maintained for years using proprietary 
technology. Conduction is reduced using proprietary technology to connect the cold and ambient parts together. Finally radiation is reduced 
with the careful choice of features and surfaces, using proprietary technology.  

Confidential 
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Schedule C– Patents and Patent Applications  

Issued Patents in China  

Pending Patent Applications in China  

Confidential 
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Patent No   Title   Inventors   Docket   Filing Date   Serial No   Issue Date   Description 

ZL01808625.X  

  

Stirling Cycle  
Cryocooler with  
Optimized Cold End  
Design   

Hanes 

  

OMM 0164 

  

16-Apr-01 

  

01808625.X 

  

16-Feb-05 

  

STI’s 
current 
cooler 
design 

                          
Serial No   Title   Docket   Inventors   Filing Date   Status   Description 

3804170.7  

  

Method and Apparatus for 
Minimizing Intermodulation 
With an Asymmetric 
Resonator   

MNG 0056 

  

Ye 

  

19-Feb-03 

  

published 

  

  

                           
3805589.9  

  

Resonator and Coupling 
Method and Apparatus for a 
Microstrip Filter   

MNG 0057 

  

Ye 

  

10-Mar-03 

  

published 

  

  

                           
200480036124.X  

  

Cryocooler Cold-end 
Assembly Apparatus and 
Method   

MNG 0063 

  

O’Baid, 
Hanes 

  

23-Jun-06 

  

published 

  

deep drawn 
housing 

                           
200480035702.8  

  
Growth of In-situ Thin Films 
by Reactive Evaporation   

OMM 0349 
  

Moeckly, 
Ruby   

08-May-06 
  

published 
  

RCE 

                           
20058004737  

  

RF-Properties-Optimized 
Compositions of (RE)
Ba2Cu3O7-d Thin Film 
Superconductors 

  

OMM 0365 

  

Moeckly, 
Willemsen, 
 
Peng, 
Gilantsev   

23-Jun-07 

  

pending 

  

substitution 

                           
PCT/US2005/042867 

  

Systems and Methods for 
Tuning Filters 

  

WAK 0004 

  

Tsuzuki, 
Hernandez, 
 
Willemsen   

30-Jul-07 

  

pending 

  

our 
“omnibus” 
tuning 
application 
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Schedule D– Description of Licensed Trademarks  

Schedule E- Training Plan  
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Trademark   Serial No.     Filing Date     Registration Date     Country 
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SUBSIDIARIES OF SUPERCONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES INC.  

Conductus, Inc., a Delaware corporation  
STI Investments Limited, a British Virgin Islands company  
Superconductor Investments (Mauritius) Limited, a Mauritius company  
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING  FIRM  

     We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (File Nos. 333-50137, 333-90293, 333-
56606, 333-89184, 333-102147, 333-105193, 333-106594 and 333-126121) and the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (File Nos. 333-
65035, 333-48540, 333-71958, 333-84914, 333-99033, 333-102186, 333-106589, 333-111818, 333-117107 and 333-148115) of 
Superconductor Technologies Inc. of our report dated March 27, 2008 relating to the consolidated financial statements and financial statement 
schedule, which appears in this Form 10-K.  

/s/ STONEFIELD JOSEPHSON, INC.  

Los Angeles, California  
March 27, 2008  
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING  FIRM  

     We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (File Nos. 333-50137, 333-90293, 333-
56606, 333-89184, 333-102147, 333-105193, 333-106594 and 333-126121) and the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (File Nos. 333-
65035, 333-48540, 333-71958, 333-84914, 333-99033, 333-102186, 333-106589, 333-111818, 333-117107 and 333-148115) of 
Superconductor Technologies Inc. of our report dated March 3, 2006 except for the reverse stock split discussed in note 2, as to which the date 
is March 13, 2006, relating to the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule, which appears in this Form 10-K.  

/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP  

Los Angeles, California  
March 27, 2008  
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Statement Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 by  
Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer  

Regarding Facts and Circumstances Relating to Exchange Act Filings  

Date: March 27, 2008  

   

    I, Jeffrey A. Quiram, certify that: 
  

1.   I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Superconductor Technologies Inc.; 
  

2.   Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report; 

  

3.   Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

  

4.   The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have: 

  a)   designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to 
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

  

  b)   Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

  

  c)   Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; 

  

  d)   Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; 

5.   The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions): 

  a)   all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

  

  b)   any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting. 

          
            /s/ Jeffrey A. Quiram     
  Jeffrey A. Quiram    
  President and Chief Executive Officer    
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Statement Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 by  
Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer  

Regarding Facts and Circumstances Relating to Exchange Act Filings  

Date: March 27, 2008  

   

    I, William J. Buchanan, certify that: 
  

1.   I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Superconductor Technologies Inc.; 
  

2.   Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report; 

  

3.   Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

  

4.   The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have: 

  a)   designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to 
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

  

  b)   Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

  

  c)   Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; 

  

  d)   Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; 

5.   The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions): 

  a)   all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

  

  b)   any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting. 

          
            /s/ William J. Buchanan     
  William J. Buchanan    

  
Controller, Principal Financial Officer,  
Principal Accounting Officer    
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Statement Pursuant to Section 906 the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  
By  

Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer  
Regarding Facts and Circumstances Relating to Exchange Act Filings  

Dated: March 27, 2008  

     I, Jeffrey A. Quiram, Chief Executive Officer of Superconductor Technologies Inc, herby certify that, to my knowledge, that:  

     1. the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of Superconductor Technologies for the annual period ended December 31, 2007 (the 
“Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended; and  

     2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 
Superconductor Technologies Inc.  

     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Statement as of the date first written above.  

   

          
      
            /s/ Jeffrey A. Quiram     
  Jeffrey A. Quiram    
  President and Chief Executive Officer    
  



   



   

EXHIBIT 32.2 

Statement Pursuant to Section 906 the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  
By  

Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer  
Regarding Facts and Circumstances Relating to Exchange Act Filings  

Dated: March 27, 2008  

     I, William J. Buchanan, Controller of Superconductor Technologies Inc, herby certify that, to my knowledge, that:  

     1. the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of Superconductor Technologies for the annual period ended December 31, 2007 (the 
“Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended; and  

     2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 
Superconductor Technologies Inc.  

   

          
      
            /s/ William J. Buchanan     
  William J. Buchanan    

  Controller, Principal Financial Officer,  
Principal Accounting Officer    

  


